Novel Interventions to Improve Cerebral and Peripheral Vascular Function

Joseph D Maxwell

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Liverpool John Moores University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

November 2019

Abstract

Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) are major causes of morbidity and mortality worldwide. Complications associated with CVD encompass the entire vascular system, including blood vessels that supply brain. Impairments to cerebral blood flow (CBF) and cerebrovascular function result in increased risk of cognitive impairment, vascular dementia and stroke. Identifying interventions that can attenuate the age-related decline in CBF and enhance cerebrovascular function are essential, especially in individuals at high risk of CVD. Remote ischaemic preconditioning (rIPC), which involves cyclical periods of ischaemia-reperfusion applied noninvasively to a limb, has been shown to improve measures of peripheral vascular function and cardiovascular endpoints when applied acutely (one episode) or repeatedly (e.g. daily, 3 times per week). There is also emerging evidence that repeated rIPC elicits beneficial effects within the cerebral circulation in stroke patients. However, the mechanisms of how rIPC can improve cerebrovascular function are unknown. The overreaching aim of this thesis was to investigate whether acute and repeated rIPC could enhance cerebral and peripheral vascular function in cohorts with increased risk of CVD.

In a crossover study design, Study 1 aimed to assess the impact of a single acute bout of rIPC on cerebrovascular function. Eleven young healthy (28±4 years) and nine individuals at risk of CVD (53±7 years) underwent assessment of cerebrovascular function. Using Transcranial Doppler (TCD), markers of cerebrovascular function were assessed following either bilateral arm rIPC or sham condition. There was no change in middle cerebral artery velocity (MCAv) or blood pressure (BP) during rIPC. Application of rIPC did not alter cerebrovascular reactivity (CVR) compared to sham (0.002 MCA_{CVC}/mmHg, 95%CI= -0.001, 0.005, P=0.24), nor did it affect any parameter of dynamic cerebral autoregulation (dCA) (0.028 normalised gain%/mmHg⁻¹, 95%CI= -0.080, 0.137, P=0.59). This study suggested that an acute bout of rIPC does not influence cerebrovascular function in healthy young individuals and older subjects with increased risk for CVD.

In a randomised control-pilot design, Study 2 aimed to obtain estimates for the change in peripheral conduit and cerebrovascular function following a 7-day rIPC intervention. Twenty-one type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) patients performed either 7-day daily rIPC or control (no rIPC). Peripheral conduit artery function was assessed using flow mediated dilation (FMD) before and after an endothelial ischemia-reperfusion (IR) injury. Cerebrovascular function was assessed using TCD to examine dCA (0.10Hz squat stand manoeuvres). All measurements were performed at three time points; pre, immediately post intervention, and 8 days post intervention. Using pre-intervention data as a covariate, the change from pre-post in FMD was 1.3% (95%CI= 0.69, 3.80; P=0.09) and 0.23 %/mmHg⁻¹ (95%CI -0.12, 0.59; P=0.18) in dCA normalised gain with rIPC versus control. The directional changes outline FMD can be enhanced by daily rIPC in patients with T2DM, whilst cerebrovascular function is unaltered.

In Study 3, in a randomised design, nineteen participants at risk of CVD were allocated into either 8 weeks of aerobic exercise training and rIPC (rIPC + Ex) or 8 weeks of rIPC only performed 3 times per week. Assessment of cerebrovascular function was performed using TCD and FMD was used to examine peripheral vascular function before and after an IR injury. Measurements were performed before (week 0) and immediately after (week 8) each intervention. Neither intervention changed resting CBFv, dCA (spontaneous or forced BP oscillations) or CVR. FMD increased by 1.6% (95% CI= 0.4, 2.8) in the rIPC + Ex intervention and by 0.3% (95% CI= -1.1, 1.5) in the rIPC only intervention, whilst no statistical difference was found between interventions (P=0.65). Data from this study suggests that combining exercise with rIPC does not result in greater changes in cerebral or peripheral vascular function.

In Study 4, dCA and baroreflex sensitivity (BRS) data collected during 0.10Hz squat stands manoeuvres was obtained from 206 individuals and analysed using transfer function analysis. Cross-sectional associations between ages were examined using linear regression adjusting for sex. Multivariable linear regression was used to adjust for sex, health status and VO_{2max} . Age, sex, CVD risk and VO_{2max} do not impact on dCA parameters normalised gain, phase or coherence (P>0.05). dCA (absolute) gain reduced with age when adjusting for sex, and CVD risk. The data from this study suggest that dCA parameters, when adjusted for BP, does not decline with age in either sex.

Collectively, the data contained within this thesis suggests rIPC interventions appear to be effective in improving peripheral endothelial function, but have little effect on cerebrovascular function. Additionally dCA, a frequently measured marker of cerebrovascular function seems to be unaffected by aging, CVD risk factors or cardiorespiratory fitness.

Acknowledgments

Firstly, I would like to thank my Director of Studies, Professor Helen Jones. Thank you for your guidance, support and your ability to keep me focused on the bigger picture. I would also like to thank you for allowing me to get the most out of my PhD, in terms of the work in the lab but also the travel to some pretty nice places, and of course for always getting a few rounds in at the Ship. It must have been stressful for you I am sure, and thankfully you continue to mentor me in my first academic position! I think it is fair to say I owe you big time.

Thank you to my co-supervisors, Professor Dick Thijssen and Dr Howard Carter. Thank you to Dick for always having a solution to every problem and your invaluable input into all aspects of this thesis. Howard, I cannot thank you enough for all the time you spent with me in the lab in the early days, teaching me all the techniques in order to complete this thesis. I would also like to extend my thanks to Dr Andrew Thompson for his input into chapter 6 of this thesis, thank you for taking the time to work with me through all the statistical analysis.

It is absolutely essential to acknowledge the outstanding lab technicians that I have been fortunate enough to work with. Gemma, Dean, George and Ian, thank you for all the work and effort you put in, it is you guys that make this institute a special place to work, learn and teach at. Gemma, thank you for all the help over the years, I am truly in your debt and look forward to us working together for years to come when we have both graduated! Deano, thanks for all the food, and Yes, you probably are the world number 1 at 'Fun with Flags'. I would also like to extend my thanks to Louise, Zoe and Rachel for simply all that do for us in this department, thank you so much.

To all the postgrads, past and present (too many of you to mention, you know who you are), thanks for everything. Postgrad offices are funny little places whereby people from all backgrounds are thrown together and forced to work closely. Collectively, you guys made the office a fantastic place to work and made the PhD experience so much fun, and no I am not sorry for always being the loud one.

Elly and John! Words can't do justice as to how thankful I am for all the support you have given me over the years. Come a long way since those Tuesday night English and Maths tutor sessions with Mr Murray! Thank you for your firm backing and support in everything that I have done, never questioning anything. I can only hope to have done you, Nain, Donald, Taid and Millie proud.

And then the rest of the family; Kelly, Liz, Tom, Laura and Helen. Thanks for the constant distractions with 634 WhatsApp messages a day, all the boozing watching Liverpool and some pretty incredible holidays. But on a serious note, thanks for always being there!

Ship?

Declaration

I declare that the work contained within this thesis is entirely my own.

Publications directly based on the work described in this thesis

Thijssen, D.H.J., <u>Maxwell, J.D</u>., Cable, N.T., Green, D.J. & Jones, H. (2016). Repeated ischaemic preconditioning: A novel therapeutic intervention and potential underlying mechanisms. *Experimental Physiology*.101.6, pp 677-692.

Maxwell, J.D., Carter, H.H., Miller, G.D., Sprung, V.S., Cuthbertson, D., Hellsten, Y., Thijssen, D.H & Jones. H. (2019). Seven day remote ischaemic preconditioning improves endothelial function in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomised pilot study. *European Journal of Endocrinology*. 19-0378.

<u>Maxwell, J.D</u>., Carter, H.H., Hellsten, Y., Thijssen, D.H & Jones H. (2019). The impact of acute remote ischaemic preconditioning on cerebrovascular function. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*. 120;603-612.

Manuscripts submitted based on the work described in this thesis

<u>Maxwell, J.D</u>., Carter, H.H., Thijssen, D.H & Jones H. (2019). The impact of combining remote ischemic preconditioning with exercise training on peripheral and cerebral vascular function in high risk individuals. *Under review, European Journal of Applied Physiology*.

Oral communications

<u>Maxwell, J.D</u>., Bannell, D., Thompson, A., Carter, H.H., Thijssen, D.H & Jones, H. The impact of age, sex, fitness and cardiovascular disease risk factors on dynamic cerebral autoregulation and baroreflex sensitivity. Cerebral Autoregulation Network (CARNET), Leuven, Belgium, 2019. **Maxwell, J.D.** Novel interventions to improve blood vessel function in Type 2 Diabetes. International Health Research Conference, Liverpool, UK, 2018.

<u>Maxwell, J.D.</u> Cardio and cerebrovascular consequences of Type 2 Diabetes - the impact of exercise and remote ischaemic preconditioning. *Invited talk*, Thomas Rivers University, Kamloops Canada, 2018

Maxwell, J.D., Carter, H.H., Hellsten, Y., Cuthbertson, D.J., Sprung, V.S., Thijssen, D.H & Jones, H. The impact of daily remote ischemic preconditioning on cerebrovascular function in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Okanagan Cardiovascular and Respiratory Symposium, SilverStar, Canada, 2018.

Maxwell, J.D., Carter, H.H., Hellsten, Y., Cuthbertson, D.J., Sprung, V.S., Thijssen, D.H & Jones, H. Daily remote ischemic preconditioning improves systemic vascular function in type 2 diabetes mellitus. European College of Sport Science, MetropolisRuhr, Germany, 2017.

<u>Maxwell J.D.</u> Can repeated ischemic preconditioning improve clinical status of type 2 diabetes mellitus patients? LJMU Research Institute for Sport and Exercise Sciences Seminar Series, Liverpool, UK, 2016.

Poster communications

<u>Maxwell, J.D</u>., Carter, H.H., Thijssen, D.H & Jones, H. The impact of acute remote ischemic preconditioning on cerebrovascular function. Cerebral Autoregulation Network (CARNET), Oxford, UK, 2018.

Chapter 1: C	eneral Introduction	1
1.1 Aim	S	5
1.2 Obj	ectives	5
Chapter 2: L	iterature Review	8
2.1 The	Cerebrovasculature and Cerebrovascular Function	9
2.1.1	Anatomy of the Cerebral Vasculature	9
2.1.2	Regulation and control of Cerebral Blood Flow	11
2.1.3	Blood Pressure (Cerebral Autoregulation)	14
2.1.3.1	Baroreflex Sensitivity	
2.1.4	Cerebral metabolism (neurovascular coupling)	20
2.1.5	Chemical Control (Cerebrovascular Reactivity)	21
2.1.6	Cerebral and Peripheral vascular function	24
2.1.7	Interventions targeting cerebral and peripheral function	25
2.1.7.1	Cerebrovascular function	25
2.1.7.2	2 Exercise training in healthy humans	25
2.1.7.3	B Exercise training in clinical populations	26
2.1.7.4	Peripheral vascular function	27
2.1.7.5	5 Exercise training in healthy humans	27
2.1.7.6	Exercise training in clinical populations	28
2.2 Isch	aemic Preconditioning	29
2.2.1	Remote IPC	30
2.2.1.1	l Ischaemia-reperfusion injuries	33
2.2.2	Repeated rIPC interventions	
2.2.2.1	L The myocardium	38
2.2.2.2	2 The peripheral vasculature	39
2.2.2.3	3 The cerebrovasculature	42
2.2.2.4	Phases of rIPC	43
2.2.2.5	5 Potential mechanisms of (r)IPC and repeated rIPC	44
2.3 Sum	imary	46
Chapter 3: T	he impact of acute remote ischaemic preconditioning on	
cerebrovascu	lar function	47
3.1 Intr	oduction	48
3.2 Met	hods	50

Contents

3.2.	1	Participants	50
3.2.2	2	Research Design	51
3.2.3	3	Measurements	52
3.2.4	4	Statistical Analysis	55
3.3	Resu	ılts	56
3.3.3	1	Group characteristics	56
3.3.2	2	Impact of rIPC on resting cerebral blood velocity and haemodynamics	56
3.3.3	3	Impact of rIPC on normocapnic and hypercapnic cerebral autoregulation	58
3.3.4 cone	4 dition	Effect of hypercapnia on cerebral autoregulation (comparison of sham s)	59
3.3.	5	Impact of rIPC on cerebrovascular CO ₂ reactivity	59
3.4	Disc	ussion	62
3.5	Cond	clusion	65
Chapter	4: Se	even-day remote ischaemic preconditioning improves endothelial	
function	in pa	atients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: randomised a pilot study	67
4.1	Intro	oduction	68
4.2	Met	hods	71
4.2.3	1	Participants	71
4.2.2	2	Research Design	73
4.2.3	3	Measurements	74
4.2.4	4	Interventions	75
4.2.	5	Statistical analysis	76
4.3	Resu	ılts	77
4.3.	1	Cerebrovascular function	77
4.3.2	2	Brachial artery endothelial function	78
4.4	Disc	ussion	84
4.5	Cond	clusion	88
Chapter rIPC on	r 5: perip	The impact of combining aerobic exercise training with repeated oberal and cerebrovascular function in high risk individuals	.89
5.1	Intro	oduction	90
5.2	Met	hods	92
5.2.1	1	Participants	92
5.2.2	2	Research Design	93
5.2.3	3	Measurements	94
5.2.4	4	Interventions	95

5	5.2.5	Statistical analysis	
5.3	R	Results	
5	5.3.1	Resting hemodynamic	
5	5.3.2	Cerebrovascular function	
5	5.3.3	Brachial artery endothelium-dependent vasodilation	101
5	5.3.4	Cardiorespiratory fitness	102
5	5.3.5	Blood glucose	102
5.4	C	Discussion	105
5.5	C	Conclusion	108
Chap and tr	ter 6: ransf	: Dynamic cerebral autoregulation assessed using squat stand mand er function analysis is not influenced by age, sex, cardiovascular di	oeuvres isease
risk f	actor	s or fitness	
6.1	li	ntroduction	110
6.2	N	Methods	112
E	5.2.1	Participants	112
e	5.2.2	Measurements	113
6.3	S	statistical Analysis	114
6.4	R	Results	115
6.5	C	Discussion	120
6.6	C	Conclusion	124
Chap	ter 7	: Synthesis of Findings	125
7.1	Д	Aims of the thesis	126
7.2	S	Summary of Major Findings	126
7.3	e	General discussion of major findings	127
7	7.3.1	The Dose of rIPC	127
7	7.3.2	rIPC in clinical populations	129
7	7.3.3	Interventions and cerebrovascular function	130
7	7.3.4	Measurements of cerebrovascular function	132
7.4	N	Methodological Considerations and Limitations	134
7.5	R	Recommendations for clinical practise and future studies	136
Chap	ter 8:	: References	139

List	of	Figures
------	----	----------------

Figure	Heading	Page
2.1	Anatomy of the cerebrovasculature including intra and extra cranial vessels.	10
2.2	Acoustic windows used in order to insonate cerebral blood vessels	12
2.3	Representation of the classical (left) and modern (right) interpretation of cerebral autoregulation.	15
2.4	Cerebral blood flow in relation to artery lumen diameter.	16
2.5	(A) Brachial artery flow-mediated dilation (FMD); expressed as a percentage and (B) resting forearm cutaneous vascular conductance before (Pre), after (Post) and 8 days after (Post+8).	38
3.1	Schematic of the protocol for each testing visit.	50
3.2	MCAv in young healthy (A), older cardiovascular risk factor (B) individuals and MAP (mean arterial pressure) in young healthy (C) and cardiovascular risk factor (D) individuals during 40 minutes of rIPC and sham.	56
4.1	Screening, recruitment and completion of participants in the study.	69
4.2	Schematic of the study design.	71
4.3	Baseline Brachial artery FMD% (A), Post IR FMD% (B) and the relative % decrease (C) before (Pre), immediately after (Post) and eight days following the intervention (Post+8).	80
5.1	Screening, recruitment, retention and completion of the study.	90
5.2	Individual data points with means±SD for baseline flow mediated dilation (FMD, left panel) and post ischaemic reperfusion (IR) injury flow mediated dilation (right panel).	100
6.1	Relationship between dynamic cerebral autoregulation and baroreflex sensitivity during 0.10 Hz squat stand manoeuvres.	115

List of Tables

Table	Heading	Page
1.1	Typical patterns for identification of cerebral arteries using Transcranial Doppler ultrasound.	13
2.1	Overview of all published studies to date investigating repeated (remote) ischaemic preconditioning interventions.	34
3.1	Participant characteristics.	51
3.2	Dynamic cerebral autoregulation analysis via transfer function using squat-stand manoeuvres. Resting comparison of healthy and CVD risk participants.	57
3.3	Cardiovascular and respiratory parameters during the carbon dioxide reactivity test.	59
3.4	Transfer function analysis of oscillations in mean arterial pressure and middle cerebral artery velocity using squat-stand manoeuvres. Comparison between Sham and RIPC conditions with all participants grouped together.	60
4.1	Descriptive characteristics of participants in rIPC and control groups.	70
4.2	Brachial artery flow mediated dilation before (Pre), immediately following (Post) and 8 days (Post+8) after the end of the intervention in both the intervention (rIPC) groups and control.	77
4.3	Baseline hemodynamics before (Pre), immediately following (Post) and 8 days (Post+8) after the end of the intervention.	78
4.4	Transfer function parameters from dynamic cerebral autoregulation before (Pre), immediately following (Post) and 8 days (Post+8) after the end of the intervention using squat-stand manoeuvres (0.10Hz).	79
5.1	Baseline characterises and medications of both groups.	94
5.2	Baseline hemodynamic, cardiorespiratory fitness and fasting blood glucose data from before (week 0) and after (week 8) each intervention.	95
5.3	Power spectral and transfer function analysis of dynamic cerebral autoregulation during spontaneous changes in BP and CBFv.	96
5.4	Power spectrum densities of forced oscillations in mean arterial pressure and cerebral blood flow velocity during squat-stand manoeuvres.	97

5.5	Cerebrovascular reactivity to 5% carbon dioxide.			
5.6	Brachial artery characteristics before and after an ischemia reperfusion injury.			
6.1	Participant characteristics when divided into age categories.			
67	Cross sectional associations between age and both dCA and BRS			
0.2	during 0.10 Hz squat stand manoeuvres.			

List of abbreviations

ACA	Anterior Cerebral Artery		
ANOVA	Analysis Of Variance		
AUC	Area Under The Curve		
BMI	Body Mass Index		
BP	Blood Pressure		
CAD	Coronary Artery Disease		
CBF	Cerebral Blood Flow		
CBFv	Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity		
CbVC	Cerebro-Vascular Conductance		
CO ₂	Carbon Dioxide		
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease		
CVR	Cerebrovascular Reactivity		
DBP	Diastolic Blood Pressure		
dCA	Dynamic Cerebral Autoregulation		
eNOS	Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase		
FFA	Free Fatty Acid		
FMD	Flow Mediated Dilation		
HF	High Frequency		
HR	Heart Rate		
ICA	Internal Carotid Artery		
ІСР	Intracranial Pressure		
IPC	Ischaemic Preconditioning		
	Low Frequency		
LMM	Linear Mixed Model		
LSD	Least Significant Difference		
MAP	Mean Arterial Pressure		
МСА	Middle Cerebral Artery		
MCAv	Middle Cerebral Artery Velocity		
MCID	Minimal Clinical Importance Difference		
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imagining		
nGain	Normalised Gain		
NO	Nitric Oxide		
NVC	Neurovascular Coupling		
02	Oxygen		
PaCO ₂	Partial Pressure Of Carbon Dioxide		
РСА	Posterior Cerebral Artery		
PCAv	Posterior Cerebral Artery Velocity		
PetCO ₂	Partial Pressure Of End Tidal Carbon Dioxide		
rIPC	Remote Ischaemic Preconditioning		
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species		
RPE	Rate Of Perceived Exertion		
SBP	Systolic Blood Pressure		
sCA	Static Cerebral Autoregulation		
SD	Standard Deviation		
SRAUC	Shear Rate Under the Curve		

T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
TCD	Transcranial Doppler
TFA	Transfer Function Analysis
VA	Vertebral Artery
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
VLF	Very Low Frequency
VO _{2max}	Maximal Oxygen Uptake
VO _{2peak}	Peak Oxygen Uptake

Chapter 1: General Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) including cerebrovascular disease is the leading cause of death worldwide (Townsend et al., 2016.). Cerebrovascular disease is a general term encompassing different disturbances of the vascularisation of the brain (Truelsen et al., 2006). The human brain receives $\sim 15\%$ of total cardiac output and uses $\sim 20\%$ of oxygen available in order to maintain normal function, therefore tight regulation of blood flow and oxygen delivery is essential for survival (Willie et al., 2011). Chronic reductions in cerebral blood flow (CBF) and the mechanisms regulating stable CBF, referred to as cerebrovascular function, are associated with neurodegenerative diseases including dementia and Alzheimer's disease as well as stroke (Yonas et al., 1993, Mazza et al., 2011, Leijenaar et al., 2017). Interventions that target increasing CBF along with improving cerebrovascular function are essential in reducing the risk of cerebrovascular diseases. Ischaemic preconditioning (IPC) refers to non-lethal bouts of ischemia followed by reperfusion. IPC is a powerful technique that can protect the heart and the vasculature against prolonged ischemia (Thijssen et al., 2016a). There is emerging evidence within the last decade suggesting it can exert a positive effect on the cerebral circulation (Meng et al., 2012, Meng et al., 2015, Mi et al., 2016, Wang et al., 2017).

The beneficial effects of IPC have been observed in the heart and the conduit arteries, i.e. at remote locations to where the ischemia-reperfusion stimulus was applied, which is termed *remote* IPC (rIPC) (Przyklenk et al., 1993). Importantly, application of rIPC can be performed non-invasively using a pressure cuff on limbs and still induces ischaemic protection (Kharbanda et al., 2001). Typically, a rIPC bout consists of 4 x 5 minute periods of limb cuff occlusion (ischemia) separated by 5 minutes of cuff deflation (reperfusion). Despite the frequently examined impact of rIPC on coronary

arteries, few studies have examined the impact of an acute bout of rIPC on cerebrovascular function. Therefore, aim 1 of this thesis was to identify whether an acute bout of rIPC increases CBF velocity (CBFv) or improve a marker of cerebrovascular function in young healthy and/or individuals with risk factors for CVD.

Increasing the 'dose' of the rIPC, may in theory provide longer or potent effects (Whittaker and Przyklenk, 2014) and this concept has been investigated by performing rIPC repeatedly as an intervention (Thijssen et al., 2016a), however few studies examined the human cerebrovasculature. The few studies that have employed repeated rIPC interventions and focused on cerebrovascular outcomes have identified positive clinical outcomes in stroke patients and individuals with cerebral small vessel disease following the rIPC interventions (Meng et al., 2012, Meng et al., 2015, Mi et al., 2016, Wang et al., 2017). Whether these positive changes, which included increases in CBF and reduction in stroke reoccurrence, are related to improvements in the functional control of CBF (cerebrovascular function) is currently unknown. Individuals with Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) are at significantly higher risk of cerebrovascular disease and stroke (Chen et al., 2015) and are associated with impairments in vascular endothelial function (Hamilton and Watts, 2013). To date, one repeated rIPC intervention in T2DM proved effective in reducing the size of the diabetic foot ulcer over 6 weeks (Shaked et al., 2015), but little is known about the impact of daily rIPC on cerebrovascular function and peripheral vascular function in T2DM. Consequently, aim 2 of this thesis was to implement a 7-day daily rIPC intervention in patients with T2DM and assess changes in cerebrovascular function. .

The length of an rIPC intervention (in duration and frequency of rIPC bouts) might be related to a its effectiveness on the vascular system (Thijssen et al., 2016a). Indeed

rIPC interventions up to 1 year long have resulted in positive clinical outcomes (Meng et al., 2012, Mi et al., 2016). Recent work demonstrated that exercise has a potential preconditioning capacity. This allows for the opportunity to increase the preconditioning stimulus by combining IPC with exercise training. Incorporating an exercise training programme, alongside an rIPC intervention may add an additional, but not mutually exclusive, preconditioning stimulus for the vascular system. Accordingly, the combination of ischaemic and exercise preconditioning may increase the beneficial adaptations observed with repeated rIPC alone. Therefore, aim 3 of this thesis was to investigate whether 8 weeks of aerobic exercise combined with repeated rIPC alone in individuals with increased risk of CVD.

The regulation of stable CBF during changes in blood pressure (BP), termed dynamic cerebral autoregulation (dCA), represents an important functional marker of cerebral blood vessels regulating CBF (Willie et al., 2011) and is assessed in each study chapter of this thesis. Despite the growing body of literature, little is known about how age, sex and various CVD risk factors affect dCA. Similarly, there is currently conflicting evidence within the literature as to the mechanisms involved in dCA and to what extent control of BP, assessed with cardiac baroreflex sensitivity (BRS), is related to dCA. By identifying impairments in dCA, which can render the brain vulnerable to hyper-or hypoperfusion (van Beek et al., 2008), and understanding the contribution of cardiac BRS on dCA, appropriate interventions can then be developed to improving potential impairments or limitations. Therefore, aim 4 of this thesis was identify whether age, sex, cardio-respiratory fitness or CVD risk factors impact dCA and the contribution of the cardiac baroreceptors on dCA.

1.1 Aims

The specific aims of this thesis are to:

- To assess the impact of bilateral arm rIPC on resting cerebral blood flow velocity, dynamic cerebral autoregulation and cerebrovascular carbon dioxide (CO₂) reactivity compared to a sham condition in both young healthy individuals and older individuals at risk of CVD.
- 2. Obtain estimates of the change in cerebrovascular function and peripheral conduit artery endothelial function before and after endothelial ischemia reperfusion (IR) injury following 7-days of daily limb rIPC in patients with type 2 diabetes.
- 3. Examine whether 8 weeks of exercise combined with repeated rIPC could enhance cerebrovascular and conduit artery function more than repeated rIPC alone in individuals with increased risk of cardiovascular disease.
- 4. Identify using squat stand manoeuvers and transfer function analysis whether age, sex, cardio-respiratory fitness or CVD risk factors impact dynamic cerebral autoregulation and the role of the cardiac baroreceptors.

1.2 Objectives

The aims outlined above will be achieved through the following objectives:

In line with **Aim 1**:

- 1. Utilising transcranial Doppler ultrasound, assess cerebral blood flow velocity during and following a bout of rIPC.
- 2. Compare the effects of acute rIPC vs a sham procedure on cerebral autoregulation and cerebrovascular CO₂ reactivity.

- 3. Identify whether acute rIPC can reduce the impairment to cerebral autoregulation induced by hypercapnia.
- 4. Identify if the effects of rIPC differ between the young healthy individuals and those at high risk of CVD.

In line with **Aim 2**:

- 5. Compare the effects of 7 days of daily upper arm rIPC versus non-rIPC control on conduit artery endothelial function before and after an induced temporary ischaemia reperfusion injury in patients with T2DM.
- 6. Compare the effects of 7 days of daily upper arm rIPC on cerebral blood flow velocity and dynamic cerebral autoregulation.
- 7. Establish if the effects of 7 days of daily rIPC are still present 8 days following the end of the intervention.

In line with **Aim 3**:

- Engage individuals with increased risk of CVD in either an 8-week supervised moderate intensity aerobic exercise programme plus rIPC 3 times per week or 8 weeks of rIPC 3 times per week only.
- 9. Compare the effects of combining exercise training with rIPC verses rIPC alone on cardio-respiratory fitness, cerebral blood flow velocity and dynamic cerebral autoregulation and conduit artery endothelial function before and after an induced temporary ischaemia reperfusion injury.

In line with **Aim 4**:

- 10. Establish whether dynamic cerebral autoregulation is affected by age, sex, fitness and a number of cardiovascular disease risk factors in a large cohort of individuals aged 18-70 years.
- 11. Identify if there is a relationship between cardiac baroreceptor function and dynamic cerebral autoregulation.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The focus of this literature review is two-fold; firstly, to outline cerebrovascular function measurements, the links with peripheral vascular function and the associated changes in the vasculature following interventions. Secondly, to introduce the concept of remote ischaemic preconditioning (rIPC), highlight the protective effects of rIPC on the heart and peripheral vessels and describe the potential impact of repeated rIPC as an intervention on the peripheral and cerebral vasculature.

2.1 The Cerebrovasculature and Cerebrovascular Function

2.1.1 Anatomy of the Cerebral Vasculature

Blood flow to the brain is supplied via four large extra-cranial arteries bilaterally; the internal carotid (ICA) and vertebral arteries (VA). Approximately 70% of total cerebral blood flow (CBF) is supplied through the ICA's, with the remaining ~30% of total CBF being delivered by the two VA's (Willie et al., 2014). The ICA continues upwards to the base of the brain to form the anterior (ACA) and middle (MCA) cerebral arteries bilaterally, whilst the basilar artery bifurcates to eventually form the posterior cerebral arteries (PCA) (Figure 2.1). The anterior circulation begins distal to the carotid sinus and supplies both the forebrain (frontal and parietal lobes) and midbrain (temporal lobes) on both left and right hemispheres. The ICA has a branch that feeds the ophthalmic artery, prior to trifurcating to form the MCA, ACA and posterior circulation to supply both left and right hemispheres by joining the two ACAs. The MCA and ACA branches deliver blood throughout the brain through the smaller stem and cortical branches which feed into smaller arterioles before eventually feeding into the anterior cerebral capillary beds.

The posterior circulation arises from the two VAs joining together at the vertebrobasilar junction to form the basilar artery which supplies the hindbrain regions (brain stem and cerebellum) and the occipital cortices. The cerebral circulation is joined in a number of locations, which forms the vascular structure termed the Circle of Willis. This anatomical ring situated at the base of the brain connects the anterior and posterior circulations via the posterior communicating arteries (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Anatomy of the cerebrovasculature including intra and extra cranial vessels. Abbreviations; Anterior cerebral artery (ACA), Middle cerebral artery (MCA), Posterior communicating artery (PCoA), Anterior communicating artery (ACoA), Posterior cerebral artery (PCA), Basilar artery (BA), Vertebral artery (VA), Internal carotid artery (ICA), left sided artery (L) & right sided artery (R). Adapted from Ren et al. (2015).

2.1.2 Regulation and control of Cerebral Blood Flow

In order to maintain normal functioning, the brain requires constant adequate nutritional flow due to its high metabolic demand. In resting conditions the brain is accountable for approximately 25% of total oxygen (O₂) consumption and receives 15-20% of total cardiac output (Q) (Franco Folino, 2007), a remarkable amount given the brain accounts for approximately 2% of total body mass. Despite the high metabolic demand, the brain has a very limited ability to store energy, therefore CBF needs to be highly regulated in order to maintain a constant supply of nutrients and O₂ (Peters et al., 2004). CBF is determined by cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) and cerebrovascular resistance (Ainslie and Duffin, 2009, Tzeng and Ainslie, 2014). CPP is the difference in BP and intracranial pressure (ICP), with the latter formed from central venous pressure and pressures within the cerebrospinal fluid (Ainslie and Duffin, 2009). Cerebrovascular resistance to flow occurs mostly in the cerebral arteries and capillary beds, with increasing vascular tone in turn increasing resistance (Ainslie and Duffin, 2009).

Measurement of CBF can provide information of the functional status of blood vessels supplying the brain. The non-invasive nature and high temporal resolution make transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasound an ideal instrument for the assessment of cerebral blood flow velocties (CBFv), in centermeters per second (cm.s⁻¹) as reviewed in detail by Willie et al. (2011). TCD was first used in 1982, and has since been extensively used in order to assess CBFv (Aaslid et al., 1982). The basic principle of TCD ultrasound is a transmitter emitting pulsed ultrasound waves from a Doppler probe at 2 MHz. Due to its thin acoutic window, the ultrasound waves are transmitted

through the temporal region of the cranium to assess a vessel of interest. The assessment of CBFv is derived from the Doppler shift, created by the reflection of ultrasound waves from moving erythrocytes (red blood cells) within the blood vessel that are returned to the receiver unit in the Doppler probe. Simply, the Doppler shift refers to the difference between the transmitted and received ultrasound signals (Aaslid, 1986), with faster erythrocyte movement associated with higher velocities, and by extension, blood flow. Using TCD, the ACA, MCA and PCA can be assessed, in addition to the Basillar artery and Vertebral arteries. Vessels can be insonated from four different accoustic windows; Transorbital, Transtemporal, Submandibular and Transforaminal (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2: Acoustic windows used in order to insonate cerebral blood vessels.

Vessel identification is achieved based on knowledge of anatomical structure of the circle of Willis. (Willie et al., 2011). Understanding of isonation depths and flow

direction of the vessel of interest is vital in order to aquire reliable and valid signals (Table 1.1). Additionally, certain stimuli can be applied in order to confirm correct vessel isonation including; carotid artery compression will result in reduction in MCAv, whereas PCAv will remain largerly unchanged. In addition, PCAv will increase by 15-20% with activation of occitital lobe (eyes open-eyes closed) whereas MCAv will have small response to this stimulus (<5%). Typically, the MCAs are used to examine CBF and cerebrovascular function as they account for ~80% of total CBF and have the closest proximity to the temporal window (Skow et al., 2013).

Table 1.1: Typical patterns for identification of cerebral arteries using Transcranial

 Doppler ultrasound

Vessel	Probe Directon	Depth (mm)	Flow Direction	Ipsilateral carotid	Contralteral caroitd
				compression	compression
ACA	Anterior	60-75	Away	Flow reversal	Increased
					velocity
MCA	Perpendicular	35-60	Toward	Reduced	No change
				velocity	
PCA	Posterior	55-70	Toward	No change or	No change
				incresed	
				velocity	

Abbreviations; Anterior cerebral artery (ACA), Middle cerebral artery (MCA), Posterior cerebral artery (PCA).

The regulation of CBF is an integrative and complex process with a number of mechanisms involved including; BP (cerebral autoregulation), cerebral metabolism (neurovascular coupling), chemical control (cerebrovascular reactivity) and autonomic nervous system (Willie et al., 2011, Willie et al., 2012, Willie et al., 2014). The main regulatory features of the cerebral circulation applicable to this thesis are:

2.1.3 Blood Pressure (Cerebral Autoregulation)

Autoregulation of CBF refers to the brain's intrinsic ability to maintain a relatively constant blood flow despite changes in arterial BP. The autoregulatory response to changes in arterial BP protects against brain injury caused by potential hyper- or hypoperfusion. Indeed, evidence shows that brain injury does occur when autoregulatory mechanisms are lost (Novak et al., 1998, Euser and Cipolla, 2007). This pressure-flow relationship was noted as early as 1895, when Bayliss, Hill and Gulland concluded that 'In all physiological conditions a rise in arterial pressure accelerated the flow of blood through the brain, and a fall slackens it' (Bayliss et al., 1895). In 1959 Lassen published a review plotting average BPs and related total CBF from seven studies, including 11 different patient groups. Lassen identified that there appears to be a plateau region, whereby CBF appears to be stable across a wide range of BPs (60-150 mmHg) (Lassen, 1959). More recent studies have established that the regulation of CBF is more pressure passive than originally suggested by Lassen (1959), with evidence now showing a 0.82 % $\Delta CBF/$ mmHg ΔMAP^{-1} (Lucas et al., 2010). Subsequently, this so called 'autoregulatory plateau' outlined by Lassen (1959) may not exist, or in fact exists but within a considerably smaller range (\pm 5-10 mmHg from baseline) (Tan, 2012) (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3: Representation of the classical (left) and modern (right) interpretation of cerebral autoregulation. Red dotted lines represent the original 'autoregulatory plateau' (left) and the modern interpretation (right). Blue dotted lines represent cerebrovascular resistance; black dotted line represents stable cerebral blood flow; black solid line represents cerebral blood changes. Adapted from (Willie et al., 2014)

Cerebral autoregulation can be classified into static (sCA) or dynamic (dCA). sCA refers CBF responses to long-term (minutes) changes in BP whereas dCA refers to acute (seconds) changes (Aaslid et al., 1989, Tiecks et al., 1995). Assessment of dCA has arisen from the ability to monitor beat-to-beat changes in cerebral blood flow velocity (CBFv) and mean arterial pressure (MAP) concurrently (Willie et al., 2014). Adequate CBF is maintained across a range of BPs due to changes in cerebrovascular resistance. Vasodilation occurs in response to decreases in BP and vasoconstriction as a result of increase in BP within the upper and lower limits of autoregulation (Figure 2.4) (Pires et al., 2013). The functions together ensure sufficient blood flow reaches in the brain (Willie et al., 2014). Fascinatingly, it appears that cerebral vascular resistance is more effective at maintaining CBF during increases in CBF compared to decreases, however this difference is lost when studies corrected for changes in PaCO₂ (Numan et al., 2014).



Figure 2.4: Cerebral blood flow in relation to artery lumen diameter. Dotted lines represent the lower and upper limits of cerebral autoregulation. Red circles represent the cerebral arteries, and blue line represents cerebral blood flow. Adapted from (Pires et al., 2013).

The underlying mechanism(s) controlling this pressure-flow relationship remains unclear and are likely to differ with increases vs decrease in BP. It is likely that these mechanisms are multifactorial and include neurogenic, metabolic, myogenic and endothelial factors (Tzeng and Ainslie, 2014) and impairment has been observed in some clinical conditions. A reduction in autoregulation (rate of regulation) has been reported in T2DM (Vianna et al., 2015), acute ischaemic stroke (Eames et al., 2002) obstructive sleep apena (Urbano et al., 2008) and sporadic Alzheimer's disease (den Abeelen et al., 2014). When patients display impaired cerebral autoregulation, the brain may be excessively sensitive to any changes in arterial BP and a failure to the autoregulatory response has been associated with increased morbidity and mortality (Hu et al., 2008).

The mechanism(s) controlling dCA are still largely unknown but are believed to vary depending on the frequency range in which the changes in arterial BP occur. A number of studies have attempted to investigate the underlying mechanisms primarily using blockades and a number of interesting observations have been made. In the very low frequency (VLF: < 0.07 Hz), this is thought to be under the influence of myogenic properties as shown by studies using cholinergic blockades (Hamner et al., 2012, Tan et al., 2013) and ganglion blockade (Zhang et al., 2002). Within an intermediate frequency range; low frequency (LF; 0.07-0.20 Hz), is controlled by more sympathetic influences, as demonstrated by sympathetic agonist drugs midazolam (Ogawa et al., 2010) and antagonist drugs prazosin (Purkayastha et al., 2013). The highest frequency (HF; >0.20) range, the range in which CBF is most poorly regulated is largely under the control of normal respiration rate (Reinhard et al., 2003). Nevertheless, clear and definitive answers to the mechanism controlling dCA still require significant investigations. The relationship between myogenic, sympathetic and local neuronal mechanisms and their control of dCA is uncertain and new innovative measurement methods are required to unlock the true controlling mechanisms.

Despite the growing interest in assessing dCA the question remains as to the exact location in which the regulation takes places. Dilation and constriction has been shown to occur in pial vessels in response to fluctuations in BP (Fog, 1938, Lassen, 1959). On the other hand, there is data to suggest that larger cerebral arteries respond to the changes in BP as well as the extra cranial vessels within the neck (Heistad et al., 1978, Kontos et al., 1978). Studies to investigate the main site(s) of dCA are however

extremely difficult to perform in humans. Future studies employing advanced imaging techniques are required to answer such questions.

Typical assessment of dCA is carried out with the combined use of TCD and finger photoplethysmography. In order to examine the dynamic response between CBFv and BP, transient changes in BP are induced. Whilst there is no 'gold standard' method available for the assessment of dCA (Panerai, 1998), a number of techniques have been previously used to achieve these rapid fluctuations in BP. Instant deflation of bilateral thigh cuffs after a period of inflation to supra-systolic levels was used to induce transient decreases in BP (Sorond et al., 2009), however this technique is associated with high levels of discomfort as well as a variability in the levels of BP change with each cuff deflation. More recently, a simple squat to stand (or sit to stand) procedure has been found to produce transient changes in BP, yet with less discomfort than the bilateral thigh cuffs (Lipsitz et al., 2000). Repeated squat-stand manoevers has now emerged a popular method to assess dCA and has been performed in a range of clincal and older populations (Claassen et al., 2009a, Aengevaeren et al., 2013, Oudegeest-Sander et al., 2014, Smirl et al., 2014a, Lewis et al., 2019) and is representative of BP fluctations experienced in daily life (Simpson and Claassen, 2018).

2.1.3.1 Baroreflex Sensitivity

Both dCA and baroreflex sensitivity (BRS) are key mechanisms that maintain stable CBF (de Heus et al., 2018). The baroreflex regulates BP via baroreceptors which detect changes in arterial BP. BRS reflects the complex interaction between autonomic and vascular function to manage BP fluctuations (Subramanian et al., 2019). The

baroreceptors (stretch receptors in the walls of the aorta and carotid artery) send signals via the vagus and glossopharyngeal nerves to the Nucleus Tractus Solitarius when a rise or drop in BP is detected which results in either increased vagal nerve activity and a reduction in sympathetic activity or vice versa, in order to maintain BP (Parati and Bilo, 2012). Importantly, BRS carries prognostic value in the development and progression of a number of cardiovascular diseases (CVD) including; hypertension, coronary artery disease, myocardial infarction and heart failure, with sympathetic-parasympathetic imbalances contributing to the complications (La Rovere et al., 2008). The assessment of BRS can be performed using several different techniques which have been reviewed in detail (La Rovere et al., 2008). Pharmacological techniques involve the infusion of vasoactive drugs to induce BP changes whilst monitoring heart rate. A popular none-invasive method includes the neck chamber technique which specifically manipulates the carotid baroreceptors (Fadel et al., 2003), whereas cardiac BRS can be assessed using the relationship between R-R interval and systolic BP (Zhang et al., 2009, Dutoit et al., 2010, Aengevaeren et al., 2013). Evidence suggests that cardiac BRS provides a good estimate of overall baroreflex function when measurements of sympathetic outflow are unavailable (Taylor et al., 2015) and has been validated against the Modified Oxford technique (Horsman et al., 2013) which is often referred to as the 'gold standard' method of BRS assessment (Gasch et al., 2011, Hissen et al., 2018).

Impairment to cardiac BRS may lead to orthostatic hypotension which can result in cerebral hypoperfusion or syncope (Zhang et al., 2009). Some (Tzeng et al., 2010, Witter et al., 2017), but not all (Aengevaeren et al., 2013, Xing et al., 2017) studies have observed an inverse relationship between cardiac BRS and dCA. Identifying the

relationship between BRS and dCA represents the fourth aim of this thesis and is presented in chapter 6.

2.1.4 Cerebral metabolism (neurovascular coupling)

CBF is closely linked to metabolic activity as activations of regions of the brain result in changes to local CBF (Willie et al., 2014). This relationship between neural activity and CBF is termed neurovascular coupling (NVC), and whilst the coupling between neural activity and increases in blood flow is well known, the exact underlying mechanisms are still not fully understood (Phillips et al., 2016). Cerebral blood vessels are structurally unique and different from other arteries based on their close relationship with neurons and glia. The close relationship is between the smooth muscle of the vessel walls, the neuron and the astrocyte glial cell together form what is known as the neurovascular unit. NVC is impaired in certain pathological conditions such as ischaemic stroke, Alzheimer's and hypertension (Girouard and Iadecola, 2006, Lefferts et al., 2018), resulting in the CBF response not meeting the metabolic requirement of the tissue.

Whilst the relationship between brain neural activity and CBF has been known for over a century (Roy and Sherrington, 1890), the mechanisms responsible for this response are not fully understood. When the supply of oxygen, glucose and other nutrients required by the brain are adequate, the smooth muscle cells and pericytes are thought to be in a state of basal tone (Muoio et al., 2014). Activation of the neuron sends a signal to the astrocyte via the release of glutamate, increasing calcium with the astrocyte. This causes a reaction within the astrocyte that in turn leads to the release of vasoactive substances from the end-feet causing pericytes and vascular smooth muscle cells to hyperpolarise. The hyperpolarisation of these cells initiates either vasodilation (release or NO, adenosine or arachidonic acids) or vasoconstriction (release of endothelin or thromboxane) of the local cells (Muoio et al., 2014). The change in local vascular tone regulates a change in local vascular resistance, increasing or decreasing CBF.

2.1.5 Chemical Control (Cerebrovascular Reactivity)

The partial pressure of arterial carbon dixoide ($PaCO_2$) has a significant impact on CBF. An increase in PaCO₂ (hypercapnia) results in cerebral arteriolar vasodilation, whereas a decrease in PaCO₂ (hypocapnia) will cause vasocontriction reducing CBF (Ainslie and Duffin, 2009). This highly sensitive relationship between changes in PaCO₂ and CBF responses is termed cerebrovascular CO₂ reactivity (CVR) and is recognised as a crucial homestoatic function that helps maintain and regulate central pH and cellular function (Ainslie and Duffin, 2009). This response can be viewed as a defence mechanism, whereby elevations in PaCO₂ leads to an increase in CBF in an attempt to "wash out" CO₂ from brain tissue. Consequently, the increase in CBF contributes to normalising or reducing the rise in PaCO₂. Typically, the slope of cerebrovascular response to CO₂ is approximately 3-6% increase per mmHg in PaCO₂ above rest and 1-3% reduction per mmHg decrease below resting values (Willie et al., 2012). This means that the cerebrovasculature is more sensitive to a given increase in PaCO2 compared to a decrease in PaCO₂. It has been suggested that this lower responsiveness to hypocapnia (compared to hypercapnia) may be a protective mechanism to avoid cerebral ischaemia during reductions in PaCO₂, which do occur in a number of
physiological conditions (e.g. exercise or change in posture) as well as pathophysiological (syncope) (Ainslie and Duffin, 2009).

The term CVR reflects an index of the ability of the cerebral vessels to dilate or constrict in response to changes in arterial blood gases content, typically CO₂. It is believed that this serves as a control mechanims for respiration-induced changes in CO2. Within the brainstem respiratory chemoreceptors are present which are highly sensitive to alterations in pH. CVR to changes in CO₂ has been applied in clinical practice to evalute cerebrovascular function. One large scale project 'The Rotterdam Study' demonstrated in a cohort of 1695 participants, lower cerebral reactivity to 5% CO₂ stimulus was assosiated with increased risk of all-cause death (Portegies et al., 2014). In addition, lower response to a CO₂ stimulus has been observed in patients with; Alzheimers (den Abeelen et al., 2014), multiple sclerosis (Marshall et al., 2014) and heart failure (Georgiadis et al., 2000). Clinically, this impairment may represent dysfunction from a number of mechanistic inputs. The mechanims responsible for the role of CO₂ in regulating vascular tone and pH are not fully identified. Activation of potassium (K⁺) channels in the vascular smooth muscle is a potential mechanism which has received attention given its ability to relax (dilate) cerebral vessels (Ainslie and Duffin, 2009). Additionally, nitric oxide (NO) and prostaglandins may play a role in the hypercapnic induced vasodilation as a result of increased shear stress (Ainslie and Duffin, 2009) and that an individuals reponse to CO₂ depends on the intergrity of the vascular endothelium (Ainslie et al., 2007). Indeed, mechanistic studies have identfitied the role of shear-stress mediated vasodilation as a result of increased CO2 suggesting the use of such measurements to quanify cerebrovascular endothelial function (Carter et al., 2016, Hoiland et al., 2017).

The cerebrovasculature is not only sensitive to changes in CO₂, but oxygen (O₂) also plays a role in vascular tone. Hypoxia effects the cerebrovasculature, but only when PaO₂ levels drop below ~50mmHg (Willie et al., 2012, Willie et al., 2014). Acute hypoxia induces increases in CBF before plateauing (Harris et al., 2013) and the impact of hypoxia on cerebral autoregulation is still debated (Subudhi et al., 2010, Smirl et al., 2014b). The response to hypoxia however is still affected by CO₂ given that studies have shown it is the ventilatory response to the hypoxia which ultimiately determines the CBF response, as hypercapnia increase and hypocapnia decreases the sensitivity of the cerebrovasculare to hypoxia (Mardimae et al., 2012, Willie et al., 2014).

CVR has typically been assessed in one of three potential ways. The earliest technique used was breath holding, whereby participants would hold their breath in order to progressively increase PaCO₂. This technique has a number of limitations. First, individual variability between individuals in factors such as; gender, size of lungs, age all affected the CBF response to breathe holding (Fierstra et al., 2013). A second potential strategy relates to the rebreathing of exhaled gas, which became and remains a common technique to achieve increases in PaCO₂. This method requires minimal equipment with just an exhaled gas reservoir and gas sensors necessary. Limitations to this strategy is that rebreathing of exhaled gas causes a ramp-like response with each breath causing an increase in PaCO₂. This prevents performing a stable measurement of increased CBF. A third and final strategy is the use of external CO₂ concentrations ranging from 2-7% (Fierstra et al., 2013). This method is favourable as it can induce a standardised hypercapnic stimulus (Vernieri et al., 2004) and is used throughout this thesis.

2.1.6 Cerebral and Peripheral vascular function

Functional markers of the cerebral and peripheral circulations can change simultaneously. Improvements in cerebral and peripheral vascular function are seen with exercise training (Bailey et al., 2013, Tarumi et al., 2015) and reductions in both have been observed with Alzheimer's and stroke (Silvestrini et al., 2006, Dede et al., 2007). Collectively, assessment of cerebral and peripheral vascular function is important in providing a representation for systemic vascular function. However, impairment in one artery does not seem interchangeably with changes in another artery.

The endothelium is a single layer of cells that forms the inner lining of the entire circulatory system. Once considered a passive layer of inert cells, the vascular endothelium is now known to be highly biologically active. The endothelium occupies a strategically important location between the circulating blood and vessel wall and has the ability to respond to changes in its physical, chemical or humoral environment (Rubanyi, 1993). The endothelium continuously produces the freely diffusible gas nitric oxide (NO) at a low basal rate, which helps maintain the health of the vessel wall and regulate vascular tone. NO is a potent anti-atherogenic molecule, inhibiting platelet and leukocyte adhesion and a powerful vasodilator (Green et al., 2011). Increases in blood flow, therefore increases in intimal shear stress (the fricitional drag force exerted by the blood flow on the arterial wall), represents the physiological stimulus for the release of NO (Pohl et al., 1986).

Assessment of peripheral vascular function can be performed non-invasively on peripheral conduit arteries using the flow mediated dilation (FMD) technique (Celermajer et al., 1992). The dilation that occurs during an FMD can be significantly attenuated/abolished using NO blockade (Joannides et al., 1995, Lieberman et al., 1996, Mullen et al., 2001, Kooijman et al., 2008), making the FMD a largely NOdependent test of endothelial function, Collectively, the evidence from these physiological studies reinforces the validity of the technique as an assessment of endothelium dependent and NO-specific index of endothelial function (Thijssen et al., 2011). FMD is reduced with CVD risk factors, relates to coronary artery endothelial function, and independently predicts CVD outcomes (Thijssen et al., 2019b). Additionally, it is recognised as a reproducible technique in examining the acute and long-term impact of physiological and pharmacological interventions in humans (Thijssen et al., 2011, Thijssen et al., 2019b).

2.1.7 Interventions targeting cerebral and peripheral function

2.1.7.1 Cerebrovascular function

Reductions in cerebrovascular function are strongly associated with clinical conditions, whilst pharmacological approaches represent some of the interventional strategies to enhance CBF, CBFv and cerebrovascular function. For the purpose of this thesis, studies focusing on cardio-respiratory fitness and exercise interventions are summarised below.

2.1.7.2 Exercise training in healthy humans

Humans display a natural age-related decline in CBF, however evidence does show that maintaining high cardiorespiratory fitness does attenuate this age-related decline (Ainslie et al., 2008b). This maintenance of CBF could potentially explain lower rates of cerebrovascular disease/incidents in individuals that are physically more active (Ainslie et al., 2008b). A small number of studies have implemented structured exercise interventions in an attempt to increase CBF and improve cerebrovascular function or attenuate the age-related decline, but the results are conflicting. Eight weeks of moderate aerobic cycling evoked an increase in CBFv in postmenopausal women (Akazawa et al., 2012), whilst others found 8-12 weeks of aerobic exercise does not induces changes in CBFv in healthy young and older individuals (Murrell et al., 2013, Lewis et al., 2019). A 6 week HIIT intervention in endurance trained men resulted in no change in CBFv and a slight reduction in dCA (Drapeau et al., 2019). This reduction in dCA with elevated cardio-respiratory fitness has been noted in a small number of other studies (Labrecque et al., 2017, Labrecque et al., 2019a), which is somewhat confusing given that elevated cardio-respiratory fitness has been linked to increased CBFv (Ainslie et al., 2008b) and better CVR (Bailey et al., 2013). Taken together, various factors, including intervention duration, exercise type and intensity, and population contribute to whether exercise training changes CBFv and cerebrovascular function. Furthermore, functional markers of the cerebrovascular system appear to respond differently to exercise training, strongly suggesting a need for further research to understand exercise training (Barnes and Corkery, 2018).

2.1.7.3 Exercise training in clinical populations

As outlined in section 2.1, reductions in CBF and cerebrovascular function often manifest in various patient cohorts. Therefore, exercise interventions, which have the potential to improve both may be of greater importance for individuals at increased CVD risk. A small number of studies have examined the impact of exercise training on CBF and cerebrovascular function in clinical groups. Eight weeks of aerobic training in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary resulted in no change in cerebrovascular function (dCA & CVR) or CBFv (Lewis et al., 2019), whilst in individuals with mild cognitive impairment, 12 weeks of moderate aerobic training

lead to increased CBF and cognitive function (Alfini et al., 2019). Stroke survivors following 6 months of aerobic treadmill exercise improved CVR (Ivey et al., 2011) yet no such changes were evident following 18 weeks of training in congestive heart failure patients (Tanne et al., 2005). The patient population being assessed in each study may represent a critical factor as to whether the exercise intervention improves CBF or functional markers. Another factor that may influence the impact of exercise training on CBF is the duration of the intervention, especially as increase in CBF was typically found in those adopting a longer period of training. It is clear that more research is warranted to understand possible beneficial effects of exercise on cerebrovascular health in clinical and preclinical populations.

2.1.7.4 Peripheral vascular function

As outlined in section 2.1.6, peripheral vascular function is frequently used as a marker for systemic endothelial function (Thijssen et al., 2019b). Impaired peripheral vascular function (endothelial dysfunction), in the form of reduced FMD has been associated with conditions predisposing atherosclerosis and CVD (Charakida et al., 2010). The following sub section will summarise the literature that employed exercise interventions to change peripheral vascular function in healthy and clinical populations

2.1.7.5 Exercise training in healthy humans

Peripheral vascular function measured using FMD demonstrates a progressive decline with age as the result of reduced NO bioavailability (Celermajer et al., 1994, Thijssen et al., 2016b). However, a recent meta-analysis which pooled data from 14 studies concluded that long-term aerobic exercise appears to attenuate the age related decline in FMD (Campbell et al., 2019). In young healthy individuals, a number of studies have shown that short-term exercise training increases vascular function (FMD) (Green et al., 2004, Tinken et al., 2010, Birk et al., 2012, Schreuder et al., 2015) with prolonged training inducing structural adaptations (i.e. increased artery diameter) (Green et al., 2012, Green et al., 2014b). This sequence of functional improvements preceding structural changes appears now to be a consistent observation. Studies involving 2-weekly measurements across an 8-week period of large (i.e. cycling/running exercise) (Tinken et al., 2008, Birk et al., 2012) or small muscle group (i.e. handgrip exercise) (Tinken et al., 2010) training in healthy young volunteers have consistently demonstrated that 2 weeks of exercise training is sufficient to significantly enhance vascular function. This initial rapid increase in vascular function is often normalized after 6–8 weeks of training as arterial structural remodelling occurs (Tinken et al., 2008, Green et al., 2017). These observations support the idea that exercise training leads to time-dependent adaptation in conduit artery function, which is superseded by arterial remodelling (Schreuder et al., 2015).

2.1.7.6 Exercise training in clinical populations

Vascular endothelial dysfunction is present in various clinical and pre-clinical groups such as hypertension, obesity and T2DM (Widmer and Lerman, 2014). Exercise represents an intervention that has numerous physiological benefits including improved endothelial function. Brachial artery FMD was enhanced following 8 weeks of aerobic training in patients with T2DM (Schreuder et al., 2015), with a similar 12 week intervention improving FMD in adolescents with T2DM (Naylor et al., 2016). Numerous systematic reviews and meta-analysis have been performed concluding exercise improves peripheral vascular function in heart failure (Pearson and Smart, 2017), T2DM (Qiu et al., 2018), cancer survivor (Beaudry et al., 2018) and obese (Dias et al., 2015) patients. Different exercise types have evoked vascular improvements, with an 8-week HITT intervention increasing FMD in a cohort of obese individuals (Sawyer et al., 2016) and interestingly Boff *et al* concluding that HITT was more effective in improving FMD compared to moderate training in patients with type 1 diabetes (Boff et al., 2019).

In summary, tight regulation of CBF is essential in maintaining normal functioning and reducing the risk of cerebrovascular disease/complications. Nevertheless, the impact of exercise interventions on cerebrovascular function is unclear in both healthy and diseased groups. Unlike the changes in peripheral vascular function, measuring using FMD, that on balance suggest positive peripheral vascular functional changes with exercise training. Therefore, alternative or additional interventions might provide a larger stimulus to improve cerebrovascular function.

2.2 Ischaemic Preconditioning

In 1986, investigators discovered that brief intermittent episodes of ischaemia had protective effects on the myocardium that was later subject to a sustained bout of ischaemia (Murry et al., 1986). Murry and co were the first to identify the phenomenon known as ischaemic preconditioning (IPC) which involved 5 minutes of canine left anterior descending coronary artery occlusion, followed by 5 minutes of reperfusion repeated 4 times. Evidence of cardioprotective effects following IPC was supported when a number of follow-up studies confirmed their original observations (Li et al.,

1990, Murry et al., 1990, Murry et al., 1991, Ovize et al., 1992). These data contributed to the concept that exposure to (non-lethal) cardiac ischaemia in the period preceding coronary ischaemia may protect against the impact of reperfusion of the occluded artery on the magnitude of myocardial damage.

2.2.1 Remote IPC

Przyklenk and colleagues performed a landmark study in 1993, in which they demonstrated that cyclical ischaemia and reperfusion of the circumflex coronary artery was associated with protection of cardiac territory supplied by the left anterior descending artery (i.e. an area *remote* from the preconditioning stimulus of the circumflex coronary artery) (Przyklenk et al., 1993). These findings from Przyklenk's group provided the first evidence demonstrating the effects of what is now termed 'remote' ischaemic preconditioning (rIPC).

Preclinical studies investigating the impact of rIPC on the heart have classically collected perfusate from animals who have been subject to IPC. When naive hearts have subsequently been perfused using a Langendorff preparation, a number of studies have identified that in both the donor heart subject to the IPC and the naive recipient heart that has received the perfusate from the preconditioned donor, infarction size was significantly smaller following a prolonged ischaemic event (Dickson et al., 1999, Huffman et al., 2008). These finding demonstrated the ability of rIPC to reduce the damage induced by ischaemic injury in remote areas, potentially through a bloodborne pathway. Intriguingly, evidence has shown the rIPC can provide protection between-species, since rabbit hearts displayed protection against a prolonged bout of cardiac ischaemia when perfused with human preconditioned serum (Shimizu et al., 2009, Michelsen et al., 2012). This suggested a similarity in the factors conferring

protection across species, and that such agent/s remain conserved during such procedures, allowing binding to the recipient receptors.

Clinical human studies exploring the effects of rIPC have typically applied the rIPC cycles using a blood pressure cuff on a limb, before (planned) prolonged myocardial ischaemia. A small number of studies have investigated the use of rIPC in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) or percutaneous coronary interventions (PCI), as these procedures involve global myocardial ischaemia (and subsequently cardiac damage) as shown by elevated cardiac troponins post-procedure. Consequently, strategies that can attenuate the damage as a result of global myocardial ischaemia have clinical relevance. Meta-analyses (Brevoord et al., 2012, D'Ascenzo et al., 2012) have identified lower peri-postoperative levels of troponins in patients undergoing CABG and PCI if rIPC is applied. More importantly, evidence suggests that rIPC may reduce overall perioperative myocardial infarction (Thielmann et al., 2013, Candilio et al., 2015). For example, Thielmann et al. (2013), demonstrated in 329 patients undergoing CABG proceeding a bout of rIPC, reduced post-CABG troponin concentrations and also lowered all-cause mortality after a 1.5 year follow-up. Therefore, rIPC may in turn provide long-term clinical benefits to humans.

In 2010, Bøtker and colleagues explored this concept in humans by randomizing patients with suspected acute myocardial infarction to a rIPC group or control group during transition to hospital (Botker et al., 2010). They identified that rIPC on transition along with standard treatment was associated with better myocardial salvage, assessed by myocardial perfusion imaging, compared to standard care alone. Intriguingly, a follow-up performed on the same patient group approximately 3.8 years later reported that the rIPC treated patients experienced fewer major adverse cardiac

and cerebrovascular effects (Sloth et al., 2014). Whereas it is important to present the evidence of the beneficial effects of rIPC, it is also essential to acknowledge the work that has found no positive clinical impact. In a large scale randomised control trial including 1612 patients undergoing CABG, rIPC did not improve clinical outcomes in patients (Hausenloy et al., 2015), with a similar observation in patient requiring cardiopulmonary bypass for cardiac surgery (Meybohm et al., 2015)

Whilst the beneficial effects of rIPC on the cardiovascular system has attracted attention, its effect on the cerebrovascular system has certainly received less. Nevertheless, there is a growing body of animal research that supports the notion that rIPC provides protection against ischaemic injuries in the cerebrovascular system and provides neuroprotection. This is of clinical relevance as brain ischaemia is one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality in the world (Liu et al., 2009). Hoyte et al., (2006) conducted a study in mice and employed 15 minutes of MCA occlusion 72 hours prior to inducing a 45-minute injurious cerebral ischaemia. They reported an increase in regional brain blood flow during the injurious occlusion, measured via magnetic resonance perfusion and laser Doppler flowmetry in the mice that received the IPC as well as a reduction in infarct size (Hoyte et al., 2006). Ren and colleagues extended this work by applying rIPC to the left femoral artery of rodents, 2 days prior to inducing cerebral ischaemia. They reported that rIPC was associated with a reduction in infarction size compared to the animals with no preconditioning (Ren et al., 2008). Jensen and colleagues also observed that pigs who received rIPC to the limb, displayed an accelerated recovery in neurological function and ECG pattern and demonstrated a lower brain lactate concentration compared to controls following ischaemic injury as a result of hypothermic circulatory arrest (Jensen et al., 2011).

These data provide evidence that (r)IPC can offer cerebrovascular and neural protection against cerebral ischaemia. Nevertheless, research in humans is warranted to be able to translate this into clinical practice. This will be the focus of study 1 within the current thesis.

2.2.1.1 Ischaemia-reperfusion injuries

When arterial blood flow is blocked, it is essential that blood flow is restored in order to prevent irreversible tissue damage. When organs become ischaemic, the deprivation of blood flow and oxygen have long been recognised as the critical factor in clinical outcomes. However, the reperfusion phase (restoring of blood flow) is not without consequence and induces even further cellular damage that is greater than the damage caused by the ischaemia itself (Eltzschig and Collard, 2004). Evidence for this was shown when 3 hours of ischaemia followed by 1 hour of reperfusion induced cellular damage that exceeded that of the damage caused by a 4 hour ischaemic protocol (Parks and Granger, 1986). Cellular damage induced by the reperfusion phase following a period of ischaemia is referred to as ischemia reperfusion injury (IRI). IRI can occur in a variety of clinical scenarios; thrombolytic therapy, organ transplant, coronary angioplasty, cardiopulmonary bypass or aortic clamping (Eltzschig and Collard, 2004) as well in cardiovascular events/disorders such as; myocardial infarction, stroke and peripheral vascular disease (Kalogeris et al., 2012). This highlights the clinical relevance to minimise IRI.

Ischaemia promotes a proinflammatory state that intensifies tissue vulnerability to any further damage during reperfusion. The extent of the injury caused by a period of ischaemia is heavily influenced by the duration of the blood flow restriction (Eltzschig and Collard, 2004) and crucially the organ in which is affected by the ischaemia, with

the brain being the most sensitive organ to reductions in blood supply (Ordy et al., 1993). When reperfusion occurs following ischaemia, levels of oxygen are rapidly restored and the extracellular pH returns to normal. Even with this restoration of oxygen and extracellular pH, the intracellular pH remains acidic and this pH gradient facilitates extrusion of H⁺ from the cell in exchange for Na⁺ (Murphy and Steenbergen, 2008). Additionally, increases in ROS during ischaemia and re-oxygenation is believed to be due to damage to components of the electron transport chain resulting in inefficient transfer of electrons resulting in the generation of superoxides. The significant increase in ROS production induces further oxidative damage to cellular structures (Murphy and Steenbergen, 2008). IRI occurs in a wide range of organs including the heart, gut, kidney, lung, skeletal muscle and brain and may involve not only the ischaemic organ itself but may also induce systemic damage to distant organs, potentially leading to multi-system organ failure. Reperfusion injury is a multifactorial process resulting in extensive tissue destruction and vascular interventions to improve IRI outcomes are important. A growing body of evidence suggests that rIPC has the ability to reduce the level of cellular tissue damage following an IRI, both planned or unplanned (Heusch et al., 2015).

2.2.2 Repeated rIPC interventions

The 'traditional' doses of rIPC applied in the majority of studies have principally used 4 x 5 minutes of occlusion followed by reperfusion. Whittaker and Przyklenk outlined the potential use of repeated rIPC, referring to this traditional dose (4x5 minutes) but applied more often (e.g. daily or weekly) (Whittaker and Przyklenk, 2014). Given the potent effects of a single dose of rIPC, repeated episodes may, in theory, provide longer or more potent reduction of ischaemic myocardial damage (Whittaker and

Przyklenk, 2014). Table 2.1 provides a summary of all human studies to do date that have employed repeated rIPC interventions.

Liang (2015)	Jones (2015)	Kono (2014)	Jones (2014)	Kono (2014)	Luca (2013)	Meng (2012)	Wei (2012)	Shimiz (2010)	Kimur (2007)	Autho	
et	et	et	et	et	et	et	et	u et	a et	r (Ye	
al.	al.	al.	al.	al.	al.	al.	al.	al.	al.	ar)	
Coronary heart disease	Healthy young	Heart failure	Healthy young	Healthy middle aged	Healthy young	Intracranial arterial stenosis	Rats (myocardial infarction)	Healthy middle aged	Healthy young	Population	
rIPC	rIPC & IPC	rIPC	rIPC & IPC	rIPC	rIPC	rIPC	rIPC	rIPC	rIPC	rIPC or IPC	
4 x 5 minute three times daily	4 x 5 minute, three times per week	4 x 5 minute twice daily	4 x 5 minute daily	4 x 5 minute twice daily	3 x 5 minute daily	5 x 5 minute daily	4 x 5 minute daily	3 x 5 minute daily	6 x 5 minute daily	IPC protocol	
20 days	8 weeks	7 days	7 days	7 days	7 days	300 days	28 days	10 days	4 weeks	Duration	
Unilateral	Unilateral	Unilateral	Unilateral	Unilateral	Unilateral	Bilateral	Unilateral	Unilateral	Unilateral	Unilateral or bilateral	
Yes	Yes	No	No	No	No	Yes	Sham	No	Yes	Control Included	
↑ Vascular function (FMD) ↑ eNOS mRNA levels ↑ Endothelial progenitor cells	↑ Bilateral vascular function (FMD) ↔ Bilateral skin perfusion	↑ Coronary flow reserve ↔ LV end-diastolic volume	 ↑ Bilateral vascular function (FMD) ↑ Bilateral skin perfusion 	↑ Coronary flow reserve ↔ LV end-diastolic volume	[↑] Vascular function (FMD)	↓ Stroke recurrence ↑ Cerebral perfusion	↓ Infarct size ↓ LV remodelling	↓ Neutrophil adhesion ↓ Phagocytosis	 Vascular function (venous occlusion plethysmography infusion) Endothelial progenitor cells 	Findings	

 Table 2.1: Overview of all published studies to date investigating repeated (remote) ischaemic preconditioning interventions

36

Abbreviations:	HyTong et a (2019)	(Jeffries et al 2019)	Ahmed et a (2018)	Pryds et a (2017)	Wang et a (2017)	Lindsay et a (2017)	Mi et al. (2016	Shaked et a (2015)	Meng et a (2015)	Yamaguchi (al. (2015)
eNOS, endothel	 Hypertensive patients 	., Healthy young	I. Claudication patients	I. Heart Failure	 Cerebral small vessel disease 	 Healthy young) Cerebral small vessel disease	I. Type 1 and 2 diabetics	I. Intracranial arterial stenosis	et Rats (myocardial infarction)
ial nitric o	rIPC	rIPC	rIPC	rIPC	- rIPC	rIPC	- rIPC	rIPC	rIPC s	rIPC
oxide synthase;	3 x 5 minutes daily	4 x 5 minute daily	4 x 5 minutes every 4 days	4 x 5 minute daily	5 x 5 minute twice daily	4 x 5 minute daily	5 x 5 minute twice daily	3 x 5 minute, every 14 days	5 x 5 minute twice daily	5 x5 minute dai
FMD, flow	30 days	7 days	28 days	28 days	1 year	7 days	1 year	6 weeks	180 days	ly 4 weeks
mediated dilation	Bilateral	Bilateral leg	Unilateral	Unilateral	Bilateral	Unilateral leg	Bilateral	Bilateral	Bilateral	Bilateral
, rIPC; re	No	Sham	Yes	NO	Sham	Sham	Sham	Sham	Sham	Yes
mote ischaemic preconditioning, LV;	↓ Blood Pressure (clinic and ambulatory) ↑ Micro-vessel endothelial function	 ↑ Time to exercise exhaustion ↑ Tissue oxygenation during submaximal cycling 	 † Improvements in pain-free walking distance † Ankle-brachial pressure indices 	↓ Blood pressure	↓ White matter hyperintensities ↓ Cognitive decline	↑ Mean cycling power ↑ VO _{2peak}	↓ White matter lesions ↑ middle cerebral artery velocity	↓ Diabetic ulcer wound size	↓ Stroke recurrence	↑ LV ejection fraction ↑ LV diastolic function

ventricular, IPC; Ischaemic preconditoning Symbols: \uparrow Increase, \downarrow decrease, \leftrightarrow no change. Left

2.2.2.1 The myocardium

Only a relatively small number of studies on repeated rIPC have focused directly on the myocardium and the ability of episodic rIPC to impact the magnitude of myocardial damage. For example, 40 patients with coronary artery disease who were scheduled for CABG surgery were randomized to a 20 day period of repeated rIPC (three rIPC sessions daily, n = 20) or a control intervention before surgery (n = 20). Patients undergoing repeated rIPC demonstrated approximately 50% lower troponin expression levels after CABG compared with the control group (Liang et al., 2015). The ability of repeated rIPC to reduce postoperative cardiac troponin is in line with previous work on single rIPC scheduled before CABG. Wei et al. (2011) explored different protocols of rIPC in rats undergoing planned cardiac ischaemia, including a single episode of rIPC and repeated (every 3 days versus daily) rIPC across 28 days post-injury. Although the reduction in infarct size on days 4 and 28 was comparable across the protocols, repeated rIPC was associated with a dose-dependent protection against adverse remodelling and improved survival. In parallel with these findings, work from Yamaguchi et al. (2015) divided rats post-myocardial infarction into a 4 week repeated rIPC group and a control group and reported that repeated rIPC prevents adverse cardiac remodelling (and fibrosis in the boundary region).

A short one week rIPC intervention, consisting of twice-daily unilateral arm rIPC increased coronary flow reserve, through improvements to coronary microcirculation in both healthy participants as well as in patients with heart failure (left ventricle ejection fraction <40%) (Kono et al., 2014), suggesting the potential use of daily rIPC in the lives of patients with heart failure. Additionally, a 28 day rIPC intervention consisting of daily limb rIPC in patients with chronic ischaemic heart failure

demonstrated a significant reduction in systolic BP, the N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide (as a marker of heart failure) and improved global longitudinal strain in patients with the most severe heart failure (Pryds et al., 2017)

The potential effects of repeated rIPC are not isolated to reducing the magnitude of cardiac damage following prolonged ischaemia. Repeated rIPC interventions appear to also have an effect on vascular endothelial function. Given that previous work has demonstrated that improvements in peripheral and coronary vascular function is related to lower risk for future cardiovascular events (Green et al., 2011), this is of particular importance.

2.2.2.2 The peripheral vasculature

Kimura et al. (2007) were the first to examine the effects of repeated rIPC following 28 days of rIPC on forearm resistance artery endothelial function in healthy individuals. They provided evidence that repeated rIPC improved resistance artery endothelial function via increase in NO production and numbers of endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs). Luca et al. (2013) followed this work by exploring if repeated (daily) rIPC altered the efficacy of a single bout of rIPC against an induced ischaemia-reperfusion injury. In line with their hypothesis, daily rIPC provided more sustained protection against an endothelial IRI compared to a single bout, measured with FMD. More recently, these findings of enhanced vascular endothelial function were extended when it was found that 7 days of daily rIPC improved both brachial artery FMD and skin perfusion (microvascular function), whilst these benefits were evident in the ipsilateral (exposed to IPC stimulus) and the contralateral arm (remote location to rIPC stimulus) (Jones et al., 2014). Importantly, these effects of the repeated rIPC intervention persisted for 7 days after the end of the intervention, suggesting that

improvements are related to a more prolonged adaptation rather than a transient change (Figure 2.5).



Figure 2.5: (A) Brachial artery flow-mediated dilation (FMD); expressed as a percentage and (B) resting forearm cutaneous vascular conductance before (Pre), after (Post) and 8 days after (Post+8). the 7 day daily IPC intervention in the IPC (open circles) and contralateral arm (filled circles) of healthy volunteers (n = 13). Error bars represent SEM. *Post hoc significantly different from day 0. Adapted from (Jones et al., 2014).

It has been suggested that infarct-sparing effects from rIPC are present for 1–2 h following an rIPC episode (early phase), whereas these protective effects return after 24 h for a period of 3–4 days (late phase) (see section 2.2.4). Although described in relation to protection of the ischaemic myocardium, a similar pattern may also be found in peripheral vessels. Therefore, repeated rIPC bouts may be timed 24–72 h apart to ensure that the tissue will be exposed simultaneously to the 'early phase' and 'late phase'. Given the relatively long duration of the 'late' phase of protection, Jones and colleagues explored the impact of less frequent and more spaced rIPC bouts by administering rIPC for 8 weeks (3 cycles per week) (Jones et al., 2015). They identified that rIPC significantly increased brachial artery FMD and that these improvements were apparent after two weeks (six rIPC bouts) in young healthy males. The impact of repeated rIPC as an intervention on vascular function, including the impact on endothelial IRI, in individuals with vascular dysfunction is currently unknown and will be investigated in patients with T2DM in study 2 and CVD risk factors in study 3 of the present thesis.

In support of repeated rIPC having a beneficial impact on those with endothelial dysfunction, patients with T2DM have complications which are vascular in nature where ischaemia plays a critical role i.e. in the development of diabetic foot ulcers. In one study, patients with diabetic foot ulcers were randomised into 6 weeks of bilateral (upper limb) rIPC or control group (no rIPC). The ratio of patients who reached complete healing of their ulcer was significantly higher in those who received repeated rIPC compared with the control group (41 versus 0%, respectively), and the remaining ulcer area was smaller (25 versus 61%, respectively) (Shaked et al., 2015). A higher

prevalence of wound healing is of major clinical significance given that 20% of patients with diabetic foot ulcers ultimately require amputation (Eldor et al., 2004).

2.2.2.3 The cerebrovasculature

Research examining the impact of repeated rIPC on cerebrovascular function and clinical outcomes in humans is limited. Two large-scale clinical trials have been conducted examining the potential benefits of repeated rIPC on human cerebrovascular function in patients with intracranial arterial stenosis. The studies employed bilateral limb rIPC twice daily for 300 days and found a significant reduction in stroke recurrence along with a significant increase in cerebral perfusion and improved modified Rankin Scale score (measurement scale for neurological disability) (Meng et al., 2012). Remarkably, the same group later observed a significant reduction in ischaemic events following a course of 180 days of bilateral limb IPC, twice daily, applied within an older population of IAS patients, with no adverse changes to heart rate or arterial BP (Meng et al., 2015). Additionally, a oneyear rIPC intervention involving bilateral rIPC twice daily applied to patients with cerebral small vessel disease outlined that rIPC can help in slowing down cognitive decline as well as reduce white matter hyperintensities (Wang et al., 2017). The use of rIPC as an additional treatment for ischaemic stroke has been reviewed in detail (Landman et al., 2019), this based on preclinical and clinical evidence demonstrating that rIPC is feasible, safe and free of adverse incidents in the clinical populations studied thus far. Landman et al discusses how rIPC related to the brain is a few steps behind that of cardiology in terms of research and advocates future studies exploring rIPC. Whilst the current studies provide indirect evidence that rIPC may have an impact on cerebrovascular function in humans, no study to date has directly assessed how the cerebrovasculature is changing to mediate beneficial improvement in stroke risk and cognitive function. The focus of studies 2 and 3 in the present thesis will investigate the impact of repeated rIPC on cerebrovascular function in individuals with CVD risk factors.

2.2.2.4 Phases of rIPC

rIPC has a characteristic temporal nature, involving two independent 'phases' of protection. The acute phase is believed to arise immediately after the rIPC and disappears approximately 2 hours after, and a delayed phase that appears around 24 hours after the preconditioning stimulus, lasting longer but regarded as less protective and potent (Heusch et al., 2015). The acute protection depends on immediate recruitment of signalling molecules, whereas increased expression of protective proteins is a hallmark of the delayed protection (Bolli et al., 2007). Whilst endogenous NO, generated from endothelial and inducible nitric oxide synthase does not seem to be involved for immediate protection, it is involved in the delayed protective effects of IPC (Bolli et al., 1998). The contribution of NO to the late phase of rIPC was further supported when a NO synthase inhibitors abolished the impact of rIPC in an animal model (Takano et al., 1998). Expression of other cardioprotective proteins has also been shown to be unregulated during the delayed protection (e.g. cyclo-oxygenase-2, superoxide dismutase (Zhou et al., 1996, Guo et al., 2000). These effects on the upregulation of (cardioprotective) proteins may contribute to the sustainability of the IPC stimulus and vascular adaptation (Thijssen et al., 2016a). Therefore, repetitive upregulation of these proteins, usually noted during the delayed/late protective phase, may be of relevance in understanding the effects of repeated IPC on sustainable

improvement in vascular function. Whether these effects actually translate to the peripheral and/or cerebral vascular beds, also taking into consideration the presence of potential deleterious remodelling, is currently unknown.

An alternative explanation for the local effects/adaptations to vascular function induced by rIPC may relate to the changes in haemodynamics. The repeated exposure to the ischaemia-reperfusion cycle causes elevations in blood flow (shear stress) during each reperfusion phase. Repeated episodes of increases in shear stress are recognised as an important stimulus in vascular adaptations given that such adaptations are not evident when shear stress is attenuated (Green et al., 2010).

2.2.2.5 Potential mechanisms of (r)IPC and repeated rIPC

Whilst their remains no definitive mechanism identified for the cardioprotective and vascular effects of rIPC, there has been a number of potential mechanisms proposed. It is important to acknowledge that there may be differences in the mechanisms responsible for benefits of a single bout of rIPC and repeated rIPC interventions (Thijssen et al., 2016a). It is also important to acknowledge that identifying the mechanisms of rIPC is not the focus of this thesis. In-depth reviews related to potential mediating mechanisms have been published (Hausenloy and Yellon, 2008, Heusch et al., 2015, Thijssen et al., 2016a). A summary of potential mechanisms is provided below.

The classical view of the protective effects of rIPC relates to the following cascade; a trigger is released (in the occluded limb) and acts as a stimulus to activate a mediator, which in turn transmits a protective signal onto an effector that attenuates injury in

remote location (vascular and cardiac) in to response to ischaemia-reperfusion. The activation of these pathways is highly complex and is likely to involve the input of multiple signals in order to confer the protection (Hausenloy and Yellon, 2008, Heusch et al., 2015, Thijssen et al., 2016a).

The episodes of rIPC applied to the limb induce subsequent transduction of the local signal to the remote tissue (or organ), but is dependent on intact neural and humoral pathways (Lim et al., 2010). The autonomic nervous system has been shown to play a role in the protective effects of rIPC, given that infusion of Trimethaphan (autonomic ganglion blocker) abolished the effects of rIPC on vascular function pre and post IRI (Loukogeorgakis et al., 2005). Remarkably, local nerve stimulation appears to have a similar effect to rIPC on cardioprotection, whereas a nerve blocker of the peripheral nerve abolished that protection (Redington et al., 2012). With regards to cerebral protection conferred by rIPC, evidence again suggests a neural component. Several blockades of sensory inputs attenuate studies have demonstrated the beneficial/protective effects of rIPC in animal models (Malhotra et al., 2011, Wei et al., 2012).

Cardioprotection from rIPC is also mediated through circulating, blood-borne hormones that are able to protect remote (cardio)vascular regions against prolonged ischaemia (Dickson et al., 1999), with recent evidence supporting a potential role for NO, microRNA-144 and stromal-derived factor 1α (SDF- 1α) (Heusch et al., 2015). In the target organ, signal transduction pathways are activated that ultimately contribute to the protection against ischaemic injury. In the heart, signal transduction of RIPC 'shares' that of local IPC, with at least significant involvement of NO (and endothelial nitric oxide synthase), protein kinase C and the RISK pathway that ultimately work on the mitochondria (Heusch et al., 2015).

The production of circulating hormones represents one logical mechanism that might contribute to the effects of repeated IPC on both the ability to ameliorate damage after prolonged ischaemia and the sustained adaptation in remote vascular function. The role of circulating hormones in the protection against myocardial injury was first highlighted by (Dickson et al., 1999) who found that coronary effluent from a preconditioned heart induced cardioprotection in a naïve acceptor heart. Subsequently, several studies adopting the Langendorff model suggested the presence of a blood-borne substance that confers protection when infused in an organ exposed to prolonged ischaemia. Despite the scientific and clinical importance, identifying the substance or substances that explain the effects of rIPC has proved challenging.

2.3 Summary

In summary, tight regulation of CBF and the mechanims controlling CBF (i.e. cerebrovascular function) is essential in reducing the risk of cerebrovascular disease. rIPC is a technique which has shown potential in improving a number of cardiovascular parameters. The majority of the research has focused on cardioprotection against IR injuries, whilst only a very small number of studies have explored the use of rIPC as intervention to improve parameters within the cerebral circulation. Nonetheless, these latter studies report remarkably positive clinical outcomes in a cohort of patients with history of cerebrovascular complications (Meng et al., 2012, Meng et al., 2015, Mi et al., 2016, Wang et al., 2017). Yet, no study has investigated whether and/or how rIPC, applied either acutely or repeatedly, is effective in enhancing CBF via improvements in cerebrovascular function in individuals at risk of future complications.

Chapter 3: The impact of acute remote ischaemic preconditioning on cerebrovascular function

3.1 Introduction

Remote ischaemic preconditioning (rIPC) is a technique that offers enhanced hypoxic tolerance and protection to systemic organs and tissues following repeated brief periods of ischaemia and reperfusion to a remote vascular bed (Lim and Hausenloy, 2012). This phenomenon, mediated via a neural and/or humoral pathway (Shimizu et al., 2009, Jensen et al., 2012), was first described in canine hearts (Przyklenk et al., 1993) with subsequent studies demonstrating its efficacy in humans. More specifically, rIPC has been reported to reduce cardiovascular events in patients following coronary artery bypass and percutaneous coronary intervention surgeries (Thielmann et al., Davies et al., 2013a), and reduce brachial artery endothelial ischemia reperfusion damage (Kharbanda et al., 2002). Given these broad potent protective effects, it is possible that rIPC may also affect the brain and cerebral vasculature.

Animal studies have reported rIPC-mediated neuroprotection in the form of reduced infarct size and improved neurological recovery following prolonged cerebral ischaemia and hypothermic circulatory arrest (Ren et al., 2008, Jensen et al., 2011). Extending these findings to humans, a study in stroke survivors reported increased cerebral perfusion and 70% lower stroke recurrence following daily rIPC for 300 days, compared to a group of patients receiving standard care (Meng et al., 2012). This protective effect was reinforced in a recent study in acute stroke patients where repeated application of rIPC significantly improved clinical status and reduced National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale scores (England et al., 2017), while rIPC was found to significantly reduce white matter hyperintensities volume in small vessel disease patients (Wang et al., 2017). Strict regulation of brain blood flow is crucial for

the maintenance of cerebrovascular health and is impaired in numerous clinical groups, including stroke survivors. Based on previous observations that repeated rIPC improves peripheral macro- and microvascular health in humans (Kharbanda et al., 2002, Jones et al., 2015), the observed benefits of rIPC on cerebrovascular health may be related to acute improvements in cerebrovascular function *in vivo*. Assessing the impact of rIPC on cerebrovascular function would *i*) extend the fundamental understanding of the acute effects of RIPC in humans, and *ii*) may provide insight into how rIPC mediates neuroprotection and further establish it as a novel therapeutic strategy in clinically vulnerable groups.

The primary aim of this proof of principle study was to assess the impact of bilateral arm rIPC on resting CBFv, dCA and CVR to carbon dioxide (CO₂) in healthy individuals, compared to a sham condition. To examine the effectiveness of rIPC across a broader spectrum of vascular health, also included were participants at an increased risk for CVD and stroke. Finally, previous studies have reported that hypercapnia (induced by inhalation of higher concentrations of CO₂) transiently disrupts dCA and has been used as a model for impaired cerebral autoregulation (Zhang et al., 1998, Panerai et al., 1999, Ainslie et al., 2008a, Jeong et al., 2016). Therefore, the secondary aim of this study was to assess the ability of rIPC to attenuate hypercapnia-induced impairment of dCA. It was hypothesised that rIPC would improve dCA and CVR, while attenuating the hypercapnia-induced impairment in dCA, when compared to a sham condition in both young healthy individuals and those with increased cardiovascular risk

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Participants

Twenty participants were recruited for the study (Healthy; n=11 [Females n=6] and CVD risk; n=9 [Females n=4], Table 3.1). Healthy young participants (age; 28.1±3.7yrs) were recreationally active, engaged in low to moderate intensity exercise 2-3 days per week, and were free from cardiovascular diseases, including diabetes, hypertension or hypercholesterolemia. For the second group, older individuals (52.5±6.7 yrs) with cardiovascular risk factors were recruited based on having \geq 1 of the following criteria; body mass index >30kg/m² or a waist circumference \geq 94cm (male), \geq 80cm (female), blood pressure systolic >130/diastolic >85 mmHg or diagnosed with high cholesterol (total >200 mg/dL, triglycerides >150 mg/dL, LDL >100 mg/dL). Smokers, individuals with previous angina or myocardial infarction, transient ischaemic attack or stroke and thrombosis were excluded from participation. Participants were informed of the study protocol verbally and in writing before providing written informed consent. The study was approved by the University Research Ethics Committee (16/SPS/019) and adhered to the standards set out in the Declaration of Helsinki.

Characteristics	Healthy individuals	CVD risk individuals	P Value
	n=11; Female=6	n=9; Female=4	
Age (years)	28 ± 4	53 ± 7	< 0.001
Height (cm)	173.1 ± 10.1	169.4 ± 10.3	0.44
Weight (kg)	71.7 ± 13.6	93.6 ± 23.9	0.02
BMI (kg/m ²)	24 ± 3	32 ± 6	< 0.001
MAP (mmHg)	89 ± 4	104 ± 3	< 0.001
PetCO ₂ (mmHg)	37.8 ± 2.0	40.2 ± 2.9	0.10
MCAv (cm.s ⁻¹)	70 ± 15	54 ± 8	0.02

 Table 3.1: Participant characteristics.

Values are means \pm SD. BMI; body mass index, MAP, mean arterial pressure; PetCO₂; partial pressure of end tidal carbon dioxide; MCAv, middle cerebral artery velocity.

3.2.2 Research Design

Participants attended the laboratory on two occasions (separated by a minimum of 3 days). All tests were performed at the same time of day to control for diurnal variation in cerebrovascular function (Ainslie et al., 2007). All participants arrived at the laboratory for testing following an overnight fast and had refrained from alcohol, exercise and caffeine for 24h prior to each visit. Visits were randomised and counterbalanced to receive either the bilateral upper arm rIPC or the sham condition. Each visit consisted of the bilateral assessment of MCAv during rIPC or sham. Following this cerebral autoregulation was assessed using a 5 min squat-stand protocol (0.10 Hz). This was then proceeded by a 5 minute rest period, followed by 4 minutes of hypercapnia (5% CO₂) and then another 5 minute squat-stand (0.10 Hz) protocol

but whilst breathing 5% CO_2 (Figure 3.1). The phase of menstrual cycle was not controlled for in the female participants.



Figure 3.1: Schematic of the protocol for each testing visit.

3.2.3 Measurements

Remote ischaemic preconditioning and sham. The rIPC condition consisted of 8 bouts in total involving the inflation of a pneumatic cuff (Hokanson SC10D; USA) on the upper arm using a rapid inflator (EC-20; D.E Hokanson) to 220 mmHg for 5 minutes. Cuffs were inflated in an alternating fashion allowing for one arm to be occluded while the contralateral arm underwent reperfusion. The sham condition consisted of the identical protocol with the difference that the cuff pressure was inflated to only 10 mmHg.

Cerebral blood flow (middle cerebral artery blood velocity). Following 20 minutes rest in the supine position, bilateral MCAv's were continuously measured through the temporal window using TCD. Two 2-MHz Doppler probes (Spencer Technologies, Seattle, USA) were adjusted until an optimal signal was identified and held in place using a Marc 600 head frame (Spencer Technologies, Seattle, USA). Once the optimal MCAv signal was attained, the probe location and machine settings (depth, gain and

power) were recorded to identify the same imaging site for the second testing session. Participants were instrumented with a two-way valve mouthpiece (Hans Rudolph) from which end tidal CO_2 ($P_{ET}CO_2$) was measured using a calibrated gas analyser (ML206 ADinstruments, Colorado Springs, USA). Continuous beat-by-beat blood pressure was obtained from a digit (Finapres, Amsterdam, Netherlands) and heart rate acquired from a 3 lead electrocardiogram. All data was sampled at 50 Hz with the data acquisition system PowerLab via the interface LabChart 7 (ADinstruments, Colorado Springs, USA).

Cerebral autoregulation. Dynamic cerebral autoregulation (dCA) was assessed using a squat-to-stand procedure that induces transient changes in arterial blood pressure (Claassen et al., 2009b, Smirl et al., 2015). Participants replicated the experimenter whilst performing the manoeuvres, that involved moving from a standing upright position to squatting until the legs achieved a 90° angle. Participants performed two sets at 0.10 Hz (5 second squat - 5 second stand) while breathing normal atmospheric air, and again during hypercapnia (detailed below). The first set of squat-stands was preceded by 5 mins of seated rest while the second set immediately followed the 4 mins of hypercapnia. Squat stand manoeuvres were performed at 0.10 Hz as this falls within a frequency range whereby cerebral autoregulation is deemed to be active (Zhang et al., 1998, Smirl et al., 2015) and represents a more feasible challenge than 0.05 Hz manoeuvres, especially for those in the CVD risk factor group.

Carbon dioxide reactivity. Following a rest period of 5 mins, a baseline measurement of cerebral blood velocity, MAP and $P_{ET}CO_2$ was performed across 2 mins while participants breathed in room air. Following the baseline period, the inhaled air was

switched to a Douglas bag (100L) containing 5% CO_2 , 21% oxygen and balanced nitrogen, while participants sat in a rested seated position.

Data analysis: MCAv and MAP during the 40 min rIPC and sham conditions were averaged and extracted from LabChart in 5 min intervals (n=20). MCA cerebrovascular conductance (CbVC) was calculated as MCAv/ MAP. Calculation of the CVR slopes were performed via linear regression analysis of the two time-points; baseline (MCAv, MAP, $P_{ET}CO_2$ averaged across 2 mins) and 5% CO₂ (data averaged across the last 30 secs of the 4 min hypercapnia). Two participants in the cardiovascular risk factor group were unable to complete the hypercapnic protocol, therefore data analysis for CO₂ reactivity was performed on n=18 (Healthy=11).

Cerebral autoregulation data were extracted from LabChart beat-to-beat (MAP and MCAv) before spline interpolation and were assessed via transfer function analysis (TFA) based on the Welch algorithm, using a provided script (http://www.carnet.org/). The 5 min squat-stand recordings were subdivided into five windows overlapping by 50% and passed through a Hanning window before fast Fourier transform analysis (MathWorks-Inc., Natick, Massachusetts). The cross-spectrum between MAP and MCAv was determined and divided by MAP auto-spectrum to formulate functions; normalised gain (nGain), absolute gain, phase and coherence (MAP-MCAv linearity). Gain represents the difference in amplitudes between the input (MAP) and output (MCAv). nGain refers to the same output as gain, except blood flow velocity values are normalised by dividing beat-to-beat values by the mean value. Gain, nGain and phase data were excluded from statistical analysis if coherence was <0.4. TFA was performed in accordance with standardised guidelines from the Cerebral Autoregulation Research Network (Claassen et al., 2016). TFA parameters of the driven oscillations were band averaged across the very low (VLF; 0.02-0.07 Hz), low (LF; 0.07-0.2 Hz) and high (HF; 0.2-0.4 Hz) frequency domains. Induced BP oscillations at 0.10 Hz were employed in the current study, this falls within the ranges of the LF domain. Therefore, the low frequency (0.07-0.20 Hz) output is the most appropriate to be reported as dCA is highly active with this frequency of squats (Zhang et al., 1998). $P_{ET}CO_2$ data was averaged across each 5 min squat-stand recording. One participant in the cardiovascular risk factor group was unable to complete the cerebral autoregulation protocol during normocapnia while three participants from the same group were unable to complete the protocol during hypercapnia, therefore data was analysed on n=18 for the normocapnic and n=17 for the hypercapnic cerebral autoregulation conditions.

3.2.4 Statistical Analysis

A three-factor group*condition*time (group; healthy vs CVD risk factors, condition: rIPC vs sham, time: 5 min intervals during intervention) general linear model was employed to analyse resting MCAv and MAP during the RIPC and sham intervention. A three-factor -capnia*group*condition (capnia; normocapnic or hypercapnic, group; healthy vs CVD risk factors, condition: RIPC vs sham) general linear model was employed to analyse the cerebral autoregulation. A two way group*condition (group; healthy vs CVD risk factors, condition: RIPC vs sham) general linear model was employed to analyse the cerebral autoregulation. A two way group*condition (group; healthy vs CVD risk factors, condition: RIPC vs sham) general linear model was employed to analyse the CO₂ reactivity. Statistically significant main effects and interactions were followed up with the least significant difference (LSD) approach for multiple comparisons. Statistical analysis was conducted using Statistical Package for Social Sciences (Version 22; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). Statistical significance was delimited at P<0.05. Data are presented in the text as mean (95% confidence interval) unless otherwise stated.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Group characteristics

Resting MCAv was significantly higher in the healthy compared to CVD risk group (Table 3.1, P=0.009), while resting MAP was significantly lower in the healthy compared to the CVD risk group (Table 3.1, P=0.001). For resting comparisons of cerebrovascular function between the groups, responses to the CO₂ reactivity and dCA tests during the sham condition are reported. No difference was evident in CO₂ reactivity slopes between the healthy and CVD risk groups at rest (2.15 [1.60, 2.70] vs 1.68 [1.13, 2.24] cm/s/mmHg, P=0.44), or for any of the dCA variables.

3.3.2 Impact of rIPC on resting cerebral blood velocity and haemodynamics

There was no impact of rIPC on MCAv across the 40 min (P=0.58, Figure 3.2). There was a group*condition interaction, with MAP being higher during rIPC compared to sham in the CVD risk group over the 40 min intervention period (P<0.005), whilst MAP was similar between conditions in the healthy group.



pressure) in young healthy (C) and cardiovascular risk factor (D) individuals during 40 minutes of RIPC and sham. Data is mean± SD Figure 3.2: MCAv (middle cerebral artery velocity) in young healthy (A), older cardiovascular risk factor (B) individuals and MAP (mean arterial
n condition - Norn	nocapnia	
Healthy	CVD Risk	P Value
37.46 ± 1.89	40.28 ± 3.19	0.10
Cerebral Autoregul	ation (0.10 Hz)	
88.78 ± 39.65	64.89 ± 80.16	0.16
118.91 ± 50.60	87.01 ± 80.16	0.12
1.25 ± 0.30	1.30 ± 0.20	0.87
0.84 ± 0.19	0.74 ± 0.12	0.46
0.55 ± 0.37	0.60 ± 0.55	0.89
0.61 ± 0.10	0.67 ± 0.09	0.12
	$\frac{n \ condition - Norm}{Healthy}$ 37.46 ± 1.89 Cerebral Autoregul 88.78 ± 39.65 118.91 ± 50.60 1.25 ± 0.30 0.84 ± 0.19 0.55 ± 0.37 0.61 ± 0.10	m condition - NormocapniaHealthyCVD Risk 37.46 ± 1.89 40.28 ± 3.19 Cerebral Autoregulation (0.10 Hz) 88.78 ± 39.65 64.89 ± 80.16 118.91 ± 50.60 87.01 ± 80.16 1.25 ± 0.30 1.30 ± 0.20 0.84 ± 0.19 0.74 ± 0.12 0.55 ± 0.37 0.60 ± 0.55 0.61 ± 0.10 0.67 ± 0.09

Table 3.2: Dynamic cerebral autoregulation analysis via transfer function using squat-stand manoeuvres. Resting comparison of healthy and CVD risk participants.

Values are means \pm SD

3.3.3 Impact of rIPC on normocapnic and hypercapnic cerebral autoregulation

During normocapnia, there were no main effects or interactions in the low frequency (0.10 Hz) for normalised gain (Table 3.4, P=0.46), phase (P=0.53) or coherence (P=0.59) between the sham and rIPC conditions. PetCO₂ values during the squat-stand procedure were not different between conditions (P=0.81). Similarly, during hypercapnia, no significant main effects or interactions in the low frequency domains for normalised gain (Table 3.4, P=0.11), phase (P=0.90) or coherence (P=0.45) were observed. PetCO₂ values during hypercapnia did not differ between conditions (P=0.90).

3.3.4 Effect of hypercapnia on cerebral autoregulation (comparison of sham conditions)

Hypercapnia induced a phase reduction of 0.15 radians (0.08, 0.34) when compared to normocapnic cerebral autoregulation (P=0.002) with no effect of the RIPC or Sham condition (P>0.05). Additionally, normalised gain decreased during hypercapnic cerebral autoregulation by 0.41% (0.21, 0.47) compared to normocapnic (P<0.001).

3.3.5 Impact of rIPC on cerebrovascular CO₂ reactivity

The inhalation of 5% CO₂ significantly increased PetCO₂ following the sham and rIPC conditions respectively (Table 3.3, both P<0.001). MCAv subsequently increased, with no difference between the sham and rIPC conditions (Table 3.3, P=0.43). There was no overall effect of RIPC on CO₂ reactivity compared to the sham condition (group x treatment x PetCO₂, P=0.61, Table 3.3).

Healthy + CVD Risk	Baseline	am 5% CO ₂	rIP Baseline	С 5% СС
	Baseline	$5\% \text{CO}_2$	Baseline	
MCAv (cm/s)	64 ± 12	83 ± 19	63 ± 11	
PetCO ₂ (mmHg)	34 ± 6	44 ± 3	34 ± 6	
MAP (mmHg)	101 ± 8	108 ± 9	100 ± 5	
MCAv reactivity (cm/s/mmHg)	1.97	E 0.88	2.0	6 ⊬
CbVCi (cm/mmHg ²)	0.034 :	£ 0.010	0.04	± ⊬
MAP reactivity (mmHg/mmHg)	0.9	± 0.1	0).9 ±

 Table 3.3: Cardiovascular and respiratory parameters during the carbon dioxide reactivity test.

arterial pressure.

Healthy + CVD Risk	Normocap	nia (n=19; Healthy	=11)	Hypercapi	nia (n=17; Healthy=	11)
	Sham	RIPC	P Value	Sham	RIPC	P Value
P _{ET} CO ₂ (mmHg)	38.35 ± 2.65	38.15 ± 2.85	0.81	46.63 ± 2.74	46.46 ± 3.00	0.90
	Dynamic Cerebral	Autoregulation (0.1	0 Hz)	Dynamic Cereb	ral Autoregulation (0).10 Hz)
MCAv power (cm.s ²)	81.24 ± 54.43	80.95 ± 60.47	0.87	76.85 ± 40.04	82.82 ± 52.66	0.69
MAP power	108.83 ± 55.61	117.67 ± 72.05	0.73	110.81 ± 62.25	119.47 ± 88.78	0.74
$(mmHg^2)$						
Normalised gain	1.27 ± 0.25	1.22 ± 0.35	0.46	0.86 ± 0.16	0.94 ± 0.21	0.11
(%.mmHg ⁻¹)						
Gain (cm.s/mmHg)	0.80 ± 0.17	0.75 ± 0.17	0.86	0.75 ± 0.16	0.80 ± 0.20	0.82
Phase (radians)	0.53 ± 0.47	0.64 ± 0.39	0.53	0.40 ± 0.44	0.40 ± 0.31	0.90
Coherence	0.64 ± 0.10	0.65 ± 0.10	0.59	0.60 ± 0.20	0.58 ± 0.11	0.45
Values are means	$a \perp CD$ Chatictical c	innificance was	at D<0.05 De	+ OD - soutial sugging	a of and tidal contact	dinvide MCA.

Comparison between Sham and RIPC conditions with all participants grouped together. Table 3.4: Transfer function analysis of oscillations in mean arterial pressure and middle cerebral artery velocity using squat-stand manoeuvres.

cerebral artery velocity; MAP, mean arterial pressur

61

3.4 Discussion

This is the first study to investigate the acute impact of rIPC on both dynamic cerebral autoregulation and cerebrovascular CO₂ reactivity in healthy humans and those at increased risk of cardiovascular disease and stroke. The principle findings from this study are i) resting cerebral blood velocity was significantly higher at baseline in the healthy group compared to the cardiovascular risk group and ii) rIPC did not impact resting cerebral perfusion, cerebrovascular CO₂ reactivity or cerebral autoregulation, in either group. These findings extend the fundamental understanding of the acute effects of rIPC in humans and reveal that a single episode of rIPC does not immediately impact cerebrovascular function in humans.

Despite the well-documented effects of rIPC on myocardial and peripheral vascular function in humans (Bøtker et al., Thielmann et al., Kharbanda et al., 2002, Loukogeorgakis et al., 2005, Davies et al., 2013b, Jones et al., 2014), the present study is the first to examine the acute impact of rIPC on CBFv, and both dCA and CVR in humans. The cerebral tests included in the present study were employed to provoke cerebral vasomotion via a number of different regulatory pathways, to better identify any specific effect rIPC may have. In response to 40 mins of upper arm rIPC (4 bouts per arm, alternated), no concurrent impact on CBFv was present. Increases in arterial diameter and blood flow to limbs and organs (heart) regional to the limb undergoing rIPC have been previously reported during the reperfusion phases of rIPC (Zhou et al., 2007, Enko et al., 2011). The findings in the present study that rIPC did not alter CBFv during the bout is an important observation in this context and suggests that rIPC does not influence blood vessel function similarly in the brain. Although it is not known what mechanism/s are responsible for the regional changes in blood flow in the previous studies during rIPC, it cannot be discounted the possibility that rIPC did induce a change in cerebral perfusion, and that this change was counteracted by one of the numerous cerebral blood flow regulatory mechanisms (Willie et al., 2014). However, consistent with the above finding of no change in blood flow, no overall impact on cerebrovascular function was observed. Resting cerebral autoregulation, a regulatory mechanism that maintains a constant delivery of oxygenated blood to the brain despite changes in blood pressure (Aaslid et al., 1989), was unchanged by rIPC. The second aim of this study was to temporarily disturb dCA via hypercapnia to determine whether rIPC could attenuate the impairment. As expected (Birch et al., 1995, Zhang et al., 1998, Panerai et al., 1999, Ainslie et al., 2008a), hypercapnia reduced dCA phase (indicating a delayed CA response time), but did not alter absolute gain, an effect consistent with some (Ainslie et al., 2008a), but not all studies (Zhang et al., 1998, Panerai et al., 1999, Jeong et al., 2016) and interestingly decreased normalised gain, an observation which suggests reduced magnitude of BP on CBF oscillations which has also been observed during hypercapnic spontaneous oscillations (Ainslie et al., 2008a). Hypercapnia is thought to reduce the efficiency of dCA as a result of hypercapnic-induced vasodilation, preventing the ability of the blood vessels to alter their vasotone in response to blood pressure changes (Perry et al., 2014). Investigations that have examined the precise mechanism responsible for hypercapnic impaired dCA are limited. Maggio et al. (2013) outlined that metabolic pathways are likely the primary mechanism attenuating dCA from hypercapnia, as shown with significant reductions in critical closing pressure, yet these results are limited to spontaneous BP oscillations rather than driven.

In contrast to the original hypothesis, rIPC did not attenuate the hypercapnia-induced impairment in phase (temporal alignment). rIPC did not impact CVR to inhalation of 5% CO₂ compared to the sham condition. Currently, there is only one directly relevant study that assessed rIPC and cerebrovascular function via dCA in humans. Work by Guo et al. (2019) identified that dCA, assessed using spontaneous blood pressure oscillations as opposed to driven, is improved 6 hours after a rIPC bout, further supporting the idea that rIPC adaptations occur in different phases (Thijssen et al., 2016a). Additionally, Guo and colleagues identified a number of blood biomarkers (vascular endothelial growth factor and glial cell derived neurotrophic factor) that are elevated following rIPC, potentially offering an mechanistic explanation for these changes (Guo et al., 2019). An additional study using hypoxia rather than hypercapnia as a model to attenuate cerebrovascular function measured cerebral blood flow responses to acute and chronic hypoxia, and found no effect of rIPC compared to controls, findings consistent with the present study (Rieger et al., 2017). Despite this, there is increasing evidence that repeated rIPC is neuroprotective, particularly in clinical stroke and small vessels disease patients (Meng et al., 2012, Meng et al., 2015, Mi et al., 2016, Wang et al., 2017). Meng et al. previously reported that 300 days of repeated rIPC decreased stroke recurrence and interestingly noted that cerebral perfusion was higher in the rIPC group compared to the standard care patients, potentially remedying the mismatch between perfusion and metabolism. This study raises the intriguing notion that repeated bouts of rIPC may be required in order to influence cerebral perfusion and function to a physiologically relevant extent. Additionally, the phenomenon of rIPC-mediated protection is known to be biphasic in nature, with an immediate protective period that subsides within a few hours of application, followed by a more prolonged second protective window (1-3 days) (Koch et al., 2014). Due to the difficulties in assessing the time-course of rIPC effectiveness in humans, the vast majority of these studies have been performed in animals. Although it is unlikely, one possible explanation for the null findings is that the cerebral measures were not performed within the initial protective phase, and that the protective windows in humans may differ to that of animals, and may also be influenced by the type, number and duration of rIPC bouts.

An important aspect to this study was assessing the impact of rIPC across a spectrum of cardiovascular health, to determine if this influenced the efficacy of rIPC. Young healthy individuals typically present with unimpaired endothelial-vascular function and as the magnitude of the rIPC effect on cerebrovascular function, if any, is unknown, it is possible that a rIPC effect would not be observable in this population. Accordingly, assessment of the effects of rIPC in healthy individuals and those at increased cardio- and cerebrovascular risk. As expected, cardiovascular risk metrics were significantly different between the groups, with the young healthy individuals displaying lower mean arterial pressure and higher resting cerebral blood flows compared to the elevated risk individuals. Nonetheless, no differences in the efficacy of rIPC to improve cerebral autoregulation under normo- and hypercapnic conditions between the groups was observed.

3.5 Conclusion

The findings of this study extend the fundamental knowledge on the physiological effects of rIPC in humans by assessing for the first time the acute impact of rIPC on cerebral perfusion, dCA and CVR. Although acute rIPC has been found to increase peripheral blood flow, this study reports that this effect of rIPC does not extend to the

cerebral circulation, as no change was observed in cerebral perfusion during rIPC. Additionally, rIPC did not influence cerebral function, as measured by dCA and CVR. Despite these findings related to a single exposure to rIPC, recent clinical trials show that repeated rIPC provides neuroprotection in humans. Therefore, future studies are required to better understand whether repeated exposure to the rIPC stimulus leads to changes in cerebrovascular function and perfusion as a potential explanation for these clinical benefits. Chapter 4: Seven-day remote ischaemic preconditioning improves endothelial function in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: randomised a pilot study

4.1 Introduction

Cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease are leading causes of mortality in T2DM (Laakso, 2001). Importantly, the pathological consequences of T2DM predominately relate to vascular complications, encompassing both the macro- (e.g. cardio- and cerebrovascular disease) and microvasculature (e.g. retinopathy and nephropathy) (Orasanu and Plutzky, 2009). Clinical studies show that diabetic individuals are more susceptible to ischemia-reperfusion injuries (IRI) compared to non-diabetics (Alegria et al., 2007, Marso et al., 2007), and reduced tolerance to ischaemia has been considered responsible for the increase morbidity of ischaemic heart disease in T2DM (Haffner et al., 1998). Conventionally, the main therapeutic target in T2DM has been glucose lowering but the importance of targeting cardiovascular risk is increasingly recognised (Creager et al., 2003). Intensive glucose lowering treatment has shown limited benefits on all cause morbidity and mortality from cardiovascular causes (Boussageon et al., 2011). Lifestyle changes including improved diet and physical activity are the mainstay of management with regular exercise promoted to improve metabolic health and lower cardiovascular and cerebrovascular risk in T2DM (Chudyk and Petrella, 2011). Since a vast majority of T2DM patients do not engage in regular physical activity (Morrato et al., 2007, Hermann et al., 2014), perhaps because of disease complications (e.g. foot ulcers), alternative or adjunct interventions are required to improve cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease risk, similar to that of exercise, in this highly vulnerable population.

rIPC is a technique whereby short periods of cyclical tissue ischaemia-reperfusion (of a limb) has been shown to have protective effects beyond the vascular bed directly

exposed to the IPC stimulus (Przyklenk et al., 1993), potentially mediated by neural and/or humoral signalling pathways (Heusch et al., 2015, Thijssen et al., 2016a), yet precise mechanisms remain elusive. When applied prior to planned ischaemia (e.g. coronary artery bypass surgery) or around spontaneous ischaemic events (e.g. myocardial infarction), studies have reported the potential beneficial and protective effects of rIPC to render remote (vascular) tissues and organs (e.g. heart) resistant to ischaemic reperfusion injuries (Heusch et al., 2015). More recently, studies have examined the impact of performing multiple rIPC episodes and explored the potential of rIPC as an intervention to improve vascular function (Thijssen et al., 2016a). Repeated rIPC interventions ranging from 1 to 8 weeks have been shown to improve vascular endothelial function before and after ischemia reperfusion injuries (Luca et al., 2013, Jones et al., 2014, Jones et al., 2015), increase the levels of endothelial progenitor cells (Kimura et al., 2007), and increase coronary flow reserve in heart failure patients (Kono et al., 2014). Some studies have also revealed a potential clinical benefit of rIPC with a 6-week intervention reducing the size of diabetic foot ulcers (Shaked et al., 2015) and lower stroke recurrence following one year of rIPC (Meng et al., 2012, Meng et al., 2015). As outlined in chapter 3 of this thesis, a single bout of rIPC applied to a limb did not induce any changes in CBFv, CVR or dCA, and these results were identified in both young healthy individuals and those deemed at high risk of CVD (see *Chapter 3*). This raises the fundamental question of whether the amount of rIPC applied is a major contributor to the effectiveness of the technique or intervention and warrants further investigation. Therefore, whether an acute intensive rIPC intervention leads to improvements in cerebrovascular function assessed measuring dCA, a key mechanism protecting the brain from fluctuations in BP, as well as peripheral endothelial function in T2DM patients is currently unknown, whilst such benefits may have important clinical benefits, especially those with functional limitations.

The primary aim of this pilot study was to obtain estimates of the change in conduit artery endothelial function before and after endothelial IRI, a model that allows for the assessment of the efficacy of an intervention to reduce the damage that is induced by reperfusion following a period of ischaemia, succeeding a 7-day rIPC intervention. Acute intensive rIPC interventions have improved conduit artery endothelial function (Jones et al., 2014) and attenuated the injury induced by an IRI in young healthy individuals (Luca et al., 2013), yet it is not known whether rIPC offers similar benefits to individuals with T2DM whereby endothelial dysfunction is likely present (Avogaro et al., 2011).

The secondary aim was to obtain estimates of the change in cerebrovascular function after 7-days of daily limb rIPC. Given the evidence rIPC has systemic beneficial effects on vascular regulation and endothelial function (Kimura et al., 2007, Jones et al., 2015), improvements to blood vessel function may translate to enhanced responsive to blood pressure within cerebral vessels (dynamic cerebral autoregulation). Additionally, application of rIPC can regulate several vasoactive biomarkers including, nitric oxide, adenosine and bradykinin (Heusch et al., 2015, Randhawa and Jaggi, 2016) which may have the potential to enhance dCA (Takada et al., 2001, Guo et al., 2019).

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Participants

Twenty-one participants (13 males, 8 females, Table 4.1) with clinically diagnosed T2DM who were managed with diet or metformin only were recruited for this randomised controlled pilot study (Figure 4.1). Participants were excluded if they had a history of stroke (including TIAs), diagnosis of chronic heart failure, were current smokers or were being treated with sulphonylureas, DPPIV, GLP-1, SGLT2 or insulin to control T2DM. Participants were informed of the study protocol verbally and in writing before providing written informed consent. The study was approved by the local NHS ethics committee (14/NW/1208) and adhered to the standards set out in the *Declaration of Helsinki (2000)*. All data collection took place at Liverpool John Moores University. Registered clinical trial at ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03598855. Trial is reported following CONSORT recommendations (Schulz et al., 2010).



Figure 4.1: Screening, recruitment and completion of participants in the study.

Table 4.1: Descriptive characteristics of participants in rIPC and control groups (p values reported from independent samples t-test).

	rIPC (<i>n</i> =11, 5	Control (<i>n</i> =10,	P Value
	females)	3 females)	
Age (years)	59±7	60±10	0.72
Weight (kg)	92.7±18.6	101.5±32.5	0.62
BMI (kg/m ²)	32±7	34±10	0.89
MAP (mmHg)	101±14	107±11	0.37
SBP (mmHg)	145±16	151±19	0.57
DBP (mmHg)	79±9	84±10	0.31
Metformin	9/11	4/10	
Anti-hypertensive	4/11	0/10	
medication			
Lipid lowering medication	7/11	3/11	

Values are means \pm SD. Abbreviations; BMI, Body Mass Index; MAP, mean arterial pressure; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure.

4.2.2 Research Design

Participants attended the laboratory on three occasions, separated by seven days, having fasted overnight (12hrs), refraining from alcohol and exercise for 24hrs and caffeine for 12hrs before each visit. Each visit consisted of assessments of brachial artery function (before and after ischemia reperfusion injury) and cerebrovascular function. Assessments were performed at the same time of day for each visit (Ainslie et al., 2007, Jones et al., 2010) and occurred prior to group randomisation (computer-generated-sequence) (Pre), immediately following the cessation of the intervention (Post+8) (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2: Schematic of the study design. Each rIPC consisted of 4 cycles of 5minute ischaemia (220 mmHg) followed by 5 min reperfusion applied unilaterally. At each testing visit brachial artery flow mediated dilation, ischaemic reperfusion injury and cerebrovascular function were assessed. Abbreviations: rIPC, remote ischaemic preconditioning.

4.2.3 Measurements

Brachial artery endothelial function. Brachial artery endothelial function was assessed using the flow mediated dilation (FMD) technique following 20 min of supine rest (Thijssen et al., 2011). Images of the right brachial artery were acquired using highresolution ultrasound (T3300; Terason, Burlington, MA). Diameter, flow and shear stress were measured prior to and following 5 minutes of forearm cuff inflation (D.E. Hokanson, Bellevue, WA). All FMD measurements were performed by the same sonographer with a day-to-day coefficient of variation in FMD% of 11% and a coefficient of variation of 3% for baseline artery diameter which is deemed goodexcellent based on previous analysis (van Mil et al., 2016).

Analysis was performed using custom designed edge-detection and wall-tracking software, which is largely independent of investigator bias. Previous articles contain detailed descriptions of this analytical approach (Woodman et al., 2001, Black et al., 2008). Reproducibility of diameter measurements using this semi-automated software is significantly better than manual methods, significantly reduces observer error, and possesses within-day coefficient of variation of 6.7% (Woodman et al., 2001). Allometric scaling for baseline diameter was performed (Atkinson and Batterham, 2013). FMD analysis was performed by a researcher blinded to the group allocation using a single blinded coding-randomised procedure.

Ischaemia Reperfusion. Immediately following the baseline FMD, a temporary, endothelial IRI was induced by inflating a cuff around the upper arm to 220 mmHg for 20 min using a rapid inflation pneumatic device. This was followed by a 20 min

reperfusion period before the FMD protocol was repeated. A calculation of the relative % reduction in endothelial function following endothelial IRI was performed. The immediate decrease in FMD following temporary endothelial dysfunction induced by the 20 min cuff inflation is believed to reflect a reperfusion injury and reduced nitric oxide (NO) bioavailability (Loukogeorgakis et al., 2005, Loukogeorgakis et al., 2010, Aboo Bakkar et al., 2018). The relative % decrease in FMD following IRI was calculated by dividing the absolute change between the two FMD's by the baseline FMD *100.

Cerebrovascular function (baseline velocity & dynamic cerebral autoregulation).

Measurements of middle cerebral artery velocity (MCAv) and dynamic cerebral autoregulation (dCA) were performed as described in chapter 3, section 3.2.3.

4.2.4 Interventions

rIPC: The participants randomised into the rIPC intervention group (n=11) each received a hand held BP device (Welch Allyn DuraShockTM DS45, New York, USA) to self-administer rIPC. The cuff was placed around the upper arm and inflated to 220 mmHg for five min, followed by five min deflation, and this cycle was repeated a further three times. This process was performed daily for seven days. The arm to which the participants applied the rIPC was randomised between the same arm the FMD's were performed (IPC arm, n=5) and the contra lateral arm (n=6). Participants were supervised for their first rIPC bout to ensure it was correctly performed and were then free to perform the rIPC at any time of day and noted this in a diary to monitor

compliance. Participants were instructed to follow their normal routine and to abstain from any new physical activity or changes in dietary habits

Control: Each participant (n=10) was instructed to follow their normal routine and to abstain from any new physical activity or change in dietary habits.

4.2.5 Statistical analysis

Given that this is a pilot study to obtain estimates of primary and secondary outcome variables, no *a priori* sample size was calculated. The primary outcome in the study is FMD and the primary comparison is between pre to post intervention. Using the data collected (rIPC group n=11, control group n=10) in the study we calculated post hoc power of the present study, but also calculated the sample size for a future, fully powered randomised control trial for both primary and secondary outcome variables (G*Power 3.1.5).

For exploratory purposes, we performed statistical analysis on the primary comparison (i.e. pre-to-post) to provide an estimate of the change in the primary and secondary outcome variables. Delta changes (Δ) from pre to post were calculated for each group and entered as the dependent variable in a linear mixed model (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, Version 20: SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL) with pre-intervention data used as a covariate. Data are presented in the text as mean and 95% confidence intervals (95%CI). P-values are presented, but not interpreted. The changes in the data are described in relation to a minimally clinical important difference (MCID) of 1% for FMD, calculated based upon previous intervention studies (Jones et al., 2015, Schreuder et al., 2015) and from a meta-analysis indicating that 1%

improvement in brachial FMD decreases the risk of future cardiovascular events by 13% (Inaba et al., 2010). The MCID for LF gain was between 0.07 and 0.26%*cm* s⁻¹ %.mmHg⁻¹mm Hg/%. This was based on studies showing differences between healthy and diseased populations (van Beek et al., 2012, Lewis et al., 2019) due to the limited intervention studies to date.

4.3 Results

Participants allocated to each intervention were similar in terms of age, BMI and BP status (Table 4.1). Participants randomised into the rIPC intervention group (N=11) demonstrated 96% compliance to the rIPC intervention. Data presented as absolute change following either intervention with statistical analysis comparing the differences between changes following rIPC or control (no rIPC).

4.3.1 Cerebrovascular function

Low frequency normalised gain changed by 0.23 %*cm* s⁻¹ %.mmHg⁻¹mm Hg/% (-0.12, 0.59; P=0.18) following rIPC compared to control from pre to post, which was greater than the lower level of the MCID of 0.07 and 0.26. The data provided 29% power to detect a between-group difference in LF normalised gain from pre-post. Using this data a sample size of 50 in each group would provide 90% power to detect a statistically significant (P<0.05) between group difference in LF normalised gain in a future randomised control trial.

In the current study, the directional changes in any of the dCA variables were negligible between conditions (Table 4.4). The associated changes in MCAv, $P_{et}CO_2$ or CbVC were negligible between both conditions and over time from pre to post and post 8 (Table 4.3). MAP decreased by 4 mmHg (2, 6 mmHg) across both interventions.

Similarly, SBP decreased by 5 mmHg (-9, -1 mmHg) and DBP by 3 mmHg (-5, -1 mmHg).

4.3.2 Brachial artery endothelial function

Baseline FMD: Brachial artery FMD improved by 1.3% (95%CI: 0.69 to 3.80; P=0.09) with rIPC compared to control (no rIPC) from pre to post, with the change following the rIPC intervention being greater than the MCID of 1%. The data provided 65% power to detect a between-group difference in FMD from pre-post. Using this data, a sample size of 20 in each group would provide 90% power to detect a statistically significant (P<0.05) between groups in FMD in a future randomised control trial.

In the current study, FMD was 0.9 (-3.9, 2.0 %) lower in the rIPC group compared to control at pre, but 0.9 (-2.3, 4.0 %) higher than control at post, which remained higher at post+8 (0.8 (-2.3, 3.9 %), Figure 4.3). The associated changes in baseline diameter, peak diameter, shear rate or time-to-peak diameter between interventions or over time were negligible from pre to post and post 8 (Table 4.2). Within the rIPC condition, the limb to which the rIPC was administered was compared with the contralateral limb (interventions limb vs contralateral limb) and displayed no main effect of limb (P>0.05) confirming that the associated changes observed occurred as a result of both *remote* IPC and *local* IPC.

Endothelial IRI: When examining the FMD after the endothelial IRI (Table 4.2). FMD was 2.3 (-5.4, 0.8%) lower in the rIPC group compared to control at pre, but only 0.1 (-2.8, 2.6%) lower at post and 0.5 (-2.9, 2.0%;) at post+8. FMD increased over the intervention period by 0.7% (-0.1, 1.6). These directional changes were similar when the FMD data was expressed as a relative change. Prior to the intervention, the relative % decrease in FMD in response to IRI was 24.7% (-10.4, 49.7%) greater in the rIPC

group compared to control (Table 4.2). This difference was attenuated to 4.5% (-23.9, 14.9%) at post and 1.4% (-22.5, 19.6%) at post+8.

r	IPC Group (n=1)		Co	ntrol Group (<i>n=1</i>)	9
Pre	Post	Post+8	Pre	Post	Post+8
$4.4{\pm}0.6$	4.3±0.7	$4.3 {\pm} 0.6$	4.5±0.7	$4.6{\pm}0.7$	$4.6 {\pm} 0.7$
5.5±1.7	$7.2{\pm}2.4$	7.2 ± 2.6	$6.8{\pm}2.9$	$7.0{\pm}3.0$	$6.9{\pm}2.5$
70±30	65±24	71±25	68±23	63±22	69±20
$16.9{\pm}12.5$	19.3±12.2	17.1±11.9	18.3 ± 11.4	19.6±15.4	18.2±8.1
$4.5{\pm}0.8$	$4.5 {\pm} 0.8$	$4.5{\pm}0.8$	4.7±0.7	$4.8 {\pm} 0.7$	$4.9{\pm}0.7$
$2.4{\pm}3.7$	$4.5{\pm}3.0$	$4.0{\pm}2.8$	$4.7{\pm}1.9$	$4.6{\pm}2.5$	$4.5{\pm}1.9$
72±23	71±27	74±23	53±24	53±17	64±21
$14.9{\pm}12.9$	14.5 ± 11.6	12.4 ± 8.1	$15.6{\pm}12.0$	15.7±6.5	13.6±6.6
62.2±44.3	38.0±20.4	39.4±25.0	37.6±13.2	42.5±15.4	40.8±12.0
oup and n=9 cor PC_remote ischa	ntrol group. Abbre	viations: FMD, Fl	ow mediated dilati	on; IRI, ischemia-r	eperfusion
	Pre r 4.4 ± 0.6 5.5 ± 1.7 70 ± 30 16.9 ± 12.5 16.9 ± 12.5 2.4 ± 3.7 72 ± 23 72 ± 23 14.9 ± 12.9 14.9 ± 12.9 14.9 ± 12.9 14.9 ± 12.9 000 remote ischarger 700 and $n=9$ contribution of the provement is the pro	rIPC Group ($n=L$)PrePostPostPost4.4 ± 0.6 4.3 ± 0.7 5.5 ± 1.7 7.2 ± 2.4 70 ± 30 65 ± 2.4 16.9 ± 12.5 19.3 ± 12.2 16.9 ± 12.5 19.3 ± 12.2 2.4 ± 3.7 4.5 ± 0.8 2.4 ± 3.7 4.5 ± 3.0 72 ± 2.3 71 ± 27 14.9 ± 12.9 14.5 ± 11.6 14.9 ± 12.9 14.5 ± 11.6 62.2 ± 44.3 38.0 ± 20.4 62.2 ± 44.3 38.0 ± 20.4	rIPC Group $(n=11)$ PrePostPost+84.4 ± 0.6 4.3 ± 0.7 4.3 ± 0.6 5.5 ± 1.7 7.2 ± 2.4 7.2 ± 2.6 70 ± 30 65 ± 24 7.2 ± 2.6 70 ± 30 65 ± 24 7.1 ± 25 16.9 ± 12.5 19.3 ± 12.2 17.1 ± 11.9 4.5 ± 0.8 4.5 ± 0.8 4.5 ± 0.8 2.4 ± 3.7 4.5 ± 3.0 4.0 ± 2.8 72 ± 23 71 ± 27 74 ± 23 14.9 ± 12.9 14.5 ± 11.6 12.4 ± 8.1 14.9 ± 12.9 14.5 ± 11.6 12.4 ± 8.1 62.2 ± 44.3 38.0 ± 20.4 39.4 ± 25.0 62.2 ± 44.3 38.0 ± 20.4 39.4 ± 25.0	rIPC Group $(n=II)$ CoPrePostPost+8Pre4.4±0.64.3±0.74.3±0.64.5±0.75.5±1.77.2±2.47.2±2.66.8±2.970±3065±2471±2568±2.316.9±12.519.3±12.217.1±11.918.3±11.44.5±0.84.5±0.84.5±0.84.7±1.92.4±3.74.5±3.04.0±2.84.7±1.972±2371±2774±2353±2414.9±12.914.5±11.612.4±8.115.6±12.062.2±44.338.0±20.439.4±25.037.6±13.2compone is chaemic preconditioning	rIPC Group $(n=11)$ Control Group $(n=1)$ PrePostPostPost4.4±0.64.3±0.74.3±0.64.5±0.74.6±0.75.5±1.77.2±2.47.2±2.66.8±2.97.0±3.070±3065±2471±2568±2363±2216.9±12.519.3±12.217.1±11.918.3±11.419.6±15.44.5±0.84.5±0.84.7±0.74.8±0.72.4±3.74.5±0.84.7±0.74.8±0.72.4±3.74.5±0.84.7±1.94.8±0.714.9±12.914.5±11.612.4±8.115.6±12.015.7±6.514.9±12.914.5±11.612.4±8.115.6±12.015.7±6.562.2±44.338.0±20.439.4±25.037.6±13.242.5±15.4componentic preconditionine

in both the intervention (rIPC) groups and control. Data in tables shows FMD characteristics in both before and after ischemia-reperfusion injury. Table 4.2: Brachial artery flow mediated dilation before (Pre), immediately following (Post) and 8 days (Post+8) after the end of the intervention

111 July , 1 x F a

		rIPC Group (n=11)	•	0	Control Group (n=16	3
	Pre	Post	Post+8	Pre	Post	Post+8
Resting data						
MAP (mmHg)	101±14	100 ± 10	96±12	107±12	104±12	104±9
MCAv (cm.s ⁻¹)	56.2±8.0	55.5±7.8	55.7±10.9	53.6 ± 11.0	53.2±10.1	53.5±9.8
P _{ET} CO ₂ (<i>mmHg</i>)	$38.4{\pm}6.0$	$38.1{\pm}5.8$	37.7±4.7	$38.8{\pm}6.4$	$41.5{\pm}6.0$	42.2±6.2
CbVC (cm.s ⁻ ¹ .mmHg ⁻¹)	$0.56{\pm}0.10$	$0.55 {\pm} 0.10$	0.58±0.14	0.52±0.12	$0.53{\pm}0.12$	0.52±0.12
SBP (mmHg)	145±16	$144{\pm}13$	139±16	151±19	151±17	$148{\pm}17$
DBP (mmHg)	78±9	77±9	75±10	84±10	81±9	83±10

the intervention. Table 4.3: Baseline hemodynamics from five minute recordings before (Pre), immediately following (Post) and 8 days (Post+8) after the end of

blood pressure; rIPC, remote ischaemic preconditioning. velocity; PetCO₂, partial pressure of end tidal carbon dioxide; CbVC, cerebral vascular conductance; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic Values are means \pm SD; n = 11 rIPC group and n = 10 control group. Abbreviations; MAP, mean arterial pressure;, MCAv, middle cerebral artery

		rIPC Group (n=	10)		Control Group (<i>n</i> -	<u></u>
	Pre	Post	Post+8	Pre	Post	Post+8
P _{ET} CO ₂ (<i>mmHg</i>)						
	40.3±3.7	$39.2{\pm}48$	38.3±3.4	38.8±7.5	38.3±6.6	39.3±5.6
Coherence						
	$0.65 {\pm} 0.10$	$0.60 {\pm} 0.12$	$0.60 {\pm} 0.21$	$0.61 {\pm} 0.17$	$0.59{\pm}0.18$	$0.60 {\pm} 0.22$
Phase (radians)						
	$0.44{\pm}0.12$	$0.48{\pm}0.28$	$0.48{\pm}020$	$0.61 {\pm} 0.32$	$0.52{\pm}0.25$	$0.52{\pm}0.22$
Gain (cm.s ⁻¹ . mmH	Hg⁻¹)					
	$0.66{\pm}0.16$	$0.69 {\pm} 0.20$	$0.72{\pm}0.27$	$0.71 {\pm} 0.18$	$0.69{\pm}0.26$	$0.71 {\pm} 0.24$
Normalised Gain	(%.mmHg ⁻¹)					
	1.12 ± 0.21	$1.23{\pm}0.20$	$1.36{\pm}0.56$	$1.40{\pm}0.27$	1.27 ± 0.50	$1.37 {\pm} 0.32$
Values are means ±	SD; $n = 10$ rIPC	group and $n = 9$ co	ontrol group. Abbrevi	ations; rIPC, remote	ischaemic precondit	ioning; PetCO ₂ , partial

after the end of the intervention using squat-stand manoeuvres (0.10Hz). Table 4.4: Transfer function parameters from dynamic cerebral autoregulation before (Pre), immediately following (Post) and 8 days (Post+8)

pressure of end tidal carbon dioxide **1**



Figure 4.3: Baseline Brachial artery FMD% (A), Post IR FMD% (B) and the relative % decrease (C) before (Pre), immediately after (Post) and eight days following the intervention (Post+8) in the rIPC group (closed circles) and control group (open circles).* Denotes significant main effect from time (P<0.05). Abbreviations; FMD, flow mediated dilation; rIPC, remote ischaemic preconditioning; IR, ischaemia-reperfusion.

4.4 Discussion

The aim of this study was to obtain estimates of changes in peripheral conduit artery endothelial and cerebrovascular function and the response to endothelial IRI to 7-days of daily limb rIPC in T2DM. Expanding on the study presented in chapter 3, this study not only examined the cerebrovascular function response to rIPC but also incorporated the peripheral vascular bed into the research design. This study provides preliminary evidence that 7-days of daily rIPC in a representative sample of patients can enhance peripheral conduit artery endothelial function measured using FMD, and provide protection against a temporary decline in endothelial function following ischaemia reperfusion. Although the observations suggest that rIPC had little impact on cerebrovascular function, the preliminary directional findings and sample size estimations suggest the ability of a rIPC intervention to improve peripheral vasculature in T2DM. These effects should be explored further in a larger, fully powered trial.

This present study provides preliminary evidence that daily rIPC can increase conduit artery endothelial function. This is clinically important given that individuals with T2DM exhibit endothelial dysfunction (Calles-Escandon and Cipolla, 2001, Tabit et al., 2010) and are also at high risk of microvascular disease of the small vessels. Chronic hyperglycaemia limits the ability of the endothelial cells to produce nitric oxide (NO) which has important anti-atherogenic properties, contributing to the maintenance of vascular homeostasis (Sena et al., 2013). This is relevant as vascular dysfunction plays a major role in the development of cardiovascular complications (Luscher et al., 2003). Given that a meta-analysis confirmed that a 1% improvement in brachial FMD decreases the risk of future cardiovascular events by 13% (Inaba et al., 2010), strategies to improve vascular endothelial function are crucial. Numerous clinical outcome studies have demonstrated that brachial artery FMD is a good predictor of cardiovascular risk (Cohn et al., 2004). Improvements in FMD are associated with enhanced NO production (Green et al., 2014a) and NO pathways are impaired with diabetes (Williams et al., 1996, Avogaro et al., 2011). The data suggests that vascular endothelial function can be improved in 7 days and remain elevated 8 days following the end of the intervention. Given that rIPC was administered in the arm that received the preconditioning stimulus as well as in the contralateral arm the data supports the notion that rIPC has local and systemic effects on the vascular system (Jones et al., 2014). As this present study was not designed as a mechanistic study, it is possible to only speculate on potential mechanisms involved in the change in FMD observed. Episodic increases in shear stress is likely to represent a major physiological stimulus for the local improvements in FMD (Thijssen et al., 2016a) however is unlikely to have effected contralateral arm FMD. The mechanisms mediating the systemic effects of rIPC remains elusive. Systemic stimuli or circulating markers activated by rIPC more likely explain the remote improvement in conduit artery FMD. For example, rIPC leads to an increase in vascular endothelial growth factor and endothelial progenitor cells (Kimura et al., 2007), which may improve endothelial function in remote areas (Hill et al., 2003). However, more research studies are required to gain insight into exact mediating mechanisms.

The present study provides evidence that daily rIPC can provide protection against endothelial IRI in T2DM. The endothelial IRI model performed in this study has been used by previous studies (Kharbanda et al., 2001, Luca et al., 2013) and is acknowledged as a surrogate model for myocardial reperfusion injuries. A similar model using forearm IRI identified that the decrease in FMD occurs as a result of a decrease in plasma nitrite and plasma nitrate concentrations, indicating a reduction in NO bioavailability which is still decreased up to 50 min post reperfusion (Aboo Bakkar et al., 2018). The findings in this study agree with previous rIPC studies showing (partial) prevention of endothelial dysfunction after IRI when preceded by a bout of rIPC (Luca et al., 2013). Reduced endothelial dysfunction against IRI is of clinical significance given that patients with T2DM demonstrate more extensive injury in response to ischaemia reperfusion (Russo et al., 2017). Interestingly, a previous sixweek rIPC intervention performed on patients with T2DM with foot ulcers identified an augmentation in the wound size of the foot ulcers in the patients who received the rIPC compared to a control (Shaked et al., 2015), further demonstrating the capability of a rIPC intervention to treat ischaemic induced complications in a diabetic patient group.

This study identified that a 7-day repeated rIPC intervention had little impact on resting MCAv or dCA. Despite the considerable literature on the effects of rIPC on cardiac and peripheral vascular function in humans, there are few studies on cerebrovascular function, even with stroke and cerebrovascular disease being a leading cause of death worldwide (Roger et al., 2012). Post-hoc analysis of power was performed which revealed that more participants would have been required for adequate statistical power; therefore the data should be interpreted with caution. It is likely that control of cerebral autoregulation is multifactorial encompassing neurogenic, metabolic, myogenic and endothelial factors (Tzeng and Ainslie, 2014). The exact contribution of each, including the endothelium is debated. Evidence suggests that the endothelium carries mechanoreceptor properties that allows it to actively contribute to cerebral autoregulation following changes in arterial shear stress

and transmural pressure (Peterson et al., 2011). Therefore, a healthier and more active endothelium may have translated to improved dCA, yet this was not evident in the present study. Given that dCA is controlled by highly sensitive and tight regulatory factors, it is possible that 7 days of rIPC was not a sufficient enough stimulus to result in any change/adaptation. This potential explanation is supported by the fact that the only previous studies examining repeated rIPC on human cerebrovascular markers employed daily rIPC for 300 days (Meng et al., 2012), 180 days (Meng et al., 2015) and 365 days (Wang et al., 2017) identifying increases in cerebral perfusion and reductions in stroke reoccurrence but did not assess functional markers of the cerebral circulation. Whilst there is also a strong association between T2DM and cerebrovascular dysfunction (Zhou et al., 2014), none of the participants in this study had any previous documented cerebrovascular complications unlike the aforementioned studies and were of shorter duration of T2DM.

Given the data was collected for the purposed of generating estimates for a larger trial it is important to acknowledge the small sample and limited statistical power. It is also important to acknowledge a number of other study limitations. Pre-intervention characteristics, primarily MAP, metformin and statin use were different between the intervention and control group and some evidence now suggests that certain medication used to treat risk factors of cardiovascular disease can alter the response to cardio protective interventions (Ferdinandy et al., 2014). Additionally, HbA1c data was not collected to examine clinical relevance to glucose control nor biomarkers of NO bioavailability. Stratification for medication and markers of glucose control and NO bioavailability should be incorporated into a larger fully powered future trial. Lastly, MCAv was measured using transcranial Doppler, a technique that provides a reliable surrogate for absolute cerebral blood flow providing the insonated artery diameter remains constant across and between the study conditions (Ainslie and Hoiland, 2014). A future trial may consider assessment of extra cranial vessels (e.g. internal carotid artery) with ultrasound to assess changes in artery diameter as an indicator of changes in diameter.

4.5 Conclusion

The present study has provided estimates of sample size for a randomised control trial exploring the impact of daily rIPC for 7 days on peripheral endothelial and cerebrovascular function. The directional changes outlined from this pilot study suggest peripheral endothelial function and responses to endothelial IRI can be enhanced by daily rIPC in patients with T2DM and should be investigated in a fully powered randomised control trial. In contrast to peripheral arteries, no changes were evident in the cerebrovasculature as no change was found in MCAv or in dCA. Taken together, our results on the impact of repeated rIPC on cardio- and cerebrovascular function warrants further research.

Chapter 5: The impact of combining aerobic exercise training with repeated rIPC on peripheral and cerebrovascular function in high risk individuals

5.1 Introduction

Repeated rIPC interventions can improve cardiovascular parameters and clinical endpoints in healthy individuals and those with CVD risk factors respectively. For example, repeated rIPC interventions ranging from 1 to 8 weeks have mediated improvements in vascular endothelial function in both healthy (Jones et al., 2014, Jones et al., 2015) and T2DM (see *Chapter 4*), increases in coronary flow reserve in heart failure patients (Kono et al., 2014), increased presence of endothelial progenitor cells (Liang et al., 2015) and reduced diabetic foot ulcer wound size (Shaked et al., 2015). Collectively, suggesting that repeated rIPC interventions could be useful in preventing and reducing cardiovascular events and complications.

There is emerging evidence that repeated rIPC interventions can also have beneficial effects on the cerebrovasculature. A small number of studies have shown repeated rIPC can increase CBF in stroke patients and reduce the rate of stroke reoccurrence (Meng et al., 2012, Meng et al., 2015, Mi et al., 2016, Wang et al., 2017). Nevertheless, Chapter 3 in this thesis attempted to understand how rIPC exerts its effects of the cerebrovasculature, demonstrating that a single bout of rIPC has negligible impact on CBFv or dCA as a marker of cerebrovascular function. Chapter 4 provided some evidence that 7-day daily repeated rIPC intervention in individuals with T2DM did not change cerebrovascular function. A number of important methodological differences are evident between experimental studies contained in this thesis (see *Chapters 3 & 4*) and the previous studies showing benefits on cerebrovascular health (Meng et al., 2012, Meng et al., 2015, Mi et al., 2016, Wang et al., 2017). Key differences relate to participant population, length of rIPC intervention and measurement techniques. The length of the intervention and the number of rIPC bouts

performed over the intervention, which collectively can be termed the dose of rIPC, is an important aspect to consider. It is possible that a larger dose (in both duration and frequency) of rIPC might have a greater effect on cerebrovascular function.

An alternative approach to increase the rIPC stimulus is to combine the repeated rIPC with exercise training. Regular exercise bouts may potentially provide an additional, but not mutually exclusive, preconditioning stimulus for the vascular system thus combining rIPC with exercise may increase the beneficial adaptations observed with rIPC alone. The mechanisms responsible for the beneficial effects of repeated rIPC versus exercise training may differ. Where effects of rIPC may relate to both neural and humoral pathways (Anttila et al., 2016), benefits of exercise (preconditioning) may relate to repeated systemic elevations in shear stress (Hambrecht et al., 2003, Tinken et al., 2010, Thijssen et al., 2016a). It has not yet been investigated whether adding exercise to the rIPC stimulus leads to a larger adaptation in peripheral and/or any adaptation in the cerebral vasculature at all.

Therefore, the primary aim of this study was to examine whether exercise training could enhance the effects of repeated rIPC on cerebrovascular and peripheral conduit artery function more than repeated rIPC alone in individuals with increased risk of CVD. It was hypothesised that (i) exercise training would provide additional stimulus to elicit greater improvements in both cerebo- and peripheral vascular function compared to rIPC alone.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Participants

Nineteen participants with increased risk of cardiovascular disease were recruited (Figure 5.1). Participants were recruited on the criteria of; body mass index (BMI) >30 kg/m² or waist circumference \geq 94cm (male), \geq 80cm (female) as well as either raised blood pressure (>130 /85 mmHg) or diagnosed with hypercholesterolemia (Table 5.1). Individuals were excluded if they had a history of stroke (including TIAs), myocardial infarction, thrombosis, congenital heart disease, type 1 diabetes or currently smoking. Participants were informed of the study protocol verbally and in writing before providing written informed consent. The study was approved by the local ethics committee (approval number 17/SPS/056) and conformed to standards set out by the *Declaration of Helsinki*. Registered clinical trial at ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03624452.



Figure 5.1: Screening, recruitment, retention and completion of the study.

5.2.2 Research Design

Participants underwent two initial visits to the laboratory. Following an overnight fast and refraining from alcohol and exercise for 24hr and caffeine for 12hr, visit 1 consisted of anthropometric measurements, fasting blood glucose, assessment of cerebrovascular function and assessment of brachial artery endothelium function before and after a temporary ischaemia reperfusion injury (IRI). Visit 2 consisted of a cardio-respiratory fitness test (VO_{2peak}). Both visits were conducted within four days of each other and all completed in a temperature-controlled laboratory ($23\pm1^{\circ}$ C). Participants were then randomly allocated into the rIPC + Exercise group (3 x rIPC and 3 x 50min exercise per week) or rIPC group (3 x rIPC per week). Randomisation was performed following the first testing visit using a computer-generated-sequences
to avoid bias. All measurements performed in Visit 1 were repeated following the end of the 8-week intervention. Measurements from Visit 2 were repeated again following the completion of the 8 weeks. All post intervention measurements were performed within 7 days of last exercise or rIPC bout.

5.2.3 Measurements

Cerebrovascular function: Measurement of baseline CBFv, dCA and CVR were completed as per the information in Chapter r3, section 4.2.3.

Brachial artery endothelium-dependent vasodilation: FMD was performed on the left of arm of each participant before and after an IR injury as per the information in Chapter 4, section 4.2.3 and performed by the same sonographer throughout the entire thesis.

Maximal oxygen uptake: The cardio-respiratory fitness test (VO_{2peak}) was performed on a treadmill (H/P Cosmos, Pulsar 4.0, Nussdorf-Traunstein, Germany) in order to quantify peak aerobic capacity. A modified version of the *Bruce et al. (1973) protocol* was adopted as this is frequently used protocol in sedentary/high risk populations (Pugh et al., 2013, Sprung et al., 2013). Following a 5-minute warm-up period at a self-selected speed, the protocol begins with a 2-minute stage at 2.2km/h on a flat gradient, followed by 2 minutes at 2.7km/h at a 5% gradient. Subsequently, stepwise increments in speed and gradient are applied evert minute until volitional exhaustion. Breath-by-breath expired gases were continuously monitored (Oxycon Pro, Jaeger, Hochberg Germany) for oxygen consumption (ml/kg/min) and were averaged over 15 seconds. Peak oxygen uptake was calculated from the highest consecutive 15-second period of expired gas fractions. Heart rate was measured continuously using shortrange telemetry (RS800, Polar, Finland) alongside subjective effort (RPE) using the 6-20 Borg scale. All participants reached the criteria for volitional exhaustion based upon heart rate, Borg scale and respiratory exchange ratio (Edvardsen et al., 2014).

Fasting blood glucose: Blood samples were obtained from the antecubital vein via standard venepuncture technique (Vacutainers Systems, Becton-Dickinson). All samples were collected into vacutainers containing a polymer gel for serum separation. Centrifugation for 10 minutes at 1000g at 4°C was applied and samples were stored at -80°C for subsequent analysis. Plasma glucose was determined spectrophotometrically using commercially available kits (Randox Laboratories, Antrim, UK) with each sample analysed in duplicate.

5.2.4 Interventions

Remote Ischaemic Preconditioning

All participants in both groups performed three bouts of rIPC per week for 8 weeks. A single bout of rIPC consisted of a pressure cuff (Welch Allyn DuraShockTM DS45, New York, USA) inflated around the upper arm (220mmHg) for five minutes preceded by five minutes of reperfusion, repeated four times (total time 40 minutes). The arm in which the rIPC was applied to was randomised and participants were free to perform the rIPC bouts freely and not follow a pre-set routine. All participants were provided with an intervention diary in order to increase compliance.

Exercise intervention

Those randomly assigned to the rIPC+Exercise group performed three 50 minute exercise sessions per week for 8 weeks (98% compliance). All sessions were

performed on a cycle ergometer (Wattbike Trainer, Wattbike Limited, country) in a temperature controlled laboratory ($18\pm2^{\circ}$ C). The intensity of the exercise sessions was set to 70% maximum heart rate (HR_{max}) and all sessions were supervised in order to ensure target HR was achieved and maintained throughout the session.

5.2.5 Statistical analysis

Analysis was performed using Statistical Package for Social Sciences (Version 26; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). Baseline characteristics between conditions (Table 5.1) was analysed using an independent samples t-test. All other data were analysed using a linear mixed model, with delta changes (Δ) from week 0-week 8 calculated and added to the model as a dependent variable and pre-intervention data entered as a covariate. Linear mixed model (LMM) *P* values in results represent difference in the absolute change following each intervention. Statistical significance was delimited at *P* < 0.05 and exact *P* values are cited (*P* values of '0.000' provided by the statistics package are reported as <0.001). Significant interactions and main effects were followed up using LSD pairwise comparisons. Data are presented as mean and 95% confidence intervals.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Resting hemodynamic

The directional changes in MAP (P=0.45), MCAv (P=0.30) and PCAv (P=0.56) were negligible between conditions (Table 5.2).

Baseline	rIPC +	rIPC only	P value
characteristics	Exercise	(2 females & 7	
	(4 females &	males)	
	6 males)		
Age (years)	52 ± 8	51 ± 12	0.87
Height (<i>m</i>)	1.7 ± 0.1	1.7 ± 0.1	0.26
Weight (kg)	97.8 ± 21.5	108.2 ± 21.7	0.31
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	34 ± 5	35 ± 5	0.56
Waist circumference (<i>cm</i>)	107 ± 17	109 ± 13	0.75
Resting heart rate (<i>bpm</i>)	69 ± 8	69 ± 6	0.96
Systolic blood pressure (<i>mmHg</i>)	137 ± 15	139 ± 12	0.75
Diastolic blood pressure (<i>mmHg</i>)	80 ± 13	84 ± 6	0.42
Mean arterial blood pressure (<i>mmHg</i>)	99 ± 12	102 ± 5	0.50
Fasting blood glucose (<i>mmol/L</i>)	5.9 ± 0.7	6.0 ± 0.7	0.70
Medications			
Statins	3 (30%)	3 (33%)	
β-blockers	1 (10%)	1 (11%)	
Calcium channel blockers	1 (10%)	0 (0%)	
alpha-1 adrenergic blockers	1 (10%)	0 (0%)	
Angiotensin- converting-enzyme	3 (30%)	2(22%)	
inhibitors			
Biguanides	2 (20%)	2 (22%)	

 Table 5.1: Baseline characterises and medications of both groups.

Data presented as mean±SD or as a percentage (medications).

	rIPC + 1	Exercise	rIPC	only	LMM
	Week 0	Week 8	Week 0	Week 8	Condition
MCAv (cm.s ⁻ ¹)	56±10	57±9	54±14	53±12	0.30
PCAv (cm.s ⁻ ¹)	37±3	36±4	36±3	36±2	0.83
P _{et} CO ₂ (mmHg)	38.5±3.1	38.0±3.7	41.6±2.7	39.6±3.5	0.35
MAP (mmHg)	99±13	95±11	102±7	99±5	0.45
Resting HR (bpm)	69±9	68±11	69±6	70±8	0.61
VO _{2peak} (ml/kg/min)	22.9±5.4	25.7±6.2	23.5±2.9	23.6±2.8	0.69
Fasting blood glucose (mmol/L)	5.9±0.7	5.9±0.7	6.4±1.6	6.5±1.4	0.27
Average cycling workload (watts)	77±27	89±25	n/a	n/a	<0.001

Table 5.2: Baseline hemodynamic, cardiorespiratory fitness and fasting blood glucose data from before (week 0) and after (week 8) each intervention.

Data presented as means \pm SD. Abbreviations; MCAv, middle cerebral artery velocity; PCAv, posterior cerebral artery velocity; P_{et}CO₂, partial pressure of end tidal carbon dioxide; MAP, mean arterial pressure; HR, heart rate; rIPC, remote ischaemic preconditioning; LMM, linear mixed model.

5.3.2 Cerebrovascular function

Parameters of spontaneous (Table 5.3) and dynamic (Table 5.4) cerebral autoregulation changed similarly with both interventions (P>0.05). Parameters of cerebral reactivity including CVR_{CO2} , $CbVCi_{Co2}$ or MAP reactivity_{Co2} changed similarly with both interventions (P>0.05) (Table 5.5).

	rIPC +	Exercise	rIP	C only	LMM
	Week 0	Week 8	Week 0	Week 8	
Power Spectrun	n				
Baseline MCAv	power (cm/s	²)			
VLF	2.69±1.17	2.86±1.53	2.41±2.15	2.87±1.37	0.13
LF	$1.69{\pm}0.96$	1.81 ± 1.30	1.58±0.122	2.61±.1.86	0.84
HF	0.47 ± 0.24	$0.52{\pm}0.28$	0.81±0.27	0.97±0.21	0.19
Baseline BP po	wer (mmHg ²))			
VLF	4.23 ± 1.47	3.43±1.95	4.52±2.72	4.96±3.62	0.21
LF	2.26±1.43	$2.28{\pm}2.00$	2.05±1.17	1.77±0.86	0.32
HF	0.44±0.13	0.40 ± 0.22	0.44±0.31	0.43±0.23	0.69
Transfer Funct	ion				
Spontaneous Os	scillations				
VLF gain	0.68±0.23	0.73±0.32	0.51±0.08	0.51±0.06	0.72
(cm [.] s [.] mmHg)					
VLF Ngain	1.15 ± 0.22	1.34 ± 0.62	0.98 ± 0.25	1.35 ± 0.75	0.69
(%.mmHg ⁻¹)					
VLF phase	0.77±0.32	$0.87{\pm}0.41$	1.03 ± 0.48	1.08 ± 0.69	0.98
(radians)					
VLF	$0.54{\pm}0.14$	0.51 ± 0.01	0.52 ± 0.23	$0.50{\pm}0.20$	0.14
coherence					
LF gain	0.74 ± 0.29	0.75 ± 0.29	0.75±0.25	0.88±0.34	0.16
LF Ngain	1.26 ± 0.41	1.40 ± 0.41	1.35±0.45	1.43 ± 0.59	0.54
LF phase	0.52 ± 0.38	0.65 ± 0.31	0.89 ± 0.49	0.74 ± 0.41	0.31
LF coherence	0.56 ± 0.09	0.55 ± 0.12	0.50 ± 0.11	0.51±0.21	0.31
HF gain	1.00 ± 0.43	0.99 ± 0.50	0.97±0.53	1.00 ± 0.31	0.20
HF Ngain	1.77 ± 0.42	1.81 ± 0.70	1.47 ± 0.32	1.84 ± 0.45	0.43
HF phase	0.14±0.66	0.09 ± 0.51	0.33±0.21	0.18 ± 0.08	0.30
HF coherence	0.61 ± 0.08	0.63 ± 0.08	0.63 ± 0.06	0.63 ± 0.07	0.75

Table 5.3: Power spectral and transfer function analysis of dynamic cerebralautoregulation during spontaneous changes in BP and CBFv.

Data presented as means \pm SD. Abbreviations; PS, power spectrum; VLF, very low frequency; LF, low frequency; HF, high frequency; MCAv, middle artery cerebral velocity; BP, blood pressure; Ngain, normalised gain; LMM, linear mixed model.

	rIPC +	rIPC + Exercise		C only	LMM
-	Week	Week	Week	Week	Condition
	0	8	0	8	
Power Spectr	um				
BP power (mmHg ²)	111±80	113±87	116±108	111±99	0.91
MCAv	43.1±36	40.3±33	45.6±29	41.5±32	0.98
power _(cm/sec ²)					
Transfer Fu	nction				
Gain	0.66±0.1	0.68±0.13	0.62±0.24	0.63±0.20	0.85
(cm [.] s [.] mmH	5				
_g)					
Ngain	1.18 ± 0.3	1.34 ± 0.23	1.25 ± 0.29	1.23 ± 0.17	0.40
(%.mmHg ⁻)	0				
Phase	0.40 ± 0.1	0.42 ± 0.19	0.49±0.17	0.46 ± 0.18	0.52
(radians)	4				
Coherence	$0.72{\pm}0.0$ 7	0.72 ± 0.08	0.72±0.04	0.71±0.08	0.91

Table 5.4: Power spectrum densities of forced oscillations in mean arterial pressure and cerebral blood flow velocity during squat-stand manoeuvres.

Data presented as means ± SD. Abbreviations; rIPC, remote ischaemic preconditioning;; BP, blood pressure; MCAv, middle cerebral artery velocity; Ngain, normalised gain; LMM, linear mixed model.

	rIPC +	Exercise	rIPC	C only	LMM
	Week 0	Week 8	Week 0	Week 8	Condition
MCAv reactivity (cm.s/mmHg)	1.85±0. 90	1.90±0. 59	1.65±0. 70	1.58±0. 69	0.41
CbVCi reactivity (cm.s/mmHg ²)	0.018±0 .011	0.013±0 .005	0.009±0 .006	0.017±0 .011	0.26
MAP reactivity (mmHg/mmHg)	0.5±0.4	0.9±0.6	1.1±0.7	1.5±0.7	0.37

Table 5.5: Cerebrovascular reactivity to 5% carbon dioxide

Data presented as means ± SD. Abbreviations; MCAv, middle cerebral artery velocity; CvVCi, cerebrovascular conductance index; MAP reactivity, mean arterial pressure; rIPC, remote ischaemic preconditioning; LMM, linear mixed model.

5.3.3 Brachial artery endothelium-dependent vasodilation

Brachial artery FMD% increased by 1.6% (95%CI;0.4, 2.8) in the rIPC+Ex intervention and by 0.3% (-1.1, 1.5) in rIPC only intervention but there was no main effect of condition (P=0.65, Figure 5.2). No intervention-mediated differences were evident in baseline diameter, peak diameter, SRAUC or time to peak (P>0.05, Table 5.6).

The directional changes in brachial artery FMD following an IR injury after both interventions were similar (P=0.50). FMD reduced by of 0.5% (-2.2, 1.3) following rIPC + Ex and by 0.2% (-1.7, 1.6) following the rIPC only. No intervention-mediated differences were evident in baseline diamter, peak diameter, SRAUC or time to peak (P>0.05, Table 5.6).

5.3.4 Cardiorespiratory fitness

 VO_{2peak} increased by 2.8 ml/kg/min (1.7, 3.9) following the rIPC + Ex intervention and increased by 0.1 ml/kg/min (-1.0, 1.4) following the rIPC only intervention there was no main effect of condition (P=0.69).

5.3.5 Blood glucose

There was no main effect of condition between rIPC + Ex and rIPC only in changes in fasting blood glucose (P=0.27).



(IR) injury flow mediated dilation (right panel). Figure 5.2: Individual data points with means±SD for baseline flow mediated dilation (FMD, left panel) and post ischaemic reperfusion

	rIPC +	Exercise	rIPO	C only	LMM
	Week 0	Week 8	Week 0	Week 8	Condition
Baseline					
Resting diameter (<i>mm</i>)	4.0±0.9	4.1±1.0	4.2±0.7	4.1±0.8	0.40
FMD%	6.5±3.2	8.1±3.2	6.1±1.2	6.4±1.6	0.65
Scaled FMD%	6.5±2.6	7.9±1.3	6.1±2.4	6.3±2.3	0.35
Time to peak (sec)	77±32	67±29	72±24	63±26	0.83
Shear AUC (10 ³)	28.2±15. 0	23.3±14. 8	22.2±14 .9	22.0±14.2	0.64
Post Ischemia Reperf	usion Inju	ry			
Resting diameter (<i>mm</i>)	4.4±1.0	4.4±1.0	4.3±0.7	4.6±0.9	0.95
FMD%	1.9±3.3	1.4±4.1	1.0±2.5	0.8±1.2	0.50
Scaled FMD%	1.9±2.9	1.3±3.7	1.0±3.0	1.0±3.0	0.56
Time to peak (sec)	79±35	73±32	63±39	62±33	0.87
Shear AUC $(1\theta^3)$	21.2±7.1	19.0±5.7	13.8±10 .4	12.1±7.1	0.24

 Table 5.6: Brachial artery characteristics before and after an ischemia reperfusion injury

Data presented as means \pm SD. Abbreviations; FMD, flow mediated dilation; AUC, area under the curve: LMM, linear mixed model

5.4 Discussion

The present study aimed to examine whether combining aerobic exercise training with rIPC resulted in greater improvements in the cerebral and peripheral vasculature compared to repeated rIPC alone in individuals with increased risk of CVD. The results of this study suggest that increasing the preconditioning stimulus by combining rIPC intervention with exercise training does not mediate greater changes in the cerebral or peripheral vasculature when compared directly to rIPC alone.

Despite increasing the dose of rIPC (compared to previous 7-day rIPC study, see *Chapter 4*) and increasing the rIPC stimulus (by adding exercise training) negligible changes were observed in markers of cerebrovascular function, including CBFv following both interventions. Studies that examined repeated rIPC and found increases in CBF and CBFv typically adopted longer interventions and in patient groups with overt cerebrovascular disease (Meng et al., 2012, Meng et al., 2015, Mi et al., 2016, Wang et al., 2017). Nevertheless, the aforementioned studies had not examined cerebrovascular function to understand how the positive changes in CBF and risk of stroke occurrence. The markers of cerebrovascular function dCA and CVR are recognised as independent predictors of ischaemic stroke (Markus and Cullinane, 2001) and provide in-depth information about mechanoreceptor and chemoreceptor, control respectively (Rubanyi et al., 1990, Hoiland et al., 2019). Given the impact of repeated rIPC in stroke patients, it was hypothesised that the repeated rIPC intervention in the present study would mediate positive effects on the cerebral vasculature. Moreover, it was expected the addition of exercise would mediate a greater response, given that some previous exercise training studies have shown improvement in CVR and CBFv with exercise training interventions in a number of ages and disease groups (Zhu et al., 2011, Akazawa et al., 2012, Murrell et al., 2013). Whilst it cannot be discounted that a longer intervention may have mediated positive changes, or that rIPC and exercise might have had an impact on cerebrovascular function in individuals with overt disease, the data in the present study suggest that repeated rIPC intervention has negligible impact on cerebrovascular function. Within this present study, further investigations into dCA were performed through assessing cerebral autoregulation during both spontaneous and driven BP oscillations, whereas the studies presented in chapter 3 and 4 focus primarily on driven BP oscillations. By extending the scope of the investigation into multiple different methods of assessing dCA, this allows us to identify if similar response are observed in both spontaneous and driven oscillations. Indeed, it is currently debated as to which is the 'best' method of dCA assessment using TCD and TFA (Simpson and Claassen, 2018, Tzeng and Panerai, 2018). In this present study, and in a number of recent studies (Labrecque et al., 2017, Labrecque et al., 2019a), a multifactorial approach to the assessment of dCA was utilised in order to account for potential mechanistic differences in cerebral autoregulation from spontaneous or driven BP oscillations.

The data from this study also shows that combining exercise training with rIPC mediates a 1.6% increase in FMD. Given that a 1% increase in FMD is indicative of a 8-13% reduced risk of cardiovascular events (Thijssen et al., 2019b), the increase observed following the rIPC combined with exercise in the current study is of clinical importance. Intriguingly, a 0.3% increase in FMD was observed in the rIPC only group. This is somewhat smaller than a previous study employing the same repeated rIPC intervention in young healthy individuals (Jones et al., 2015). The differences in responses to the repeated rIPC intervention between the two studies may be explained

by differences in participant groups. Indeed, there is evidence to suggest differences in the time course of changes in FMD are apparent depending on health status following exercise interventions (Schreuder et al., 2015). Similarly, an acute bout of rIPC has attenuated efficacy in older and diseased individuals in response to FMD following an endothelial reperfusion injury (van den Munckhof et al., 2013, Seeger et al., 2016). Collectively, the data presented in this study suggests that either; (i) rIPC, with or without exercise is unable to evoke improvements in cerebral vascular function or, (ii) individuals at risk of CVD may require large 'doses' of rIPC and exercise in order to mediate improvements compared to a healthier population. Additionally, the 0.3% increase in FMD% following the rIPC only intervention is also surprising given the data presented in chapter 4 showed a 1.3% increase in FMD% following 7 days of daily rIPC. Collectively, this evidence suggests that the intensity and frequency in which the rIPC is applied may alter the effectiveness of the outcome measurements, rather than it being attributed to the 'dose' of the rIPC. Such differences in results outlines the importance of future studies identifying an optimal 'dose' of rIPC in order to maximise adaptations as to date, no such study has been published.

Interestingly, no protective effect from either intervention on post IR injury FMD was observed. Numerous studies have acknowledged that rIPC provides protection against the IR injury model adopted in the current study by means of attenuated differences between pre and post IR injury FMD's (Luca et al., 2013, van den Munckhof et al., 2013) (see *Chapter 4*). This inconsistent finding may be attributed to rIPC intervention intensity, given that those aforementioned studies applied either acute (one bout) or daily rIPC in the lead up to the IR injury, building a more substantial preconditioning effect. Additionally, and again some-what surprising was the inability of the exercise

to elicit any protection, especially given the suggestion that exercise does pose a preconditioning-like effect (Thijssen et al., 2018). Both lifelong exercise (Maessen et al., 2017) and short-term exercise interventions (Thijssen et al., 2019a) have resulted in increased tolerance to endothelial IR injury. Given a clinically important change in fitness was observed in the rIPC combined with exercise intervention, it might be more plausible that exercise type may represent an explanation for differences in post IR injury results. However, Thijssen et al found that the protective effects were present and not different following moderate and high intensity exercise (Thijssen et al., 2019a). Assessing further vascular parameters may provide additional information in understanding the effects of an IR injury, with some studies measuring low flow mediated constriction in order to explore a different mechanistic view (Rakobowchuk et al., 2013, Carter et al., 2014b). Alternatively, methodological differences may explain differences in post IR injury FMD results, with the present study adopting a 15 minute- ischemia-15 minute-reperfusion model whereas Thijssen et al. (2019a) used 5 minutes of ischaemic handgrip exercise followed by 15 minutes reperfusion. Further research is warranted to understand the potential preconditioning effect of exercise across a wide population.

5.5 Conclusion

In conclusion, combining 8 weeks of rIPC with exercise does not result in greater changes in cerebrovascular function and peripheral endothelial function compared to a rIPC only intervention in individuals at increased risk of CVD. Therefore, based on this data, careful consideration and further investigation is recommended exloring whether rIPC offers a beneficial short-term intervention for improvement of systemic vascular health in at risk individuals.

Chapter 6: Dynamic cerebral autoregulation assessed using squat stand manoeuvres and transfer function analysis is not influenced by age, sex, cardiovascular disease risk factors or fitness

6.1 Introduction

Cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide (Townsend et al., 2016). The age related decline is CBF is well established (Ainslie et al., 2008b, Tarumi and Zhang, 2018), but the age related changes in cerebrovascular function and haemodynamic responses contributing to CBF regulation are not well described. The delivery of oxygenated blood to the brain over a wide range of systemic BP levels by neurogenic, myogenic and endothelial factors is essential in order to maintain normal brain functioning (Tzeng and Ainslie, 2014). dCA refers to the intrinsic ability of the brain to maintain adequate CBF in the presence of transient changes in arterial BP that occur over a number of seconds (Aaslid et al., 1989). dCA acts as a defensive mechanism protecting the brain from potential damage as a result of high or low BP (van Beek et al., 2008). At the same time, BP is controlled neurally by the baroreflex (Monahan, 2007). Both of these regulatory systems are essential in maintaining stable CBF. Impairment in either of these regulatory mechanisms are early markers of cerebrovascular dysfunction and thus associated with increased the risk of cognitive impairment, dementia and stroke (Jordan and Powers, 2012, Laosiripisan et al., 2015).

Over the past few years, it has been established in the literature that currently, the best way to assess dCA is to employ forced BP oscillations by performing repeated squatstand manoeuvres (Claassen *et al.*, 2009b; Smirl *et al.*, 2015; Simpson & Claassen, 2018) and analyse the data using transfer function analysis (TFA) thus adhering to international recommended guidelines (Claassen et al., 2016). Following the guidelines studies found that, despite the age-related decline in CBF and increase in BP (Ainslie et al., 2008b), there is little evidence of impairment in dCA between young and old (mean age 23 *vs* 66 years) healthy individuals (Smirl et al., 2015) or within clinical populations (e.g. Alzheimer's) (Claassen et al., 2009a, Smirl et al., 2014a, Lewis et al., 2019) *Chapter 3*). There is some evidence of sex differences for efficiency of dCA but the directions of effect conflict (Xing et al., 2017, Favre and Serrador, 2019, Labrecque et al., 2019a).

In the largest such study to date, Xing et al. (2017) conducted a study (n=136) in healthy individuals aged 21 to 80 years to characterise the age and sex alterations in dCA. They reported dCA was not different across the lifespan but suggested women had a better dCA phase compared to men using 0.05Hz squat stand manoeuvres. Nevertheless, subsequent studies have suggested that cardiorespiratory fitness is an important factor when assessing sex differences in dCA (Labrecque et al., 2017, Labrecque et al., 2019a, Labrecque et al., 2019b). Moreover, Xing et al. (2017) also explored age and sex differences in cardiac baroreflex sensitivity (BRS) (quantified using BP and R-R intervals throughout the same squat-stand protocol). BRS was reduced in the older group but no sex differences were observed. BRS was positively correlated with dCA in young but not middle aged or older healthy participants. However, the fundamental relationship between dCA and cardiac BRS is unclear as other evidence suggests an inverse relationship in young healthy individuals participants (Tzeng et al., 2010), and no relationship in older endurance trained athletes (Aengevaeren et al., 2013) or in heart transplant recipients (Smirl et al., 2014a). The aim of the current study was 2 fold in order to build upon previous work (Xing et al., 2017); (i) to examine the impact of sex, cardiorespiratory fitness and the presence of CVD risk factors on dCA and cardiac BRS over the life span; and (ii) to explore the relationships between cardiac BRS and dCA whilst controlling for age and sex. By expanding upon the work by Xing et al., (2017) by incorporating individuals with

CVD risk factors and quantifying cardio-respiratory fitness, this will allow us to present findings from a demographically varied population.

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Participants

Data from eleven studies collected at Liverpool John Moores University, Research Institute for Sport and Exercise Science were examined for eligibility. Data were included if: (i) all measurements were performed with strict adherence to cerebral autoregulation network (CARNET) guidelines (Claassen et al., 2016), (ii), data for individual participants was provided (minimum; age, sex, BMI and resting BP), (iii) data was collected in studies that adhered to the Declaration of Helsinki. Of the data included, 146 participants are from four previously published studies (Carter et al., 2018, Maxwell et al., 2019, Brislane et al., 2020, Carter et al., 2020)

dCA and cardiac BRS recordings were complied with corresponding participant characteristics and medical history (where available) from eleven studies. When studies adopted a repeated measurements design, only baseline data were included. Participant data was excluded if the duration of recordings was < 5 minutes, and if the coherence value was < 0.4. Based on these criteria, 206 participants were with 83 males and 123 females aged between 18-70 years. All participants were non-smokers, with no previous myocardial infarction, stroke or thrombosis. Individuals clinically diagnosed with T2DM were treated with Metformin (n=18) or diet (n=8) at the time of data collection. Additional medications taken by participants included anti-hypertensive (n=15) and lipid lowering (n=16) medication. Participants that had a

body mass index (BMI) >30kg/m², diagnosed with hypercholesterolemia or type 2 diabetes, as well treated or untreated \geq stage 1 hypertension were stratified to a CVD risk group. In total 45 of the individuals who were included with this study met the criteria for increased risk of CVD. Out of the 123 females included within the study 58 were post-menopausal. Post-menopausal women were classified based on having no menstrual cycle for at least 12 consecutive months and were not previously or currently taking any form of hormone therapy (Moreau et al., 2012).

6.2.2 Measurements

dCA: MCAv was measured using TCD, continuous blood pressure was monitored using Finapres and P_{et}CO₂ was recorded using a calibrated gas analyser throughout 0.10 Hz squat stand manoeuvres to quantify dCA, as described in detail in Chapter 3.

Baroreflex Sensitivity: Using the same 5-minute recording window during the 0.10 Hz squats-stand manoeuvres, continuous cardiac BRS was assessed. The cardiac BRS was determined by applying TFA to systolic BP (SBP) and R-R interval (pressure-cardiac interval) at the point frequency (low frequency) of the squat-stand manoeuvres (0.10 Hz). Data analysis was performed using a commercially available software Ensemble (Version 1.0.0.28, Elucimed, Wellington, New Zealand). Mean gain (magnitude of relationship between SBP and R-R intervals changes), phase (temporal displacement of R-R intervals and SBP) and coherence (linear correlation between changes in R-R interval and SBP changes) along with spectral power of systolic BP and R-R interval were calculated in the low frequency range (0.10 Hz).

6.3 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS version 26 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). Firstly, participants were divided into three age categories: young (18 – 35 years, n= 93), middle age (36 – 55 years, n=62) and old age (56 - 70 years, n=51). Between age-category differences in baseline characteristics and power spectrum densities during squat stand manoeuvres were explored using one-way ANOVA. To examine the influence of age, sex, CVD risk and VO_{2max} linear regression was employed. Cross sectional associations between age and measures of dCA and cardiac BRS were examined using linear regression adjusting for sex (Model 1). Multivariable linear regression was used to further adjust for health status (model 2) as well as VO_{2max} (model 3).

Relationship between cardiac BRS and dCA: The linear relationship between cardiac BRS and dCA was determined using R^2 . For the models, each parameter of cardiac BRS was independently used as a predictor variable and each parameter of dCA an outcome variable with adjustments for age and sex. Multicollinearity was investigated using variance inflation factor. Statistical significance was set a P<0.05.

6.4 Results

Participant characteristics: There was an increase in SBP, DBP and BMI (P <0.001) and decrease in MCAv and VO_{2max} (P <0.001) with age (Table 6.1), with a trend towards an inverted-U relationship between $P_{ET}CO_2$ and age (P=0.08)

Characteristics		Age categories		ANOVA
-	18-35 yrs (young) N=93	36-55 yrs (middle age) N=62	56-70 yrs (old age) N=51	<i>P</i> Value
Age (years)	26±5	47±6	61±4	
Male/Female	45/48	18/44	20/31	
SBP (mmHg)	115±11	120±15	138±18	<0.001
DBP (mmHg)	67±11	73±10	78±10	<0.001
VO _{2max} (ml.kg.min)	42.2±10.8	28.6±7.4	23.7±5.2	<0.001
BMI (kg/m^2)	24±3	27±6	29±5	<0.001
MCAv (cm.s)	67±13	64±13	56±13	<0.001
$P_{ET}CO_2(mmHg)$	36.8±4.3	37.9±4.8	35.9±4.9	0.08

 Table 6.1: Participant characteristics when divided into age categories

Data presented as mean±SD. Abbreviations; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; BMI, body mass index; MCAv, middle cerebral artery velocity; PETCO₂, partial pressure of end tidal carbon dioxide; ANOVA, analysis of variance

dCA: Age, sex, CVD risk factors and VO_{2max} do not impact on the dCA parameters normalised gain, phase or coherence with minimal change (β) compared to the young aged reference group (18-35 yrs) in all statistical models (P>0.05, Table 6.2). There was a significant reduction in dCA gain with age, which was apparent when adjusted for sex and CVD risk factors (young – middle age; $\beta = -0.09$, P = 0.02 and young - old age; $\beta = -0.18$, P < 0.001, model 2) but not when adjusted for VO_{2max} (model 3).

BRS: Cardiac BRS gain was attenuated with age when adjusted for sex and CVD risk factors (young – middle age; $\beta = -2.18$, P < 0.001 and young – old age; $\beta = -2.86 P < 0.001$, model 2) along with cardiac BRS phase (young – middle age; $\beta = -0.31$, P < 0.001 and young – old age; $\beta = -0.44 P < 0.001$, model 2) but not adjusted for VO_{2max} (model 3).

Power spectral analysis: When divided into age categories, dCA BP power, MCAv power and cardiac BRS R-R interval power all decreased with age (P<0.001) with no difference in SBP power (P=0.55, Table 6.3).

Relationship between cardiac BRS and dCA: There was no correlation between dCA normalised gain and dCA phase with either parameter of cardiac BRS (P >0.05; Figure 6.1), but dCA gain shows a significant inverse relationship. dCA gain was correlated with cardiac BRS gain ($R^2 = 0.19$, P <0.001) and with cardiac BRS phase ($R^2 = 0.18$, P <0.001). However, the total variance explained in these significant outcomes is small, meaning that other factors are likely to be important, whether independent or as interacting variables.

	Mean±SD	Model 1		Model 2		Model 3	
		β (95% CI)	P value	β (95% CI)	P Value	β (95% CI)	P Value
dCA Normalised	Gain (%.mmHg ⁻¹						
18-35 yrs	$1.34{\pm}0.28$	reference		reference		reference	
36-55 yrs	$1.31{\pm}0.30$	-0.04 (-0.14,0.06)	0.42	-0.03 (-0.14,0.07)	0.55	0.00 (-0.18,0.18)	0.96
56-70 yrs	$1.29{\pm}0.34$	-0.06 (-0.16,0.05)	0.29	-0.04 (-0.16 , 0.08)	0.55	0.01 (-0.20,0.21)	0.96
dCA Gain (cm.s-	$mmHg^{-1}$						
18-35 yrs	$0.89 {\pm} 0.23$	reference		reference			
36-55 yrs	$0.82{\pm}0.22$	-0.09(-0.16, -0.02)	0.01	-0.09 (-0.16,-0.01)	0.02	-0.05 (-0.17,0.08)	0.45
56-70 yrs	$0.70{\pm}0.18$	-0.20 (-0.28,-0.13)	< 0.001	-0.18 (-0.27,-0.10)	< 0.001	-0.22 (-0.36,-0.08)	0.002
dCA Phase (radio	uns)						
18-35 yrs	$0.39{\pm}0.28$	reference		reference		reference	
36-55 yrs	$0.35 {\pm} 0.32$	-0.007 ($-0.10, 0.08$)	0.88	-0.001 ($-0.09, 0.09$)	0.98	-0.004 ($-0.18, 0.17$)	0.96
56-70 yrs	$0.39{\pm}0.24$	0.01 (- $0.08, 0.11$)	0.78	0.02 (- $0.09, 0.14$)	0.67	0.10 (-0.09,0.29)	0.29
dCA Coherence							
18-35 yrs	$0.67{\pm}0.1$	reference		reference		reference	
36-55 yrs	$0.65{\pm}0.1$	-0.02 (-0.05,0.02)	0.34	-0.02 ($-0.06, 0.01$)	0.20	-0.02 ($-0.07, 0.04$)	0.55
56-70 yrs	$0.70{\pm}0.1$	0.03 (-0.01, 0.06)	0.18	0.01 (-0.03,0.05)	0.59	0.02 (-0.05,0.08)	0.58
BRS Gain (ms/m.	mHg)						
18-35 yrs	$5.99{\pm}2.96$	reference		reference		reference	
36-55 yrs	$3.57 {\pm} 2.27$	-2.18 (-3.00,-1.36)	< 0.001	-1.85 (-2.70,-0.99)	< 0.001	-0.54 (-1.67,0.58)	0.34
56-70 yrs	$3.01{\pm}2.06$	-2.86 (-3.72,-1.99)	< 0.001	-2.21 (-3.20,-1.22)	< 0.001	-0.60 (-1.87,0.67)	0.35
BRS Phase (radic	uns)						
18-35 yrs	-0.78 ± 0.42	reference		reference		ref reference	
36-55 yrs	-1.11 ± 0.56	-0.31 (-0.48 , -0.14)	< 0.001	-0.31 (-0.49,-0.13)	0.001	-0.20 ($-0.50, 0.09$)	0.18
56-70 yrs	-1.22 ± 0.61	-0.44 (-0.60,-0.25)	< 0.001	-0.43 (-0.63,-0.22)	< 0.001	-0.28 (-0.61,0.06)	0.10
BRS Coherence							
18-35 yrs	$0.70{\pm}0.13$	reference		reference		reference	
36-55 yrs	$0.64{\pm}0.11$	-0.06 (-0.09,-0.02)	0.004	-0.06 (-0.10,-0.02)	0.003	-0.05 (-0.11,0.14)	0.13
56-70 yrs	$0.67{\pm}0.11$	-0.03 (-0.07,0.01)	0.13	-0.04 (-0.09,-0.01)	0.11	0.02 (-0.05,0.09)	0.60
The regression of	oefficient β rep	resents the change in the	e parameter fro	m either young (15-35	yrs)-middle ((36-55 yrs) aged or fro	om young-o
70 vrel ared wh	en accounting fi	nr model covariates. Mo	vdel 1• ∆dinete	d for eer Model 7. Adin	ietad for eav	and health status (heal	lthu or CVT

Table 6.2: Cross sectional associations between age and both dCA and cardiac BRS during 0.10 Hz squat stand manoeuvres.

 v yrs) aged when accounting for model covariates. Model 1: Adjusted for sex. Model 2: Adjusted for sex and health status (healthy or CVD risk).
 Model 3: Adjusted for sex, health status and VO_{2max}. Abbreviations; dCA, dynamic cerebral autoregulation; BRS, baroreflex sensitivity. old (56**Table 6.3:** Power spectral analysis of both dynamic cerebral autoregulation and baroreflex sensitivity during 0.10 Hz squat stand manoeuvers.

		Age categories		ANOVA	
	18-35 yrs	36-55 yrs	56-70 yrs		
	(young)	(middle age)	(old age)		
	N=93	N=62	N=51		
Dynamic cerebra	l autoregulati	ion			
BP power	215±128	172±105	140±124	0.001	
$(mmHg^2)$					
MCAv power	166±97	132±91	60±41	< 0.001	
(cm/sec ²)					
Baroreflex sensit	ivity				
R-R interval	8916±6932	4390±5190	3146±3991	< 0.001	
power (<i>ms</i> ²)					
SBP power	474±368	412±299	470±429	0.55	
$(mmHg^2)$					

Values are mean±SD. Abbreviations; BP, blood pressure; MCAv, middle cerebral artery velocity; SBP, systolic blood pressure.



Figure 6.1: Relationship between dynamic cerebral autoregulation and baroreflex sensitivity during 0.10 Hz squat stand manoeuvres. Data presented as individual data points with R^2 and P values.

6.5 Discussion

The aims of the current study were to (i) examine the impact of sex, cardiorespiratory fitness and the presence of CVD risk factors on dCA and cardiac BRS over the life span; and (ii) explore the relationships between cardiac BRS and dCA whilst controlling for age and sex. The data indicates that dCA, measured using repeated squat stand manoeuvres, is not impaired with age, and not impacted by sex, fitness or the presence of CVD risk factors. Cardiac BRS was reduced with aging, and displayed an inverse relationship with TFA gain, but no relationship with any other parameter of dCA.

Ageing is a well-established principle risk factor for cerebrovascular disease and complications. A number of cerebral hemodynamic parameters have been shown to change with age, including reductions in CBF volume and CBFv (Krejza et al., 1999, Ainslie et al., 2008b), yet the data from the current study suggest that the intrinsic ability of cerebral vessels to maintain stable flow despite changes in BP appears to be unaffected by ageing. The ability of the cerebrovasculature to buffer these changes in BP represents a vital defence mechanism protecting the brain (Claassen and Zhang, 2011), and data from this present study is in agreement with that of smaller previous studies which identified no reduction in dCA with ageing using both squat stand manoeuvres (Oudegeest-Sander et al., 2014, Smirl et al., 2014a, Xing et al., 2017) or other dCA techniques (Carey et al., 2000, Yam et al., 2005, Dineen et al., 2011). The data presented in this study extends these findings of preserved dCA with ageing, showing that dCA is not different between sexes when age is considered, and is also unaffected by CVD risk factors during low frequency squat stand manoeuvres. With the cohort of participants and based on the risk factors included within this study, no

evidence of any decline in dCA with increased risk of CVD was observed. Central obesity, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia and T2DM represent major risk factors in the development of systemic vascular disease and complications (Seven, 2015) including significantly increased risk of cerebrovascular disease (Pinto et al., 2004, Kivipelto et al., 2005, Law et al., 2009). Each risk factor, individually or collectively is associated with endothelial dysfunction, increased arterial stiffness, alongside a range of other vascular abnormalities (Stapleton et al., 2008). Despite these vascular changes, no reduction in dCA was identified when using forced BP oscillations induced by squat stand manoeuvres. In chapter 3, a small sample of individuals with increased CVD risk had a similar dCA to young healthy individuals, with this present study confirming the original observation but on a larger scale. To date, no other studies have assessed dCA in a population at high risk of CVD. Studies utilising the same dCA methods have observed no difference in patients with chronic obstructive lung disease (Lewis et al., 2019) or in early stage Alzheimer's (Claassen et al., 2009a). Collectively, the data from this study suggests that despite the vascular maladaptation's that are associated with CVD risk factors, the intrinsic ability of the cerebral blood vessels to maintain stable flow is persevered.

Elevated cardio-respiratory fitness is associated with increased resting CBFv values (Ainslie et al., 2008b) and better CVR (Bailey et al., 2013), but its association with dCA is less conclusive. We have provided evidence that indicates that those individuals with increased cardio-respiratory fitness (VO_{2max}) do not have an improved ability to counteract acute, large changes in BP. Interestingly, two previous studies concluded higher VO_{2max} was related to attenuated dCA (Lind-Holst et al., 2011, Labrecque et al., 2017) whereas, Aengevaeren et al. (2013) identified no effect of VO_{2max} on dCA. Disparities in results are likely down to differences in dCA

assessment methods, further stressing the importance of following previously published guidelines (Claassen et al., 2016). This current study has provided evidence in a demographically varied cohort, using a single method of dCA assessment with TFA, suggesting that better VO_{2max} does not translate to enhanced dCA. The physiological connection between VO_{2max} and dCA is unknown but likely to be a complex multifactorial relationship. Indeed, increased VO_{2max} is associated with lower stroke risk (Lee and Blair, 2002), improved cognition (Brown et al., 2010) and all round lower mortality risk from CVD (Kodama et al., 2009), therefore raising the concern that either dCA mechanisms are unrelated to such clinical events, or the use of TCD and TFA parameters are not sufficient enough to categorically understand dCA.

Data from this study further supports a wealth of research that shows cardiac BRS declines with age (Monahan, 2007, Smirl et al., 2014a, Xing et al., 2017). Similarly, the data in this present study provides additional evidence that CVD risk factors are linked to reduced cardiac BRS (Skrapari et al., 2007, Madden et al., 2010, Sakamoto et al., 2019). The relationship between dCA and cardiac BRS however, has proven complex. Understanding whether enhanced BP control leads to better control of CBF or vice visa is of importance in understanding how these regulatory mechanisms operate, and whether they should be the focus of interventions. The maintenance of BP and CBF with postural changes, and thus the avoidance of dizziness or syncope, depends on the action of baroreflexes to compensate (James and Potter, 1999). Additionally, having an efficient and fast acting BP control (cardiac BRS) could potentially limit BP fluctuations that are thus transferred into the cerebral vascular system. This present study provides evidence showing that cardiac BRS parameters show no relationship with dCA normalised gain and dCA phase during forced BP

oscillations, but does appear to have a relationship with dCA (absolute) gain. This relationship demonstrates that a reduced cardiac BRS gain and BRS phase is associated with a reduced dCA (absolute) gain. This implies that the lower an individual's BRS (i.e. reduced BP control), the more efficient their dCA is at counteracting large fluctuations in BP. As previously mentioned, it is important to consider that the parameter of gain reflects the absolute change in CBFv, whereas when normalised to account for baseline CBFv and BP (normalised gain) (van Beek et al., 2008) no relationship was present. Therefore, the data in this study outlines that despite having a significantly greater BP control at a younger age, this does not alter how well the cerebral vessels regulate blood flow during BP challenges. Nevertheless, an inverse relationship between dCA (absolute) gain and cardiac BRS is not completely surprising, given that one previous study using TCD to measure rate of regulation and autoregulation index for dCA, and the modified Oxford technique to estimate BRS identified an inverse relationship between the two processes (Tzeng et al., 2010). On the other hand, previous studies utilising the same methods adopted in this present chapter concluded no relationship between dCA and BRS parameters (Aengevaeren et al., 2013, Smirl et al., 2014a). Referring back to the original Lassen curve of CA, CBF remained largely constant independent of BP changes between 60 to 150 mmHg (Lassen, 1959), although this is an often challenged observation (Lucas et al., 2010, Tan, 2012). To what extent a plateau region of CBF over a given change in BP remains elusive. However, if a plateau region does exists or is similar to that outlined by Lassen (1959), this indicates that the baroreflex, as an important mechanism controlling short-term BP regulation may have negligible input in regulation short term CBF (Tzeng et al., 2010). Identifying the fundamental relationship between this functional role of the cardiac baroreceptors and dCA is of

123

clinical significance, primarily because baroreflex impairment is an adverse prognostic indicator for both cardiac and cerebrovascular disease (Tzeng et al., 2010).

6.6 Conclusion

In conclusion, this study has provided data from a wide cohort of participants, which shows that dCA remains intact during the ageing process of 18-70 years. The data presented in this study suggests that common risk factors for CVD are not impairing dCA and that having increased cardio-respiratory fitness does not translate to more efficient dCA. Finally, this present study shows that there is a relationship between cardiac BRS and dCA (absolute) gain, and that this relationship implies that a reduced cardiac BRS is associated with an enhanced dCA, but this relationship is not present when normalised for baseline values (normalised gain). Chapter 7: Synthesis of Findings

7.1 Aims of the thesis

The work described in the present thesis was designed to investigate the impact of rIPC, using acute (one bout) of rIPC as well as repeated bouts for 7 days daily and 8-week (3 x per week), on both peripheral and cerebrovascular function in individuals at risk of CVD. Given the lack of change in cerebral autoregulation as an early marker of cerebrovascular function with the interventions implemented within this thesis, the final study was designed to investigate whether age, sex, cardiorespiratory fitness or CVD risk factors affected cerebral autoregulation.

7.2 Summary of Major Findings

The novel work undertaken in this thesis has generated new knowledge for the literature and for clinical practice. The main findings of this thesis are:

1. In chapter 3, a single bout of rIPC did not influence CBFv or cerebrovascular function acutely in healthy individuals, or those at increased CVD risk.

2. Chapter 4 demonstrated that in a randomised pilot study, the directional changes suggest peripheral vascular endothelial function can be enhanced with 7-day daily rIPC in T2DM.

3. Chapter 5 identified that combining aerobic exercise with rIPC for 8 weeks does not mediate greater changes in cerebral and peripheral vascular function compared to a rIPC only intervention.

4. In chapter 6, dCA measured using squat stand manoeuvres and TFA was unaffected by age, CVD risk factors and cardio-respiratory fitness and operates independent of the baroreceptors.

7.3 General discussion of major findings

7.3.1 The Dose of rIPC

rIPC can be administered as a single dose (i.e. 4 x 5 min bouts of forearm ischemia and reperfusion) and has shown cardioprotective benefits in the myocardium and the peripheral vasculature (Botker et al., 2010, van den Munckhof et al., 2013). Increasing the 'dose' of rIPC by simply increasing the amount of times the ischemia-reperfusion cycles are applied was investigated throughout the current thesis. The data from this thesis suggests that increasing the dose of rIPC by either increasing the number of bouts (chapters 4 and 5) and/or or combing with a potentially mutually beneficial intervention of exercise training (chapter 5) has little impact on improving peripheral vasculature or cerebrovascular outcomes in individuals with CVD risk factors.

One of the novel aspects of this thesis was to examine the impact of rIPC on the cerebrovasculature. Chapter 3 suggested that an acute bout of rIPC had no immediate (i.e. during the first window of protection) effect on cerebrovascular function. Whilst an acute bout of rIPC has been shown previously to have a positive impact on endothelial IR injuries in older individuals and those with congestive heart failure (van den Munckhof et al., 2013, Kono et al., 2014, Thijssen et al., 2016a), there is evidence to suggest that there is also little impact on vascular function measured using the FMD technique (Enko et al., 2011, Moro et al., 2011), so no acute effect may not be surprising. Nevertheless, increasing the dose by performing more bouts of rIPC over days (chapter 4) or weeks (chapter 5) also had little impact on cerebrovascular function. In the present thesis the largest dose was administered in chapter 5, the dose of rIPC was 3 x per week, thus 24 bouts in total over an 8 week period. In comparison to the previous studies which have observed improvements in cerebrovascular markers and

stroke reoccurrence with daily and/or twice daily rIPC bouts over a longer intervention period (~ 300 individual bouts) (Meng et al., 2012, Meng et al., 2015, Mi et al., 2016, Wang et al., 2017) the dose applied in the current thesis is still a relatively small. Therefore, research studies exploring the impact of larger rIPC doses (duration of intervention and frequency of bouts) or investigating the optimal dose are required to further explore the impact of rIPC of cerebrovascular health.

Large doses of rIPC have typically been employed to improve parameters of the cerebral circulation but smaller doses (duration of intervention and frequency of bouts) have been shown to be effective in the peripheral vasculature. Chapter 5 in the present thesis supports that of two previous studies which show that FMD can be improved in as little as 7 days (7 rIPC bouts) (Luca et al., 2013, Jones et al., 2014) in individuals with T2DM that likely have vascular dysfunction. Smaller doses of rIPC have also elicited improvements in FMD with in healthy individuals, Jones et al. (2015) demonstrating that 6 bouts spread over two weeks as well as 24 bouts (3 x per week for 8 weeks) of rIPC also results in enhanced FMD. It is plausible that individuals with vascular dysfunction may require a larger dose of rIPC to show changes in vascular function and further research studies examining this concept or warranted. Interestingly, the ability of rIPC to provide protection against a temporary endothelial IR injury was not consistent within this thesis, whereas a small number of studies have observed sustained protection from rIPC to the same IR injury model used in this thesis (Kharbanda et al., 2001, Kharbanda et al., 2002, Luca et al., 2013). In Chapter 4, following 1 week of daily rIPC, the dysfunction following an IR injury was reduced compared to that of pre intervention values. However, in study 5, with 3 rIPC bouts per week for 8 weeks, post IRI FMD was unchanged following both interventions.

Such findings further support the call for future research to target identifying the optimal dose of rIPC.

To what extend the proximity of the stimulus to the target area is unknown. Whether rIPC applied to a limb, as was the case throughout this thesis, is too far away from target area (cerebral blood vessels) may be a potential explanation to the lack of adaptation from rIPC in chapters 3, 4 and 5 of this thesis. On the other hand, given the growing body of evidence suggesting that rIPC induces humoral and neural factors that translate into systemic changes/adaptations (Heusch et al., 2015, Thijssen et al., 2016a), the site/location in which the rIPC is applied should not necessarily determine the extent of protection or adaption in the target area. Intriguingly, evidence from a rodent model showed that direct IPC was less effective and providing protection against renal IR compared to rIPC (Oral et al., 2018). Furthermore, human studies, including the data from chapter 4 of this thesis, have shown no difference between remote and local IPC (Jones et al., 2014) in the peripheral vascular beds but to do what extent this also applied to the cerebral vascular bed in unknown, and is likely to be limited to animal models. Alternative strategies to induce IPC-like stimulus in terms of the fluctuations blood flow and shear stress patterns may be of potential interest including; cold exposure (Brown et al., 2003), hypoxia (Harris et al., 2013) and water immersion (Carter et al., 2014a) certainly warrant further investigation.

7.3.2 rIPC in clinical populations

An important consideration when executing any intervention is the population who are targeted. Numerous rIPC interventions have focused on individuals who are deemed fit and healthy with no current health risk (Kimura et al., 2007, Luca et al., 2013, Jones et al., 2014, Jones et al., 2015, Lindsay et al., 2017) or with various
diseases (Meng et al., 2012, Liang et al., 2015, Meng et al., 2015, Pryds et al., 2017, Wang et al., 2017) with few studies aimed at those individuals deemed at risk. Whether the effectiveness of rIPC is influenced by the health status of an individual, or the health of the endothelium is unclear. Therefore, the individuals primarily targeted within the current thesis were those who are deemed at risk of CVD, therefore examining the impact of rIPC as an early intervention to improve vascular health and reduce disease risk was a primary focus. A recent study in hypertensive patients suggested that 30 days of daily rIPC (30 bouts) was successful in reducing BP and also improved micro-vessel endothelial function, thus reducing their risk of hypertension complications (HyTong et al., 2019). Interestingly such reductions in BP were not evident in chapters 4 and 5 of this thesis, but in chapters 4 and 5 the total dose and rIPC was lower and not all individuals were hypertensive nor had any know cardiovascular or cerebrovascular disease. Taken together, it is possible that those individuals diagnosed with a CV disease (e.g. hypertension) or post CV event (e.g. stroke) may benefit the most from a rIPC intervention (of a big enough dose). Future studies examining the effectiveness of rIPC interventions in healthy, at risk of CVD, with overt risk factors and with CVD or cerebrovascular disease are required.

7.3.3 Interventions and cerebrovascular function

Interventions that target CBF and cerebrovascular function are of paramount importance in preventing and treating cerebrovascular health, cognitive decline, vascular dementia and stroke (Kalaria et al., 2016). Interventions, such as exercise but also pharmacological and lifestyle interventions have been implemented targeting the improvement of cerebrovascular function but findings on the impact of such interventions have been inconsistent as to whether they can improve CBF or cerebrovascular function (Akazawa et al., 2012, Murrell et al., 2013, Drapeau et al., 2019, Lewis et al., 2019). In the present thesis the addition of exercise to the rIPC intervention in chapter 5 did not mediate any changes in the cerebrovascular function. Exercise improves systemic cardiovascular function, but specific to the brain exercise is thought to increase shear stress and signalling cascades as well as enhances neural activation and metabolism (Lucas et al., 2015). As outlined in earlier chapters, to the best of our knowledge no study to date has reported an improved dCA measured using TFA following an exercise training intervention. Cross-sectional studies have identified no beneficial adaptations to dCA with habitual exercise training (Aengevaeren et al., 2013, Perry et al., 2019). Acute exercise elicits increases in CBF up to around 70% VO_{2max} before hyperventilation induced hypocapnia either plateaus or reduces CBF (Lucas et al., 2015, Smith and Ainslie, 2017). These increases in blood flow and shear stress patterns may contribute to enhanced cerebrovascular function through improved endothelium function (Smith et al., 2019), but the extent to which this can contribute to enhanced dCA remains unanswered.

An additional factor which must be considered when assessing cerebrovascular function using dCA is what exactly an improved dCA presents itself as. Classically, the consensus has focused on improved dCA would be represented by TFA as reduced gain and/or improved phase (van Beek et al., 2008, Claassen et al., 2016), however given the lack of published data that shows any improvements in dCA using similar techniques (squat-stand manoeuvres and TFA) adopted throughout this thesis, a lot of questions remained unanswered. Theoretically, the argument could be made that for dCA to truly be improved both parameters (gain and phase) should display improvements and physiologically they may be true. If an individual improves the temporal alignment of BP-CBF oscillations (phase) – this could in turn result in a

reduced BP-CBF magnitude (gain). Nevertheless, this all remains speculative and future work is required to accurately understand the metrics of dCA with TFA, outlining if the metrics are associated with each other, and if one parameter of dCA is more physiologically 'important' than another.

Given the lack of consistent changes in exercise and lifestyle interventions on cerebrovascular function it might not be surprising that a rIPC intervention did not mediate a beneficial effect. One the other hand, given the previous remarkable finding in stroke patients of increased CBF, reduced stroke recurrence and decreased white matter hyperintensities (Meng et al., 2012, Meng et al., 2015, Mi et al., 2016, Wang et al., 2017), then one might expect some functional cerebrovascular changes. The experimental studies in this thesis attempted to extend the understanding of rIPC by investigating functional parameters of the cerebral circulation, to try and understand how rIPC may elicit such adaptations. The data from these chapters show that rIPC did not alter CBFv or any of the aspects of cerebrovascular function. As discussed above this could be explained by rIPC dose or evidence of disease but one other potential explanation could be related to how cerebrovascular function was assessed in the current thesis.

7.3.4 Measurements of cerebrovascular function

TCD offers a non-invasive and high temporal resolution measurement technique for the assessment of CBFv and together with measurements of BP, expired CO₂ and neural activity can provide information on cerebrovascular function. Throughout this thesis, TCD was utilised to assess cerebrovascular function using a number of assessment techniques set out by Willie et al. (2011). The measurement of dCA was performed throughout all experimental studies in this thesis as well as being the primary focus in chapter 6. dCA represents an essential protective mechanism ensuring stable blood flow to the brain (van Beek et al., 2008), therefore maintaining good or even improving dCA is likely to be of benefit. Measurement and assessment of dCA however is not straightforward and whilst attempts have been made in order to standardise measurement techniques when using TCD together with BP to understand cerebral autoregulation and to improve repeatability (Claassen et al., 2009b, Meel-van den Abeelen et al., 2014, Claassen et al., 2016, Simpson and Claassen, 2018), there still appears to be a range of measurement technique in the literature.. It is possible that these techniques or protocols are not sensitive enough to assess changes in dCA. It is noteworthy that in an attempt to obtain a more rounded dCA profile, in chapter 5 assessment of MCAv in response to spontaneous BP fluctuations was also included in the testing protocol alongside the forced BP oscillation in the squat stand manoeuvres. Nevertheless as seen in chapter 5, neither measurements of autoregulation were changed following either intervention.

In chapters 3, 4 and 5, none of the interventions used mediated any change in dCA. Whilst this could be as a direct consequence of the intervention, it is also possible that either the physiological variable being targeted is not responsive to the intervention and /or the measurement technique is insensitive. As previously mentioned throughout the thesis, there is consistent evidence of impairment in peripheral vascular function with CVD risk, yet no such evidence is available regarding dCA, a key homeostatic mechanism. The results from chapter 6 suggest that CVD risk factors are not influencing dCA when assessed using squat stand and TFA and that ageing does not alter dCA from 18-70 years. Based on the findings from this chapter, should dCA be a target for interventions if it is not impaired with ageing (unlike CBF). There are also studies that have utilised the same squat stand protocol with TFA as employed within

the current thesis that show no impairment in dCA in heart transplant recipients (Smirl et al., 2014a), chronic obstructive lung disease (Lewis et al., 2019) or stage 2 Alzheimer's (Heus et al., 2018). Future research studies are required to examine the sensitivity of these techniques in assessing dCA or alternative measurement techniques or protocols need to be developed to understand changes in cerebral autoregulation with age and/or intervention.

7.4 Methodological Considerations and Limitations

There are a number of strengths in the methodology of this thesis. The participants recruited for each of the experimental studies in this study give a good representation of the general population in the UK. Chapters 3, 4, 5, and 6 all contain individuals with established risk factors for CVD, chapter 4 focuses on individuals diagnosed with T2DM and chapters 3 and 6 also included a cohort of both young and old healthy and active individuals. Based on this, the findings presented from this thesis are applicable to a wide cohort and not limited to one participant group.

Each study of this thesis ensured strict inclusion and exclusion criteria in addition to the control of diet and exercise prior to and during laboratory visits. Importantly, each measurement applied within this thesis was performed adhering to the most recent published guidelines for that specific measurement. For example, FMD assessments were undertaken according to the latest peer-reviewed consensus guidelines (Thijssen et al., 2011a), together with the use of custom-designed edge-detection and walltracking analysis software, the accuracy, validity and prognostic value of FMD outcomes were maximised. dCA measurements were all performed following cerebral autoregulation network recommendations (Claassen et al., 2016). Another major strength to the work contained within this thesis was the research design of the experimental studies. Chapters 3 and 5 include intervention trials including an 8 week intervention, and chapter 4 included a randomised control trial. Lastly, chapter 6 included a relatively large sample size, incorporating a demographically varied cohort of individuals in an in order to describe changes in dCA and BRS.

Despite these methodological strengths, there are a number of limitations contained. The most notable limitation within this thesis is the use of TCD for the measurement of CBF and cerebrovascular function. As is frequently discussed in a number of reviews (Willie et al., 2011, Ainslie and Hoiland, 2014), TCD provides measurement of CBFv as an index of CBF, as TCD does not provide feedback regarding vessel diameter. Changes in vessel diameter can affect measurement accuracy of CBF with TCD (Heus et al., 2018). CBFv is an adequate surrogate of absolute flow only if the insonated vessel maintains constant vessel diameter across time and experimental conditions (Ainslie and Hoiland, 2014), and it is unlikely that acute rIPC induced a vessel diameter change, but chronic diameter changes connect be excluded. The use of additional imaging techniques such as MR arterial spin labeling, SPECT, and Xenon-CT would overcome such limitations, however their temporal resolution is currently too low to assess the dynamics of dCA (Heus et al., 2018) and they are either expensive or invasive techniques. The MCA diameter is unlikely to change under resting conditions or during moderate changes in BP (Serrador et al., 2000), similar to that induced during repeated squat stand manoeuvres. MCA diameter alterations in responses to changes in blood CO₂ content remains a highly controversial topic (Brothers and Zhang, 2016, Hoiland and Ainslie, 2016). Previous work utilising MRI identified that with increases of $P_{ET}CO_2$ of ≈ 8 mmHg MCA diameter remains unchanged (Serrador et al., 2000), however more recent studies using higher resolution MRI (3 and 7 Tesla) have shown both dilation and constriction of the MCA during hyper- and hypocapnia (Coverdale et al., 2014, Verbree et al., 2014, Coverdale et al., 2015). Certain studies have highlighted that MCA diameter may remain constant during modest changes in $P_{ET}CO_2$ but no definitive threshold has yet been described (Verbree et al., 2014). Based on this uncertainty it is important to acknowledge that the MCAv data during hypercapnia may have underestimated flow as a result of potential MCA diameter changes.

The model employed to induce a temporary endothelial IR injury in chapters 4 and 5 is used only as a surrogate index to cardiac tissue. Nonetheless, this is a frequently used model to assess endothelial ischemia reperfusion injuries in research studies (van den Munckhof et al., 2013, Carter et al., 2014b, Thijssen et al., 2019a). Moreover, applying this technique significantly decreases plasma nitrite and plasma nitrate concentrations, indicating that any change in endothelial IR injury is due to a reduction in NO bioavailability (Aboo Bakkar et al., 2018) and thus provides some mechanistic insight.

In chapter 6, whilst the study sample size was the largest to describe dCA to date, there are still some weaknesses/limitations of the study. Cross sectional study designs are limited in their ability to confirm causality/mechanisms. Additionally, despite the sample size being relatively large, it is still possible that the data lacked the statistical power to detect differences due to effect sizes of the measurements included.

7.5 Recommendations for clinical practise and future studies

Whilst the phenomenon of IPC has come a long way since it was first identified by Murry *et al* in 1986, it still has some way before it is implemented clinically. This thesis aimed to answer questions regarding the impact of rIPC as an intervention in individuals at risk of CVD and explore its effects on systemic vascular function. rIPC has the potential to offer a relatively low cost, non-invasive and easily applicable intervention to improve a range of parameters of cardiovascular health. Given the improvements in peripheral vascular function in chapter 4 and because endothelial dysfunction represents a significant event in the atherosclerotic cascade and predicts cardiovascular and cerebrovascular events (Inaba et al., 2010). The findings from chapter 4 suggest that rIPC has the potential to improve endothelial function in a patient group with likely endothelial dysfunction and at higher risk of vascular complications.

It is too soon to recommend rIPC interventions for routine clinical practice based on the research evidence form this thesis and literature to date. Numerous, large scale phase II, III and IV clinical trials are required in a variety of clinical cohorts to truly understand the effects of the interventions and to gain better insight into the mechanisms mediating such changes. Nevertheless, based on the evidence presented in this thesis, below are the key areas in which future studies can build upon the work presented here.

- Aim to identify the optimal dose of rIPC in terms of duration (e.g. weeks or months) and frequency (e.g. daily or weekly). By designing large scale trials with a range of different rIPC intervention protocols, this should in turn identify the most effective rIPC protocol which is a crucial step should rIPC be implemented clinically.
- 2. Establish whether similar to exercise, rIPC exerts it effects differently depending on health status. Expanding on the work contained within this thesis, future research should open up to exploring the rIPC effects on a broad range

of clinical groups, and gain an understanding of how different clinical conditions respond differently.

- 3. Attempt to further understand the mechanism mediating the rIPC adaptations. By designing mechanistic focused studies, future work should aim to identify the mechanisms involved in the protective effects of rIPC as well as its association with enhanced vascular function.
- 4. Building on chapter 4, future trials with adequate statistical power are required to identify if rIPC has the ability to improve vascular outcomes in T2DM. Chapter 4 has laid the foundations for a large scale clinical trial by demonstrating the positive directional changes in vascular function in a pilot study. Future randomised control trials, which a sufficiently powered statistically should focus on rIPC in T2DM.
- 5. Based on the findings in chapter 6, further understanding of factors that can influence dCA and identify in what disease states dCA is impaired or attenuated. By exploring dCA in a range of clinical groups, not just limited to CVD risk as in this thesis, researchers will be able to identify when it is impaired, which may then potentially assist in understanding the exact mechanisms contributing to dCA,

Chapter 8: References

- AASLID, R. 1986. The Doppler Principle Applied to Measurement of Blood Flow Velocity in Cerebral Arteries. *In:* AASLID, R. (ed.) *Transcranial Doppler Sonography.* Vienna: Springer Vienna.
- AASLID, R., LINDEGAARD, K. F., SORTEBERG, W. & NORNES, H. 1989. Cerebral autoregulation dynamics in humans *Stroke*, 20, 45-52.
- AASLID, R., MARKWALDER, T. M. & NORNES, H. 1982. Noninvasive transcranial Doppler ultrasound recording of flow velocity in basal cerebral arteries. *J Neurosurg*, 57, 769-74.
- ABOO BAKKAR, Z., FULFORD, J., GATES, P. E., JACKMAN, S. R., JONES, A. M., BOND, B. & BOWTELL, J. L. 2018. Prolonged forearm ischemia attenuates endotheliumdependent vasodilatation and plasma nitric oxide metabolites in overweight middle-aged men. *Eur J Appl Physiol*.
- AENGEVAEREN, V. L., CLAASSEN, J. A., LEVINE, B. D. & ZHANG, R. 2013. Cardiac baroreflex function and dynamic cerebral autoregulation in elderly Masters athletes. J Appl Physiol (1985), 114, 195-202.
- AHMED, K. M., HERNON, S., MOHAMED, S., TUBASSUM, M., NEWELL, M. & WALSH, S. R.
 2018. Remote ischemic preconditioning in the management of intermittent claudication: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Ann Vasc Surg.*
- AINSLIE, P. N., CELI, L., MCGRATTAN, K., PEEBLES, K. & OGOH, S. 2008a. Dynamic cerebral autoregulation and baroreflex sensitivity during modest and severe step changes in arterial PCO2. *Brain research*, 1230, 115-124.
- AINSLIE, P. N., COTTER, J. D., GEORGE, K. P., LUCAS, S., MURRELL, C., SHAVE, R., THOMAS, K. N., WILLIAMS, M. J. & ATKINSON, G. 2008b. Elevation in cerebral blood flow velocity with aerobic fitness throughout healthy human ageing. *J Physiol*, 586, 4005-10.
- AINSLIE, P. N. & DUFFIN, J. 2009. Integration of cerebrovascular CO2 reactivity and chemoreflex control of breathing: mechanisms of regulation, measurement, and interpretation. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 296, R1473-95.
- AINSLIE, P. N. & HOILAND, R. L. 2014. Transcranial Doppler ultrasound: valid, invalid, or both? *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 117, 1081-3.
- AINSLIE, P. N., MURRELL, C., PEEBLES, K., SWART, M., SKINNER, M. A., WILLIAMS, M. J. A. & TAYLOR, R. D. 2007. Early morning impairment in cerebral autoregulation and cerebrovascular CO2 reactivity in healthy humans: relation to endothelial function. *Experimental Physiology*, 92, 769-777.
- AKAZAWA, N., CHOI, Y., MIYAKI, A., SUGAWARA, J., AJISAKA, R. & MAEDA, S. 2012. Aerobic exercise training increases cerebral blood flow in postmenopausal women. *Artery Research*, 6, 124-129.
- ALEGRIA, J. R., MILLER, T. D., GIBBONS, R. J., YI, Q. L. & YUSUF, S. 2007. Infarct size, ejection fraction, and mortality in diabetic patients with acute myocardial infarction treated with thrombolytic therapy. *Am Heart J*, 154, 743-50.
- ALFINI, A. J., WEISS, L. R., NIELSON, K. A., VERBER, M. D. & SMITH, J. C. 2019. Resting Cerebral Blood Flow After Exercise Training in Mild Cognitive Impairment. *J Alzheimers Dis*, 67, 671-684.
- ANTTILA, V., HAAPANEN, H., YANNOPOULOS, F., HERAJARVI, J., ANTTILA, T. & JUVONEN, T. 2016. Review of remote ischemic preconditioning: from laboratory studies to clinical trials. *Scand Cardiovasc J*, 50, 355-361.

- ATKINSON, G. & BATTERHAM, A. M. 2013. Allometric scaling of diameter change in the original flow-mediated dilation protocol. *Atherosclerosis*, 226, 425-7.
- AVOGARO, A., ALBIERO, M., MENEGAZZO, L., DE KREUTZENBERG, S. & FADINI, G. P. 2011. Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes: the role of reparatory mechanisms. *Diabetes Care*, 34 Suppl 2, S285-90.
- BAILEY, D. M., MARLEY, C. J., BRUGNIAUX, J. V., HODSON, D., NEW, K. J., OGOH, S. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2013. Elevated aerobic fitness sustained throughout the adult lifespan is associated with improved cerebral hemodynamics. *Stroke*, 44, 3235-8.
- BARNES, J. N. & CORKERY, A. T. 2018. Exercise Improves Vascular Function, but does this Translate to the Brain? *Brain plasticity (Amsterdam, Netherlands)*, **4**, 65-79.
- BAYLISS, W. M., HILL, L. & GULLAND, G. L. 1895. On Intra-Cranial Pressure and the Cerebral Circulation: Part I. Physiological; Part II. Histological. *J Physiol*, 18, 334-62.
- BEAUDRY, R. I., LIANG, Y., BOYTON, S. T., TUCKER, W. J., BROTHERS, R. M., DANIEL, K. M., RAO, R. & HAYKOWSKY, M. J. 2018. Meta-analysis of Exercise Training on Vascular Endothelial Function in Cancer Survivors. *Integr Cancer Ther*, 17, 192-199.
- BIRCH, A. A., DIRNHUBER, M. J., HARTLEY-DAVIES, R., IANNOTTI, F. & NEIL-DWYER, G. 1995. Assessment of autoregulation by means of periodic changes in blood pressure. *Stroke*, 26, 834-7.
- BIRK, G. K., DAWSON, E. A., ATKINSON, C., HAYNES, A., CABLE, N. T., THIJSSEN, D. H. & GREEN, D. J. 2012. Brachial artery adaptation to lower limb exercise training: role of shear stress. J Appl Physiol (1985), 112, 1653-8.
- BLACK, M. A., CABLE, N. T., THIJSSEN, D. H. & GREEN, D. J. 2008. Importance of measuring the time course of flow-mediated dilatation in humans. *Hypertension*, 51, 203-10.
- BOFF, W., DA SILVA, A. M., FARINHA, J. B., RODRIGUES-KRAUSE, J., REISCHAK-OLIVEIRA, A., TSCHIEDEL, B., PUÑALES, M. & BERTOLUCI, M. C. 2019. Superior Effects of High-Intensity Interval vs. Moderate-Intensity Continuous Training on Endothelial Function and Cardiorespiratory Fitness in Patients With Type 1 Diabetes: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Frontiers in physiology*, 10, 450-450.
- BOLLI, R., DAWN, B., TANG, X. L., QIU, Y., PING, P., XUAN, Y. T., JONES, W. K., TAKANO, H., GUO, Y. & ZHANG, J. 1998. The nitric oxide hypothesis of late preconditioning. *Basic Res Cardiol*, 93, 325-38.
- BOLLI, R., LI, Q. H., TANG, X. L., GUO, Y., XUAN, Y. T., ROKOSH, G. & DAWN, B. 2007. The late phase of preconditioning and its natural clinical application--gene therapy. *Heart Fail Rev*, 12, 189-99.
- BOTKER, H. E., KHARBANDA, R., SCHMIDT, M. R., BOTTCHER, M., KALTOFT, A. K., TERKELSEN, C. J., MUNK, K., ANDERSEN, N. H., HANSEN, T. M., TRAUTNER, S., LASSEN, J. F., CHRISTIANSEN, E. H., KRUSELL, L. R., KRISTENSEN, S. D., THUESEN, L., NIELSEN, S. S., REHLING, M., SORENSEN, H. T., REDINGTON, A. N. & NIELSEN, T. T.
 2010. Remote ischaemic conditioning before hospital admission, as a complement to angioplasty, and effect on myocardial salvage in patients with acute myocardial infarction: a randomised trial. *Lancet*, 375, 727-34.
- BØTKER, H. E., KHARBANDA, R., SCHMIDT, M. R., BØTTCHER, M., KALTOFT, A. K., TERKELSEN, C. J., MUNK, K., ANDERSEN, N. H., HANSEN, T. M., TRAUTNER, S., LASSEN, J. F., CHRISTIANSEN, E. H., KRUSELL, L. R., KRISTENSEN, S. D., THUESEN, L., NIELSEN, S. S., REHLING, M., SØRENSEN, H. T., REDINGTON, A. N. & NIELSEN, T. T. Remote ischaemic conditioning before hospital admission, as a complement to angioplasty, and effect on myocardial salvage in patients with acute myocardial infarction: a randomised trial. *The Lancet*, 375, 727-734.
- BOUSSAGEON, R., BEJAN-ANGOULVANT, T., SAADATIAN-ELAHI, M., LAFONT, S., BERGEONNEAU, C., KASSAÏ, B., ERPELDINGER, S., WRIGHT, J. M., GUEYFFIER, F. & CORNU, C. 2011. Effect of intensive glucose lowering treatment on all cause

mortality, cardiovascular death, and microvascular events in type 2 diabetes: metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 343, d4169d4169.

- BREVOORD, D., KRANKE, P., KUIJPERS, M., WEBER, N., HOLLMANN, M. & PRECKEL, B. 2012.
 Remote ischemic conditioning to protect against ischemia-reperfusion injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One*, 7, e42179.
- BRISLANE, Á., LOW, D. A., CARTER, S. E., HOLDER, S. M., JONES, H. & HOPKINS, N. D. 2020. Cerebral and peripheral vascular differences between pre- and postmenopausal women. *Menopause*, 27, 170-182.
- BROTHERS, R. M. & ZHANG, R. 2016. CrossTalk opposing view: The middle cerebral artery diameter does not change during alterations in arterial blood gases and blood pressure. *The Journal of physiology*, 594, 4077-4079.
- BROWN, A. D., MCMORRIS, C. A., LONGMAN, R. S., LEIGH, R., HILL, M. D., FRIEDENREICH, C.
 M. & POULIN, M. J. 2010. Effects of cardiorespiratory fitness and cerebral blood flow on cognitive outcomes in older women. *Neurobiol Aging*, 31, 2047-57.
- BROWN, C. M., SANYA, E. O. & HILZ, M. J. 2003. Effect of cold face stimulation on cerebral blood flow in humans. *Brain Res Bull*, 61, 81-6.
- BRUCE, R. A., KUSUMI, F. & HOSMER, D. 1973. Maximal oxygen intake and nomographic assessment of functional aerobic impairment in cardiovascular disease. *Am Heart J*, 85, 546-62.
- CALLES-ESCANDON, J. & CIPOLLA, M. 2001. Diabetes and endothelial dysfunction: a clinical perspective. *Endocr Rev*, 22, 36-52.
- CAMPBELL, A., GRACE, F., RITCHIE, L., BEAUMONT, A. & SCULTHORPE, N. 2019. Long-Term Aerobic Exercise Improves Vascular Function Into Old Age: A Systematic Review, Meta-Analysis and Meta Regression of Observational and Interventional Studies. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 10.
- CANDILIO, L., MALIK, A., ARITI, C., BARNARD, M., DI SALVO, C., LAWRENCE, D., HAYWARD,
 M., YAP, J., ROBERTS, N., SHEIKH, A., KOLVEKAR, S., HAUSENLOY, D. J. & YELLON, D.
 M. 2015. Effect of remote ischaemic preconditioning on clinical outcomes in patients undergoing cardiac bypass surgery: a randomised controlled clinical trial. *Heart*, 101, 185-92.
- CAREY, B. J., EAMES, P. J., BLAKE, M. J., PANERAI, R. B. & POTTER, J. F. 2000. Dynamic cerebral autoregulation is unaffected by aging. *Stroke*, 31, 2895-900.
- CARTER, H. H., ATKINSON, C. L., HEINONEN, I. H., HAYNES, A., ROBEY, E., SMITH, K. J., AINSLIE, P. N., HOILAND, R. L. & GREEN, D. J. 2016. Evidence for Shear Stress-Mediated Dilation of the Internal Carotid Artery in Humans. *Hypertension*, 68, 1217-1224.
- CARTER, H. H., MAXWELL, J. D., HELLSTEN, Y., THOMPSON, A., THIJSSEN, D. H. J. & JONES, H. 2020. The impact of acute remote ischaemic preconditioning on cerebrovascular function. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*.
- CARTER, H. H., SPENCE, A. L., PUGH, C. J. A., AINSLIE, P., NAYLOR, L. H. & GREEN, D. J. 2014a. Cardiovascular responses to water immersion in humans: impact on cerebral perfusion. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 306, R636-R640.
- CARTER, S. E., DRAIJER, R., HOLDER, S. M., BROWN, L., THIJSSEN, D. H. J. & HOPKINS, N. D. 2018. Regular walking breaks prevent the decline in cerebral blood flow associated with prolonged sitting. J Appl Physiol (1985).
- CARTER, S. E., FAULKNER, A. & RAKOBOWCHUK, M. 2014b. The role of prostaglandin and antioxidant availability in recovery from forearm ischemia-reperfusion injury in humans. *J Hypertens*, 32, 339-51.

- CELERMAJER, D. S., SORENSEN, K. E., GOOCH, V. M., SPIEGELHALTER, D. J., MILLER, O. I., SULLIVAN, I. D., LLOYD, J. K. & DEANFIELD, J. E. 1992. Non-invasive detection of endothelial dysfunction in children and adults at risk of atherosclerosis. *Lancet*, 340, 1111-5.
- CELERMAJER, D. S., SORENSEN, K. E., SPIEGELHALTER, D. J., GEORGAKOPOULOS, D., ROBINSON, J. & DEANFIELD, J. E. 1994. Aging is associated with endothelial dysfunction in healthy men years before the age-related decline in women. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 24, 471-6.
- CHARAKIDA, M., MASI, S., LUSCHER, T. F., KASTELEIN, J. J. & DEANFIELD, J. E. 2010. Assessment of atherosclerosis: the role of flow-mediated dilatation. *Eur Heart J*, 31, 2854-61.
- CHEN, L., PEI, J. H., KUANG, J., CHEN, H. M., CHEN, Z., LI, Z. W. & YANG, H. Z. 2015. Effect of lifestyle intervention in patients with type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. *Metabolism*, 64, 338-47.
- CHUDYK, A. & PETRELLA, R. J. 2011. Effects of exercise on cardiovascular risk factors in type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care*, 34, 1228-37.
- CLAASSEN, J. A., DIAZ-ARRASTIA, R., MARTIN-COOK, K., LEVINE, B. D. & ZHANG, R. 2009a. Altered cerebral hemodynamics in early Alzheimer disease: a pilot study using transcranial Doppler. *J Alzheimers Dis*, **17**, 621-9.
- CLAASSEN, J. A., LEVINE, B. D. & ZHANG, R. 2009b. Dynamic cerebral autoregulation during repeated squat-stand maneuvers. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 106, 153-60.
- CLAASSEN, J. A., MEEL-VAN DEN ABEELEN, A. S., SIMPSON, D. M. & PANERAI, R. B. 2016. Transfer function analysis of dynamic cerebral autoregulation: A white paper from the International Cerebral Autoregulation Research Network. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 36, 665-80.
- CLAASSEN, J. A. & ZHANG, R. 2011. Cerebral autoregulation in Alzheimer's disease. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 31, 1572-7.
- COHN, J. N., QUYYUMI, A. A., HOLLENBERG, N. K. & JAMERSON, K. A. 2004. Surrogate markers for cardiovascular disease: functional markers. *Circulation*, 109, Iv31-46.
- COVERDALE, N., GATI, J., OPALEVYCH, O., PERROTTA, A. & SHOEMAKER, J. K. 2014. Comparing cerebral blood flow velocity and cerebral blood flow measures between transcranial Doppler ultrasound and phase contrast magnetic resonance imaging during hypercapnia and hypocapnia (1183.2). *The FASEB Journal*, 28, 1183.2.
- COVERDALE, N. S., LALANDE, S., PERROTTA, A. & SHOEMAKER, J. K. 2015. Heterogeneous patterns of vasoreactivity in the middle cerebral and internal carotid arteries. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 308, H1030-8.
- CREAGER, M. A., LUSCHER, T. F., COSENTINO, F. & BECKMAN, J. A. 2003. Diabetes and vascular disease: pathophysiology, clinical consequences, and medical therapy: Part I. *Circulation*, 108, 1527-32.
- D'ASCENZO, F., CAVALLERO, E., MORETTI, C., OMEDE, P., SCIUTO, F., RAHMAN, I. A.,
 BONSER, R. S., YUNSEOK, J., WAGNER, R., FREIBERGER, T., KUNST, G., MARBER, M.
 S., THIELMANN, M., JI, B., AMR, Y. M., MODENA, M. G., ZOCCAI, G. B., SHEIBAN, I. &
 GAITA, F. 2012. Remote ischaemic preconditioning in coronary artery bypass
 surgery: a meta-analysis. *Heart*, 98, 1267-71.
- DAVIES, W. R., BROWN, A. J., WATSON, W., MCCORMICK, L. M., WEST, N. E., DUTKA, D. P. & HOOLE, S. P. 2013a. Remote ischemic preconditioning improves outcome at 6 years after elective percutaneous coronary intervention: the CRISP stent trial long-term follow-up. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*, 6, 246-51.
- DAVIES, W. R., BROWN, A. J., WATSON, W., MCCORMICK, L. M., WEST, N. E. J., DUTKA, D. P. & HOOLE, S. P. 2013b. Remote Ischemic Preconditioning Improves Outcome at 6

Years After Elective Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Interventions,* **6,** 246.

- DE HEUS, R. A. A., DE JONG, D. L. K., SANDERS, M. L., VAN SPIJKER, G. J., OUDEGEEST-SANDER, M. H., HOPMAN, M. T., LAWLOR, B. A., OLDE RIKKERT, M. G. M. & CLAASSEN, J. 2018. Dynamic Regulation of Cerebral Blood Flow in Patients With Alzheimer Disease. *Hypertension*, 72, 139-150.
- DEDE, D. S., YAVUZ, B., YAVUZ, B. B., CANKURTARAN, M., HALIL, M., ULGER, Z., CANKURTARAN, E. S., AYTEMIR, K., KABAKCI, G. & ARIOGUL, S. 2007. Assessment of endothelial function in Alzheimer's disease: is Alzheimer's disease a vascular disease? J Am Geriatr Soc, 55, 1613-7.
- DEN ABEELEN, A. S., LAGRO, J., VAN BEEK, A. H. & CLAASSEN, J. A. 2014. Impaired cerebral autoregulation and vasomotor reactivity in sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Alzheimer Res*, 11, 11-7.
- DIAS, K. A., GREEN, D. J., INGUL, C. B., PAVEY, T. G. & COOMBES, J. S. 2015. Exercise and Vascular Function in Child Obesity: A Meta-Analysis. *Pediatrics*, 136, e648-59.
- DICKSON, E. W., LORBAR, M., PORCARO, W. A., FENTON, R. A., REINHARDT, C. P., GYSEMBERGH, A. & PRZYKLENK, K. 1999. Rabbit heart can be "preconditioned" via transfer of coronary effluent. *Am J Physiol*, 277, H2451-7.
- DINEEN, N. E., PANERAI, R. B., BRODIE, F. & ROBINSON, T. G. 2011. Effects of ageing on cerebral haemodynamics assessed during respiratory manoeuvres. *Age and Ageing*, 40, 199-204.
- DRAPEAU, A., LABRECQUE, L., IMHOFF, S., PAQUETTE, M., LE BLANC, O., MALENFANT, S. & BRASSARD, P. 2019. Dynamic cerebral autoregulation of endurance-trained men following 6 weeks of high-intensity interval training to exhaustion. *bioRxiv*, 605667.
- DUTOIT, A. P., HART, E. C., CHARKOUDIAN, N., WALLIN, B. G., CURRY, T. B. & JOYNER, M. J. 2010. Cardiac baroreflex sensitivity is not correlated to sympathetic baroreflex sensitivity within healthy, young humans. *Hypertension (Dallas, Tex. : 1979),* 56, 1118-1123.
- EAMES, P. J., BLAKE, M. J., DAWSON, S. L., PANERAI, R. B. & POTTER, J. F. 2002. Dynamic cerebral autoregulation and beat to beat blood pressure control are impaired in acute ischaemic stroke. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 72, 467-72.
- EDVARDSEN, E., HEM, E. & ANDERSSEN, S. A. 2014. End criteria for reaching maximal oxygen uptake must be strict and adjusted to sex and age: a cross-sectional study. *PLoS One*, 9, e85276.
- ELDOR, R., RAZ, I., BEN YEHUDA, A. & BOULTON, A. J. 2004. New and experimental approaches to treatment of diabetic foot ulcers: a comprehensive review of emerging treatment strategies. *Diabet Med*, 21, 1161-73.
- ELTZSCHIG, H. K. & COLLARD, C. D. 2004. Vascular ischaemia and reperfusion injury. *Br Med Bull*, 70, 71-86.
- ENGLAND, T. J., HEDSTROM, A., O'SULLIVAN, S., DONNELLY, R., BARRETT, D. A., SARMAD,
 S., SPRIGG, N. & BATH, P. M. 2017. RECAST (Remote Ischemic Conditioning After
 Stroke Trial): A Pilot Randomized Placebo Controlled Phase II Trial in Acute Ischemic
 Stroke. Stroke, 48, 1412-1415.
- ENKO, K., NAKAMURA, K., YUNOKI, K., MIYOSHI, T., AKAGI, S., YOSHIDA, M., TOH, N., SANGAWA, M., NISHII, N., NAGASE, S., KOHNO, K., MORITA, H., KUSANO, K. F. & ITO, H. 2011. Intermittent arm ischemia induces vasodilatation of the contralateral upper limb. J Physiol Sci, 61, 507-13.
- EUSER, A. G. & CIPOLLA, M. J. 2007. Cerebral blood flow autoregulation and edema formation during pregnancy in anesthetized rats. *Hypertension*, 49, 334-40.

- FADEL, P. J., OGOH, S., KELLER, D. M. & RAVEN, P. B. 2003. Recent insights into carotid baroreflex function in humans using the variable pressure neck chamber. *Exp Physiol*, 88, 671-80.
- FAVRE, M. E. & SERRADOR, J. M. 2019. Sex differences in cerebral autoregulation are unaffected by menstrual cycle phase in young, healthy women. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 316, H920-h933.
- FERDINANDY, P., HAUSENLOY, D. J., HEUSCH, G., BAXTER, G. F. & SCHULZ, R. 2014. Interaction of risk factors, comorbidities, and comedications with ischemia/reperfusion injury and cardioprotection by preconditioning, postconditioning, and remote conditioning. *Pharmacol Rev*, 66, 1142-74.
- FIERSTRA, J., SOBCZYK, O., BATTISTI-CHARBONNEY, A., MANDELL, D. M., POUBLANC, J., CRAWLEY, A. P., MIKULIS, D. J., DUFFIN, J. & FISHER, J. A. 2013. Measuring cerebrovascular reactivity: what stimulus to use? *J Physiol*, 591, 5809-21.
- FOG, M. 1938. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE BLOOD PRESSURE AND THE TONIC REGULATION OF THE PIAL ARTERIES. J Neurol Psychiatry, 1, 187-97.
- FRANCO FOLINO, A. 2007. Cerebral autoregulation and syncope. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis,* 50, 49-80.
- GASCH, J., REIMANN, M., REICHMANN, H., RÜDIGER, H. & ZIEMSSEN, T. 2011. Determination of baroreflex sensitivity during the modified Oxford maneuver by trigonometric regressive spectral analysis. *PloS one*, 6, e18061-e18061.
- GEORGIADIS, D., SIEVERT, M., CENCETTI, S., UHLMANN, F., KRIVOKUCA, M., ZIERZ, S. & WERDAN, K. 2000. Cerebrovascular reactivity is impaired in patients with cardiac failure. *European Heart Journal*, 21, 407-413.
- GIROUARD, H. & IADECOLA, C. 2006. Neurovascular coupling in the normal brain and in hypertension, stroke, and Alzheimer disease. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 100, 328-35.
- GREEN, D. J., CARTER, H. H., FITZSIMONS, M. G., CABLE, N. T., THIJSSEN, D. H. & NAYLOR, L.
 H. 2010. Obligatory role of hyperaemia and shear stress in microvascular adaptation to repeated heating in humans. *J Physiol*, 588, 1571-7.
- GREEN, D. J., DAWSON, E. A., GROENEWOUD, H. M., JONES, H. & THIJSSEN, D. H. 2014a. Is flow-mediated dilation nitric oxide mediated?: A meta-analysis. *Hypertension*, 63, 376-82.
- GREEN, D. J., EIJSVOGELS, T., BOUTS, Y. M., MAIORANA, A. J., NAYLOR, L. H., SCHOLTEN, R.
 R., SPAANDERMAN, M. E., PUGH, C. J., SPRUNG, V. S., SCHREUDER, T., JONES, H.,
 CABLE, T., HOPMAN, M. T. & THIJSSEN, D. H. 2014b. Exercise training and artery
 function in humans: nonresponse and its relationship to cardiovascular risk factors.
 J Appl Physiol (1985), 117, 345-52.
- GREEN, D. J., HOPMAN, M. T., PADILLA, J., LAUGHLIN, M. H. & THIJSSEN, D. H. 2017. Vascular Adaptation to Exercise in Humans: Role of Hemodynamic Stimuli. *Physiol Rev*, 97, 495-528.
- GREEN, D. J., JONES, H., THIJSSEN, D., CABLE, N. T. & ATKINSON, G. 2011. Flow-mediated dilation and cardiovascular event prediction: does nitric oxide matter? *Hypertension*, 57, 363-9.
- GREEN, D. J., MAIORANA, A., O'DRISCOLL, G. & TAYLOR, R. 2004. Effect of exercise training on endothelium-derived nitric oxide function in humans. *J Physiol*, 561, 1-25.
- GREEN, D. J., SPENCE, A., ROWLEY, N., THIJSSEN, D. H. & NAYLOR, L. H. 2012. Vascular adaptation in athletes: is there an 'athlete's artery'? *Exp Physiol*, 97, 295-304.
- GUO, Y., BAO, W., WU, W. J., SHINMURA, K., TANG, X. L. & BOLLI, R. 2000. Evidence for an essential role of cyclooxygenase-2 as a mediator of the late phase of ischemic preconditioning in mice. *Basic Res Cardiol*, 95, 479-84.
- GUO, Z. N., GUO, W. T., LIU, J., CHANG, J., MA, H., ZHANG, P., ZHANG, F. L., HAN, K., HU, H. H., JIN, H., SUN, X., SIMPSON, D. M. & YANG, Y. 2019. Changes in cerebral

autoregulation and blood biomarkers after remote ischemic preconditioning. *Neurology*.

- GUO, Z. N., SHAO, A., TONG, L. S., SUN, W., LIU, J. & YANG, Y. 2016. The Role of Nitric Oxide and Sympathetic Control in Cerebral Autoregulation in the Setting of Subarachnoid Hemorrhage and Traumatic Brain Injury. *Mol Neurobiol*, 53, 3606-3615.
- HAFFNER, S. M., LEHTO, S., RONNEMAA, T., PYORALA, K. & LAAKSO, M. 1998. Mortality from coronary heart disease in subjects with type 2 diabetes and in nondiabetic subjects with and without prior myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med*, 339, 229-34.
- HAMBRECHT, R., ADAMS, V., ERBS, S., LINKE, A., KRANKEL, N., SHU, Y., BAITHER, Y., GIELEN, S., THIELE, H., GUMMERT, J. F., MOHR, F. W. & SCHULER, G. 2003. Regular physical activity improves endothelial function in patients with coronary artery disease by increasing phosphorylation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation*, 107, 3152-3158.
- HAMILTON, S. J. & WATTS, G. F. 2013. Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes: pathogenesis, significance, and treatment. *The review of diabetic studies : RDS*, 10, 133-156.
- HAMNER, J. W., TAN, C. O., TZENG, Y. C. & TAYLOR, J. A. 2012. Cholinergic control of the cerebral vasculature in humans. *J Physiol*, 590, 6343-52.
- HARRIS, A. D., MURPHY, K., DIAZ, C. M., SAXENA, N., HALL, J. E., LIU, T. T. & WISE, R. G.
 2013. Cerebral blood flow response to acute hypoxic hypoxia. *NMR in biomedicine*, 26, 1844-1852.
- HAUSENLOY, D. J., CANDILIO, L., EVANS, R., ARITI, C., JENKINS, D. P., KOLVEKAR, S., KNIGHT, R., KUNST, G., LAING, C., NICHOLAS, J., PEPPER, J., ROBERTSON, S., XENOU, M., CLAYTON, T. & YELLON, D. M. 2015. Remote Ischemic Preconditioning and Outcomes of Cardiac Surgery. N Engl J Med, 373, 1408-17.
- HAUSENLOY, D. J. & YELLON, D. M. 2008. Remote ischaemic preconditioning: underlying mechanisms and clinical application. *Cardiovasc Res*, 79, 377-86.
- HEISTAD, D. D., MARCUS, M. L. & ABBOUD, F. M. 1978. Role of large arteries in regulation of cerebral blood flow in dogs. *J Clin Invest*, 62, 761-8.
- HERMANN, G., HERBST, A., SCHUTT, M., KEMPE, H. P., KRAKOW, D., MULLER-KORBSCH, M.
 & HOLL, R. W. 2014. Association of physical activity with glycaemic control and cardiovascular risk profile in 65 666 people with type 2 diabetes from Germany and Austria. *Diabet Med*, 31, 905-12.
- HEUS, R. A. A. D., JONG, D. L. K. D., SANDERS, M. L., SPIJKER, G. J. V., OUDEGEEST-SANDER, M. H., HOPMAN, M. T., LAWLOR, B. A., RIKKERT, M. G. M. O. & CLAASSEN, J. A. H. R. 2018. Dynamic Regulation of Cerebral Blood Flow in Patients With Alzheimer Disease. *Hypertension*, 72, 139-150.
- HEUSCH, G., BØTKER, H. E., PRZYKLENK, K., REDINGTON, A. & YELLON, D. 2015. Remote Ischemic Conditioning. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 65, 177-195.
- HILL, J. M., ZALOS, G., HALCOX, J. P., SCHENKE, W. H., WACLAWIW, M. A., QUYYUMI, A. A. & FINKEL, T. 2003. Circulating endothelial progenitor cells, vascular function, and cardiovascular risk. N Engl J Med, 348, 593-600.
- HISSEN, S. L., SAYED, K. E., MACEFIELD, V. G., BROWN, R. & TAYLOR, C. E. 2018. The Stability and Repeatability of Spontaneous Sympathetic Baroreflex Sensitivity in Healthy Young Individuals. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 12.
- HOILAND, R. L. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2016. CrossTalk proposal: The middle cerebral artery diameter does change during alterations in arterial blood gases and blood pressure. *The Journal of physiology*, 594, 4073-4075.
- HOILAND, R. L., FISHER, J. A. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2019. Regulation of the Cerebral Circulation by Arterial Carbon Dioxide. *Compr Physiol*, 9, 1101-1154.
- HOILAND, R. L., SMITH, K. J., CARTER, H. H., LEWIS, N. C. S., TYMKO, M. M., WILDFONG, K. W., BAIN, A. R., GREEN, D. J. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2017. Shear-mediated dilation of the

internal carotid artery occurs independent of hypercapnia. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 313, H24-h31.

- HORSMAN, H. M., PEEBLES, K. C., GALLETLY, D. C. & TZENG, Y.-C. 2013. Cardiac baroreflex gain is frequency dependent: insights from repeated sit-to-stand maneuvers and the modified Oxford method. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism,* 38, 753-759.
- HU, K., PENG, C. K., CZOSNYKA, M., ZHAO, P. & NOVAK, V. 2008. Nonlinear assessment of cerebral autoregulation from spontaneous blood pressure and cerebral blood flow fluctuations. *Cardiovasc Eng*, 8, 60-71.
- HUFFMAN, L. C., KOCH, S. E. & BUTLER, K. L. 2008. Coronary effluent from a preconditioned heart activates the JAK-STAT pathway and induces cardioprotection in a donor heart. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 294, H257-62.
- HYTONG, X. Z., CUI, W. F., LI, Y., SU, C., SHAO, Y. J., LIANG, J. W., ZHOU, Z. T., ZHANG, C. J., ZHANG, J. N., ZHANG, X. Y., XIA, W. H. & TAO, J. 2019. Chronic remote ischemic preconditioning-induced increase of circulating hSDF-1alpha level and its relation with reduction of blood pressure and protection endothelial function in hypertension. J Hum Hypertens.
- INABA, Y., CHEN, J. A. & BERGMANN, S. R. 2010. Prediction of future cardiovascular outcomes by flow-mediated vasodilatation of brachial artery: a meta-analysis. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging, 26, 631-40.
- IVEY, F. M., RYAN, A. S., HAFER-MACKO, C. E. & MACKO, R. F. 2011. Improved cerebral vasomotor reactivity after exercise training in hemiparetic stroke survivors. *Stroke*, 42, 1994-2000.
- JAMES, M. A. & POTTER, J. F. 1999. Orthostatic blood pressure changes and arterial baroreflex sensitivity in elderly subjects. *Age Ageing*, 28, 522-30.
- JEFFRIES, O., EVANS, D. T., WALDRON, M., COUSSENS, A. & PATTERSON, S. D. 2019. Sevenday ischaemic preconditioning improves muscle efficiency during cycling. *J Sports Sci*, 1-8.
- JENSEN, H. A., LOUKOGEORGAKIS, S., YANNOPOULOS, F., RIMPILAINEN, E., PETZOLD, A., TUOMINEN, H., LEPOLA, P., MACALLISTER, R. J., DEANFIELD, J. E., MAKELA, T., ALESTALO, K., KIVILUOMA, K., ANTTILA, V., TSANG, V. & JUVONEN, T. 2011. Remote ischemic preconditioning protects the brain against injury after hypothermic circulatory arrest. *Circulation*, 123, 714-21.
- JENSEN, R. V., STØTTRUP, N. B., KRISTIANSEN, S. B. & BØTKER, H. E. 2012. Release of a humoral circulating cardioprotective factor by remote ischemic preconditioning is dependent on preserved neural pathways in diabetic patients. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, 107, 285.
- JEONG, S.-M., KIM, S.-O., DELOREY, D. S., BABB, T. G., LEVINE, B. D. & ZHANG, R. 2016. Lack of correlation between cerebral vasomotor reactivity and dynamic cerebral autoregulation during stepwise increases in inspired CO&It;sub>2&It;/sub> concentration. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 120, 1434.
- JOANNIDES, R., HAEFELI, W. E., LINDER, L., RICHARD, V., BAKKALI, E. H., THUILLEZ, C. & LUSCHER, T. F. 1995. Nitric oxide is responsible for flow-dependent dilatation of human peripheral conduit arteries in vivo. *Circulation*, 91, 1314-9.
- JONES, H., GREEN, D. J., GEORGE, K. & ATKINSON, G. 2010. Intermittent exercise abolishes the diurnal variation in endothelial-dependent flow-mediated dilation in humans. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 298, R427-32.
- JONES, H., HOPKINS, N., BAILEY, T. G., GREEN, D. J., CABLE, N. T. & THIJSSEN, D. H. 2014. Seven-day remote ischemic preconditioning improves local and systemic endothelial function and microcirculation in healthy humans. *Am J Hypertens*, 27, 918-25.

- JONES, H., NYAKAYIRU, J., BAILEY, T. G., GREEN, D. J., CABLE, N. T., SPRUNG, V. S., HOPKINS, N. D. & THIJSSEN, D. H. 2015. Impact of eight weeks of repeated ischaemic preconditioning on brachial artery and cutaneous microcirculatory function in healthy males. *Eur J Prev Cardiol*, 22, 1083-7.
- JORDAN, J. D. & POWERS, W. J. 2012. Cerebral Autoregulation and Acute Ischemic Stroke. *American Journal of Hypertension*, 25, 946-950.
- KALARIA, R. N., AKINYEMI, R. & IHARA, M. 2016. Stroke injury, cognitive impairment and vascular dementia. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*, 1862, 915-925.
- KALOGERIS, T., BAINES, C. P., KRENZ, M. & KORTHUIS, R. J. 2012. Cell biology of ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol*, 298, 229-317.
- KHARBANDA, R. K., MORTENSEN, U. M., WHITE, P. A., KRISTIANSEN, S. B., SCHMIDT, M. R., HOSCHTITZKY, J. A., VOGEL, M., SORENSEN, K., REDINGTON, A. N. & MACALLISTER, R. 2002. Transient limb ischemia induces remote ischemic preconditioning in vivo. *Circulation*, 106, 2881-3.
- KHARBANDA, R. K., PETERS, M., WALTON, B., KATTENHORN, M., MULLEN, M., KLEIN, N., VALLANCE, P., DEANFIELD, J. & MACALLISTER, R. 2001. Ischemic preconditioning prevents endothelial injury and systemic neutrophil activation during ischemiareperfusion in humans in vivo. *Circulation*, 103, 1624-30.
- KIMURA, M., UEDA, K., GOTO, C., JITSUIKI, D., NISHIOKA, K., UMEMURA, T., NOMA, K., YOSHIZUMI, M., CHAYAMA, K. & HIGASHI, Y. 2007. Repetition of ischemic preconditioning augments endothelium-dependent vasodilation in humans: role of endothelium-derived nitric oxide and endothelial progenitor cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 27, 1403-10.
- KIVIPELTO, M., NGANDU, T., FRATIGLIONI, L., VIITANEN, M., KÅREHOLT, I., WINBLAD, B., HELKALA, E.-L., TUOMILEHTO, J., SOININEN, H. & NISSINEN, A. 2005. Obesity and Vascular Risk Factors at Midlife and the Risk of Dementia and Alzheimer Disease. JAMA Neurology, 62, 1556-1560.
- KOCH, S., DELLA-MORTE, D., DAVE, K. R., SACCO, R. L. & PEREZ-PINZON, M. A. 2014. Biomarkers for ischemic preconditioning: finding the responders. *Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*, 34, 933-941.
- KODAMA, S., SAITO, K., TANAKA, S., MAKI, M., YACHI, Y., ASUMI, M., SUGAWARA, A., TOTSUKA, K., SHIMANO, H., OHASHI, Y., YAMADA, N. & SONE, H. 2009. Cardiorespiratory fitness as a quantitative predictor of all-cause mortality and cardiovascular events in healthy men and women: a meta-analysis. *Jama*, 301, 2024-35.
- KONO, Y., FUKUDA, S., HANATANI, A., NAKANISHI, K., OTSUKA, K., TAGUCHI, H. & SHIMADA,
 K. 2014. Remote ischemic conditioning improves coronary microcirculation in healthy subjects and patients with heart failure. *Drug Des Devel Ther*, 8, 1175-81.
- KONTOS, H. A., WEI, E. P., NAVARI, R. M., LEVASSEUR, J. E., ROSENBLUM, W. I. & PATTERSON, J. L., JR. 1978. Responses of cerebral arteries and arterioles to acute hypotension and hypertension. *Am J Physiol*, 234, H371-83.
- KOOIJMAN, M., THIJSSEN, D. H., DE GROOT, P. C., BLEEKER, M. W., VAN KUPPEVELT, H. J., GREEN, D. J., RONGEN, G. A., SMITS, P. & HOPMAN, M. T. 2008. Flow-mediated dilatation in the superficial femoral artery is nitric oxide mediated in humans. *J Physiol*, 586, 1137-45.
- KREJZA, J., MARIAK, Z., WALECKI, J., SZYDLIK, P., LEWKO, J. & USTYMOWICZ, A. 1999. Transcranial color Doppler sonography of basal cerebral arteries in 182 healthy subjects: age and sex variability and normal reference values for blood flow parameters. AJR Am J Roentgenol, 172, 213-8.

- LA ROVERE, M. T., PINNA, G. D. & RACZAK, G. 2008. Baroreflex Sensitivity: Measurement and Clinical Implications. *Annals of Noninvasive Electrocardiology*, **13**, 191-207.
- LAAKSO, M. 2001. Cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes: challenge for treatment and prevention. *J Intern Med*, 249, 225-35.
- LABRECQUE, L., RAHIMALY, K., IMHOFF, S., PAQUETTE, M., LE BLANC, O., MALENFANT, S., DRAPEAU, A., SMIRL, J. D., BAILEY, D. M. & BRASSARD, P. 2019a. Dynamic cerebral autoregulation is attenuated in young fit women. *Physiol Rep*, **7**, e13984.
- LABRECQUE, L., RAHIMALY, K., IMHOFF, S., PAQUETTE, M., LE BLANC, O., MALENFANT, S., LUCAS, S. J. E., BAILEY, D. M., SMIRL, J. D. & BRASSARD, P. 2017. Diminished dynamic cerebral autoregulatory capacity with forced oscillations in mean arterial pressure with elevated cardiorespiratory fitness. *Physiol Rep*, 5.
- LABRECQUE, L., SMIRL, J. D. & BRASSARD, P. 2019b. Letter to the Editor: On the need of considering cardiorespiratory fitness when examining the influence of sex on dynamic cerebral autoregulation. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 316, H1229-H1229.
- LANDMAN, T. R. J., SCHOON, Y., WARLE, M. C., DE LEEUW, F. E. & THIJSSEN, D. H. J. 2019. Remote Ischemic Conditioning as an Additional Treatment for Acute Ischemic Stroke. *Stroke*, 50, 1934-1939.
- LAOSIRIPISAN, J., TARUMI, T., GONZALES, M. M., HALEY, A. P. & TANAKA, H. 2015. Association between cardiovagal baroreflex sensitivity and baseline cerebral perfusion of the hippocampus. *Clin Auton Res*, 25, 213-8.
- LASSEN, N. A. 1959. Cerebral blood flow and oxygen consumption in man. *Physiol Rev*, 39, 183-238.
- LAW, M. R., MORRIS, J. K. & WALD, N. J. 2009. Use of blood pressure lowering drugs in the prevention of cardiovascular disease: meta-analysis of 147 randomised trials in the context of expectations from prospective epidemiological studies. *Bmj*, 338, b1665.
- LEE, C. D. & BLAIR, S. N. 2002. Cardiorespiratory fitness and stroke mortality in men. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 34, 592-5.
- LEFFERTS, W. K., DEBLOIS, J. P., BARREIRA, T. V. & HEFFERNAN, K. S. 2018. Neurovascular Coupling during Cognitive Activity in Adults with Controlled Hypertension. *J Appl Physiol* (1985).
- LEIJENAAR, J. F., VAN MAURIK, I. S., KUIJER, J. P. A., VAN DER FLIER, W. M., SCHELTENS, P., BARKHOF, F. & PRINS, N. D. 2017. Lower cerebral blood flow in subjects with Alzheimer's dementia, mild cognitive impairment, and subjective cognitive decline using two-dimensional phase-contrast magnetic resonance imaging. *Alzheimers Dement (Amst)*, 9, 76-83.
- LEWIS, N., GELINAS, J. C. M., AINSLIE, P. N., SMIRL, J. D., AGAR, G., MELZER, B., ROLF, J. D. & EVES, N. D. 2019. Cerebrovascular function in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the impact of exercise training. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 316, H380-H391.
- LI, G. C., VASQUEZ, J. A., GALLAGHER, K. P. & LUCCHESI, B. R. 1990. Myocardial protection with preconditioning. *Circulation*, 82, 609-19.
- LIANG, Y., LI, Y. P., HE, F., LIU, X. Q. & ZHANG, J. Y. 2015. Long-term, regular remote ischemic preconditioning improves endothelial function in patients with coronary heart disease. *Braz J Med Biol Res*, 48, 568-76.
- LIEBERMAN, E. H., GERHARD, M. D., UEHATA, A., SELWYN, A. P., GANZ, P., YEUNG, A. C. & CREAGER, M. A. 1996. Flow-induced vasodilation of the human brachial artery is impaired in patients <40 years of age with coronary artery disease. *Am J Cardiol*, 78, 1210-4.
- LIM, S. Y. & HAUSENLOY, D. J. 2012. Remote Ischemic Conditioning: From Bench to Bedside. Frontiers in Physiology, 3, 27.

- LIM, S. Y., YELLON, D. M. & HAUSENLOY, D. J. 2010. The neural and humoral pathways in remote limb ischemic preconditioning. *Basic Res Cardiol*, 105, 651-5.
- LIND-HOLST, M., COTTER, J. D., HELGE, J. W., BOUSHEL, R., AUGUSTESEN, H., VAN LIESHOUT, J. J. & POTT, F. C. 2011. Cerebral autoregulation dynamics in endurancetrained individuals. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 110, 1327-1333.
- LINDSAY, A., PETERSEN, C., BLACKWELL, G., FERGUSON, H., PARKER, G., STEYN, N. & GIESEG, S. P. 2017. The effect of 1 week of repeated ischaemic leg preconditioning on simulated Keirin cycling performance: a randomised trial. *BMJ Open Sport* & amp; Exercise Medicine, 3, e000229.
- LIPSITZ, L. A., MUKAI, S., HAMNER, J., GAGNON, M. & BABIKIAN, V. 2000. Dynamic regulation of middle cerebral artery blood flow velocity in aging and hypertension. *Stroke*, 31, 1897-903.
- LIU, X.-Q., SHENG, R. & QIN, Z.-H. 2009. The neuroprotective mechanism of brain ischemic preconditioning. *Acta Pharmacol Sin*, 30, 1071-1080.
- LOUKOGEORGAKIS, S. P., PANAGIOTIDOU, A. T., BROADHEAD, M. W., DONALD, A., DEANFIELD, J. E. & MACALLISTER, R. J. 2005. Remote ischemic preconditioning provides early and late protection against endothelial ischemia-reperfusion injury in humans: role of the autonomic nervous system. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 46, 450-6.
- LOUKOGEORGAKIS, S. P., VAN DEN BERG, M. J., SOFAT, R., NITSCH, D., CHARAKIDA, M., HAIYEE, B., DE GROOT, E., MACALLISTER, R. J., KUIJPERS, T. W. & DEANFIELD, J. E. 2010. Role of NADPH oxidase in endothelial ischemia/reperfusion injury in humans. *Circulation*, 121, 2310-6.
- LUCA, M. C., LIUNI, A., MCLAUGHLIN, K., GORI, T. & PARKER, J. D. 2013. Daily ischemic preconditioning provides sustained protection from ischemia-reperfusion induced endothelial dysfunction: a human study. *J Am Heart Assoc,* 2, e000075.
- LUCAS, S. J., COTTER, J. D., BRASSARD, P. & BAILEY, D. M. 2015. High-intensity interval exercise and cerebrovascular health: curiosity, cause, and consequence. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 35, 902-11.
- LUCAS, S. J., TZENG, Y. C., GALVIN, S. D., THOMAS, K. N., OGOH, S. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2010. Influence of changes in blood pressure on cerebral perfusion and oxygenation. *Hypertension*, 55, 698-705.
- LUSCHER, T. F., CREAGER, M. A., BECKMAN, J. A. & COSENTINO, F. 2003. Diabetes and vascular disease: pathophysiology, clinical consequences, and medical therapy: Part II. *Circulation*, 108, 1655-61.
- MADDEN, K. M., LOCKHART, C., POTTER, T. F. & CUFF, D. 2010. Aerobic training restores arterial baroreflex sensitivity in older adults with type 2 diabetes, hypertension, and hypercholesterolemia. *Clin J Sport Med*, 20, 312-7.
- MAESSEN, M. F. H., VAN MIL, A., STRAATHOF, Y., RIKSEN, N. P., RONGEN, G., HOPMAN, M. T. E., EIJSVOGELS, T. M. H. & THIJSSEN, D. H. J. 2017. Impact of lifelong exercise training on endothelial ischemia-reperfusion and ischemic preconditioning in humans. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 312, R828-r834.
- MAGGIO, P., SALINET, A. S. M., PANERAI, R. B. & ROBINSON, T. G. 2013. Does hypercapniainduced impairment of cerebral autoregulation affect neurovascular coupling? A functional TCD study. *Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md. : 1985),* 115, 491-497.
- MALHOTRA, S., NAGGAR, I., STEWART, M. & ROSENBAUM, D. M. 2011. Neurogenic pathway mediated remote preconditioning protects the brain from transient focal ischemic injury. *Brain Res*, 1386, 184-90.
- MARDIMAE, A., BALABAN, D. Y., MACHINA, M. A., BATTISTI-CHARBONNEY, A., HAN, J. S., KATZNELSON, R., MINKOVICH, L. L., FEDORKO, L., MURPHY, P. M., WASOWICZ, M., NAUGHTON, F., MEINERI, M., FISHER, J. A. & DUFFIN, J. 2012. The interaction of

carbon dioxide and hypoxia in the control of cerebral blood flow. *Pflugers Arch,* 464, 345-51.

- MARKUS, H. & CULLINANE, M. 2001. Severely impaired cerebrovascular reactivity predicts stroke and TIA risk in patients with carotid artery stenosis and occlusion. *Brain*, 124, 457-67.
- MARSHALL, O., LU, H., BRISSET, J. C., XU, F., LIU, P., HERBERT, J., GROSSMAN, R. I. & GE, Y. 2014. Impaired cerebrovascular reactivity in multiple sclerosis. *JAMA Neurol*, 71, 1275-81.
- MARSO, S. P., MILLER, T., RUTHERFORD, B. D., GIBBONS, R. J., QURESHI, M., KALYNYCH, A., TURCO, M., SCHULTHEISS, H. P., MEHRAN, R., KRUCOFF, M. W., LANSKY, A. J. & STONE, G. W. 2007. Comparison of myocardial reperfusion in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention in ST-segment elevation acute myocardial infarction with versus without diabetes mellitus (from the EMERALD Trial). *Am J Cardiol*, 100, 206-10.
- MAXWELL, J. D., CARTER, H. H., HELLSTEN, Y., MILLER, G. D., SPRUNG, V. S., CUTHBERTSON, D. J., THIJSSEN, D. H. J. & JONES, H. 2019. Seven day remote ischaemic preconditioning improves endothelial function in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomised pilot study. *Eur J Endocrinol*.
- MAZZA, M., MARANO, G., TRAVERSI, G., BRIA, P. & MAZZA, S. 2011. Primary cerebral blood flow deficiency and Alzheimer's disease: shadows and lights. *J Alzheimers Dis*, 23, 375-89.
- MEEL-VAN DEN ABEELEN, A. S., VAN BEEK, A. H., SLUMP, C. H., PANERAI, R. B. & CLAASSEN, J. A. 2014. Transfer function analysis for the assessment of cerebral autoregulation using spontaneous oscillations in blood pressure and cerebral blood flow. *Med Eng Phys*, 36, 563-75.
- MENG, R., ASMARO, K., MENG, L., LIU, Y., MA, C., XI, C., LI, G., REN, C., LUO, Y., LING, F., JIA, J., HUA, Y., WANG, X., DING, Y., LO, E. H. & JI, X. 2012. Upper limb ischemic preconditioning prevents recurrent stroke in intracranial arterial stenosis. *Neurology*, 79, 1853-61.
- MENG, R., DING, Y., ASMARO, K., BROGAN, D., MENG, L., SUI, M., SHI, J., DUAN, Y., SUN, Z., YU, Y., JIA, J. & JI, X. 2015. Ischemic Conditioning Is Safe and Effective for Octo- and Nonagenarians in Stroke Prevention and Treatment. *Neurotherapeutics*, 12, 667-77.
- MEYBOHM, P., BEIN, B., BROSTEANU, O., CREMER, J., GRUENEWALD, M., STOPPE, C., COBURN, M., SCHAELTE, G., BÖNING, A., NIEMANN, B., ROESNER, J., KLETZIN, F., STROUHAL, U., REYHER, C., LAUFENBERG-FELDMANN, R., FERNER, M., BRANDES, I.
 F., BAUER, M., STEHR, S. N., KORTGEN, A., WITTMANN, M., BAUMGARTEN, G., MEYER-TRESCHAN, T., KIENBAUM, P., HERINGLAKE, M., SCHÖN, J., SANDER, M., TRESKATSCH, S., SMUL, T., WOLWENDER, E., SCHILLING, T., FUERNAU, G., HASENCLEVER, D. & ZACHAROWSKI, K. 2015. A Multicenter Trial of Remote Ischemic Preconditioning for Heart Surgery. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 373, 1397-1407.
- MI, T., YU, F., JI, X., SUN, Y. & QU, D. 2016. The Interventional Effect of Remote Ischemic Preconditioning on Cerebral Small Vessel Disease: A Pilot Randomized Clinical Trial. *Eur Neurol*, 76, 28-34.
- MICHELSEN, M. M., STOTTRUP, N. B., SCHMIDT, M. R., LOFGREN, B., JENSEN, R. V., TROPAK, M., ST-MICHEL, E. J., REDINGTON, A. N. & BOTKER, H. E. 2012. Exercise-induced cardioprotection is mediated by a bloodborne, transferable factor. *Basic Res Cardiol*, 107, 260.
- MONAHAN, K. D. 2007. Effect of aging on baroreflex function in humans. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 293, R3-r12.

- MOREAU, K. L., HILDRETH, K. L., MEDITZ, A. L., DEANE, K. D. & KOHRT, W. M. 2012. Endothelial function is impaired across the stages of the menopause transition in healthy women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 97, 4692-700.
- MORO, L., PEDONE, C., MONDI, A., NUNZIATA, E. & ANTONELLI INCALZI, R. 2011. Effect of local and remote ischemic preconditioning on endothelial function in young people and healthy or hypertensive elderly people. *Atherosclerosis*, 219, 750-2.
- MORRATO, E. H., HILL, J. O., WYATT, H. R., GHUSHCHYAN, V. & SULLIVAN, P. W. 2007. Physical Activity in U.S. Adults With Diabetes and At Risk for Developing Diabetes, 2003. *Diabetes Care*, 30, 203-209.
- MULLEN, M. J., KHARBANDA, R. K., CROSS, J., DONALD, A. E., TAYLOR, M., VALLANCE, P., DEANFIELD, J. E. & MACALLISTER, R. J. 2001. Heterogenous nature of flowmediated dilatation in human conduit arteries in vivo: relevance to endothelial dysfunction in hypercholesterolemia. *Circ Res*, 88, 145-51.
- MUOIO, V., PERSSON, P. B. & SENDESKI, M. M. 2014. The neurovascular unit concept review. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)*, 210, 790-8.
- MURPHY, E. & STEENBERGEN, C. 2008. Mechanisms underlying acute protection from cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Physiol Rev*, 88, 581-609.
- MURRELL, C. J., COTTER, J. D., THOMAS, K. N., LUCAS, S. J., WILLIAMS, M. J. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2013. Cerebral blood flow and cerebrovascular reactivity at rest and during submaximal exercise: effect of age and 12-week exercise training. *Age (Dordr)*, 35, 905-20.
- MURRY, C. E., JENNINGS, R. B. & REIMER, K. A. 1986. Preconditioning with ischemia: a delay of lethal cell injury in ischemic myocardium. *Circulation*, 74, 1124-36.
- MURRY, C. E., RICHARD, V. J., JENNINGS, R. B. & REIMER, K. A. 1991. Myocardial protection is lost before contractile function recovers from ischemic preconditioning. *Am J Physiol*, 260, H796-804.
- MURRY, C. E., RICHARD, V. J., REIMER, K. A. & JENNINGS, R. B. 1990. Ischemic preconditioning slows energy metabolism and delays ultrastructural damage during a sustained ischemic episode. *Circ Res*, 66, 913-31.
- NAYLOR, L. H., DAVIS, E. A., KALIC, R. J., PARAMALINGAM, N., ABRAHAM, M. B., JONES, T. W. & GREEN, D. J. 2016. Exercise training improves vascular function in adolescents with type 2 diabetes. *Physiol Rep,* 4.
- NOVAK, V., NOVAK, P., SPIES, J. M. & LOW, P. A. 1998. Autoregulation of cerebral blood flow in orthostatic hypotension. *Stroke*, 29, 104-11.
- NUMAN, T., BAIN, A. R., HOILAND, R. L., SMIRL, J. D., LEWIS, N. C. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2014. Static autoregulation in humans: a review and reanalysis. *Med Eng Phys*, 36, 1487-95.
- OGAWA, Y., IWASAKI, K., AOKI, K., GOKAN, D., HIROSE, N., KATO, J. & OGAWA, S. 2010. The different effects of midazolam and propofol sedation on dynamic cerebral autoregulation. *Anesth Analg*, 111, 1279-84.
- ORAL, K., AKAN, M., ÖZKARDEŞLER, S., BOZTAŞ, N., ERGÜR, B. U., GÜNELI, M. E., OLGUNER, Ç. & FIDAN, H. 2018. Comparison of Direct and Remote Ischaemic Preconditioning of Renal Ischaemia Reperfusion Injury in Rats. *Turkish journal of anaesthesiology and reanimation*, 46, 453-461.
- ORASANU, G. & PLUTZKY, J. 2009. The pathologic continuum of diabetic vascular disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 53, S35-42.
- ORDY, J. M., WENGENACK, T. M., BIALOBOK, P., COLEMAN, P. D., RODIER, P., BAGGS, R. B., DUNLAP, W. P. & KATES, B. 1993. Selective vulnerability and early progression of hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cell degeneration and GFAP-positive astrocyte reactivity in the rat four-vessel occlusion model of transient global ischemia. *Exp Neurol*, 119, 128-39.

- OUDEGEEST-SANDER, M. H., VAN BEEK, A. H., ABBINK, K., OLDE RIKKERT, M. G., HOPMAN, M. T. & CLAASSEN, J. A. 2014. Assessment of dynamic cerebral autoregulation and cerebrovascular CO2 reactivity in ageing by measurements of cerebral blood flow and cortical oxygenation. *Exp Physiol*, 99, 586-98.
- OVIZE, M., KLONER, R. A., HALE, S. L. & PRZYKLENK, K. 1992. Coronary cyclic flow variations "precondition" ischemic myocardium. *Circulation*, 85, 779-89.
- PANERAI, R. B. 1998. Assessment of cerebral pressure autoregulation in humans--a review of measurement methods. *Physiol Meas*, 19, 305-38.
- PANERAI, R. B., DEVERSON, S. T., MAHONY, P., HAYES, P. & EVANS, D. H. 1999. Effects of CO2 on dynamic cerebral autoregulation measurement. *Physiol Meas*, 20, 265-75.
- PARATI, G. & BILO, G. 2012. Arterial baroreflex modulation of sympathetic activity and arterial wall properties: new evidence. *Hypertension*, 59, 5-7.
- PARKS, D. A. & GRANGER, D. N. 1986. Contributions of ischemia and reperfusion to mucosal lesion formation. *Am J Physiol*, 250, G749-53.
- PEARSON, M. J. & SMART, N. A. 2017. Effect of exercise training on endothelial function in heart failure patients: A systematic review meta-analysis. *Int J Cardiol*, 231, 234-243.
- PERRY, B. G., COTTER, J. D., KORAD, S., LARK, S., LABRECQUE, L., BRASSARD, P., PAQUETTE, M., LE BLANC, O. & LUCAS, S. J. E. 2019. Implications of habitual endurance and resistance exercise for dynamic cerebral autoregulation. *Experimental Physiology*, 104, 1780-1789.
- PERRY, B. G., LUCAS, S. J. E., THOMAS, K. N., COCHRANE, D. J. & MÜNDEL, T. 2014. The effect of hypercapnia on static cerebral autoregulation. *Physiological reports*, 2, e12059.
- PETERS, A., SCHWEIGER, U., PELLERIN, L., HUBOLD, C., OLTMANNS, K. M., CONRAD, M., SCHULTES, B., BORN, J. & FEHM, H. L. 2004. The selfish brain: competition for energy resources. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 28, 143-180.
- PETERSON, E. C., WANG, Z. & BRITZ, G. 2011. Regulation of cerebral blood flow. *Int J Vasc Med*, 2011, 823525.
- PHILLIPS, A. A., CHAN, F. H., ZHENG, M. M., KRASSIOUKOV, A. V. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2016. Neurovascular coupling in humans: Physiology, methodological advances and clinical implications. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 36, 647-64.
- PINTO, A., TUTTOLOMONDO, A., DI RAIMONDO, D., FERNANDEZ, P. & LICATA, G. 2004. Cerebrovascular risk factors and clinical classification of strokes. *Semin Vasc Med*, 4, 287-303.
- PIRES, P. W., DAMS RAMOS, C. M., MATIN, N. & DORRANCE, A. M. 2013. The effects of hypertension on the cerebral circulation. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 304, H1598-H1614.
- POHL, U., HOLTZ, J., BUSSE, R. & BASSENGE, E. 1986. Crucial role of endothelium in the vasodilator response to increased flow in vivo. *Hypertension*, 8, 37-44.
- PORTEGIES, M. L., DE BRUIJN, R. F., HOFMAN, A., KOUDSTAAL, P. J. & IKRAM, M. A. 2014. Cerebral vasomotor reactivity and risk of mortality: the Rotterdam Study. *Stroke*, 45, 42-7.
- PRYDS, K., NIELSEN, R. R., JORSAL, A., HANSEN, M. S., RINGGAARD, S., REFSGAARD, J., KIM, W. Y., PETERSEN, A. K., BOTKER, H. E. & SCHMIDT, M. R. 2017. Effect of long-term remote ischemic conditioning in patients with chronic ischemic heart failure. *Basic Res Cardiol*, 112, 67.
- PRZYKLENK, K., BAUER, B., OVIZE, M., KLONER, R. A. & WHITTAKER, P. 1993. Regional ischemic 'preconditioning' protects remote virgin myocardium from subsequent sustained coronary occlusion. *Circulation*, 87, 893-9.

- PUGH, C. J., CUTHBERTSON, D. J., SPRUNG, V. S., KEMP, G. J., RICHARDSON, P., UMPLEBY, A. M., GREEN, D. J., CABLE, N. T. & JONES, H. 2013. Exercise training improves cutaneous microvascular function in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 305, E50-8.
- PURKAYASTHA, S., SAXENA, A., EUBANK, W. L., HOXHA, B. & RAVEN, P. B. 2013. alpha1-Adrenergic receptor control of the cerebral vasculature in humans at rest and during exercise. *Exp Physiol*, 98, 451-61.
- QIU, S., CAI, X., YIN, H., SUN, Z., ZÜGEL, M., STEINACKER, J. M. & SCHUMANN, U. 2018. Exercise training and endothelial function in patients with type 2 diabetes: a metaanalysis. *Cardiovascular diabetology*, **17**, 64-64.
- RAKOBOWCHUK, M., PARSLOE, E. R., GIBBINS, S. E., HARRIS, E. & BIRCH, K. M. 2013. Prolonged low flow reduces reactive hyperemia and augments low flow mediated constriction in the brachial artery independent of the menstrual cycle. *PLoS One*, 8, e55385.
- RANDHAWA, P. K. & JAGGI, A. S. 2016. Unraveling the role of adenosine in remote ischemic preconditioning-induced cardioprotection. *Life Sci,* 155, 140-6.
- REDINGTON, K. L., DISENHOUSE, T., STRANTZAS, S. C., GLADSTONE, R., WEI, C., TROPAK, M. B., DAI, X., MANLHIOT, C., LI, J. & REDINGTON, A. N. 2012. Remote cardioprotection by direct peripheral nerve stimulation and topical capsaicin is mediated by circulating humoral factors. *Basic Res Cardiol*, 107, 241.
- REINHARD, M., MULLER, T., GUSCHLBAUER, B., TIMMER, J. & HETZEL, A. 2003. Transfer function analysis for clinical evaluation of dynamic cerebral autoregulation--a comparison between spontaneous and respiratory-induced oscillations. *Physiol Meas*, 24, 27-43.
- REN, C., GAO, X., STEINBERG, G. K. & ZHAO, H. 2008. Limb remote-preconditioning protects against focal ischemia in rats and contradicts the dogma of therapeutic time windows for preconditioning. *Neuroscience*, 151, 1099-103.
- REN, Y., CHEN, Q. & LI, Z. Y. 2015. A 3D numerical study of the collateral capacity of the Circle of Willis with anatomical variation in the posterior circulation. *Biomed Eng Online,* 14 Suppl 1, S11.
- RIEGER, M. G., HOILAND, R. L., TREMBLAY, J. C., STEMBRIDGE, M., BAIN, A. R., FLUCK, D., SUBEDI, P., ANHOLM, J. D. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2017. One session of remote ischemic preconditioning does not improve vascular function in acute normobaric and chronic hypobaric hypoxia. *Exp Physiol*, 102, 1143-1157.
- ROGER, V. L., GO, A. S., LLOYD-JONES, D. M., BENJAMIN, E. J., BERRY, J. D., BORDEN, W. B., BRAVATA, D. M., DAI, S., FORD, E. S., FOX, C. S., FULLERTON, H. J., GILLESPIE, C., HAILPERN, S. M., HEIT, J. A., HOWARD, V. J., KISSELA, B. M., KITTNER, S. J., LACKLAND, D. T., LICHTMAN, J. H., LISABETH, L. D., MAKUC, D. M., MARCUS, G. M., MARELLI, A., MATCHAR, D. B., MOY, C. S., MOZAFFARIAN, D., MUSSOLINO, M. E., NICHOL, G., PAYNTER, N. P., SOLIMAN, E. Z., SORLIE, P. D., SOTOODEHNIA, N., TURAN, T. N., VIRANI, S. S., WONG, N. D., WOO, D. & TURNER, M. B. 2012. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2012 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 125, e2-e220.
- ROY, C. S. & SHERRINGTON, C. S. 1890. On the Regulation of the Blood-supply of the Brain. *J Physiol*, **11**, 85-158.17.
- RUBANYI, G. M. 1993. The role of endothelium in cardiovascular homeostasis and diseases. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol*, 22 Suppl 4, S1-14.
- RUBANYI, G. M., FREAY, A. D., KAUSER, K., JOHNS, A. & HARDER, D. R. 1990. Mechanoreception by the endothelium: mediators and mechanisms of pressureand flow-induced vascular responses. *Blood Vessels*, 27, 246-57.

- RUSSO, I., PENNA, C., MUSSO, T., POPARA, J., ALLOATTI, G., CAVALOT, F. & PAGLIARO, P. 2017. Platelets, diabetes and myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Cardiovasc Diabetol,* 16, 71.
- SAKAMOTO, M., MATSUTANI, D. & KAYAMA, Y. 2019. Clinical Implications of Baroreflex Sensitivity in Type 2 Diabetes. *Int Heart J*, 60, 241-246.
- SAWYER, B. J., TUCKER, W. J., BHAMMAR, D. M., RYDER, J. R., SWEAZEA, K. L. & GAESSER, G. A. 2016. Effects of high-intensity interval training and moderate-intensity continuous training on endothelial function and cardiometabolic risk markers in obese adults. J Appl Physiol (1985), 121, 279-88.
- SCHREUDER, T. H. A., GREEN, D. J., NYAKAYIRU, J., HOPMAN, M. T. E. & THIJSSEN, D. H. J. 2015. Time-course of vascular adaptations during 8 weeks of exercise training in subjects with type 2 diabetes and middle-aged controls. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 115, 187-196.
- SCHULZ, K. F., ALTMAN, D. G. & MOHER, D. 2010. CONSORT 2010 Statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. *BMJ*, 340, c332.
- SEEGER, J. P., BENDA, N. M., RIKSEN, N. P., VAN DIJK, A. P., BELLERSEN, L., HOPMAN, M. T., CABLE, N. T. & THIJSSEN, D. H. 2016. Heart failure is associated with exaggerated endothelial ischaemia-reperfusion injury and attenuated effect of ischaemic preconditioning. *Eur J Prev Cardiol*, 23, 33-40.
- SENA, C. M., PEREIRA, A. M. & SEICA, R. 2013. Endothelial dysfunction a major mediator of diabetic vascular disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1832, 2216-31.
- SERRADOR, J. M., PICOT, P. A., RUTT, B. K., SHOEMAKER, J. K. & BONDAR, R. L. 2000. MRI measures of middle cerebral artery diameter in conscious humans during simulated orthostasis. *Stroke*, **31**, 1672-8.
- SEVEN, E. 2015. Overweight, hypertension and cardiovascular disease: focus on adipocytokines, insulin, weight changes and natriuretic peptides. *Dan Med J*, 62, B5163.
- SHAKED, G., CZEIGER, D., ABU ARAR, A., KATZ, T., HARMAN-BOEHM, I. & SEBBAG, G. 2015. Intermittent cycles of remote ischemic preconditioning augment diabetic foot ulcer healing. *Wound Repair Regen*, 23, 191-6.
- SHIMIZU, M., SAXENA, P., KONSTANTINOV, I. E., CHEREPANOV, V., CHEUNG, M. M., WEARDEN, P., ZHANGDONG, H., SCHMIDT, M., DOWNEY, G. P. & REDINGTON, A. N.
 2010. Remote ischemic preconditioning decreases adhesion and selectively modifies functional responses of human neutrophils. J Surg Res, 158, 155-61.
- SHIMIZU, M., TROPAK, M., DIAZ, R. J., SUTO, F., SURENDRA, H., KUZMIN, E., LI, J., GROSS, G., WILSON, G. J., CALLAHAN, J. & REDINGTON, A. N. 2009. Transient limb ischaemia remotely preconditions through a humoral mechanism acting directly on the myocardium: evidence suggesting cross-species protection. *Clin Sci (Lond)*, 117, 191-200.
- SILVESTRINI, M., PASQUALETTI, P., BARUFFALDI, R., BARTOLINI, M., HANDOUK, Y., MATTEIS, M., MOFFA, F., PROVINCIALI, L. & VERNIERI, F. 2006. Cerebrovascular reactivity and cognitive decline in patients with Alzheimer disease. *Stroke*, 37, 1010-5.
- SIMPSON, D. & CLAASSEN, J. 2018. CrossTalk opposing view: dynamic cerebral autoregulation should be quantified using induced (rather than spontaneous) blood pressure fluctuations. *The Journal of Physiology*, 596, 7-9.
- SKOW, R. J., MACKAY, C. M., TYMKO, M. M., WILLIE, C. K., SMITH, K. J., AINSLIE, P. N. & DAY, T. A. 2013. Differential cerebrovascular CO(2) reactivity in anterior and posterior cerebral circulations. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol*, 189, 76-86.

- SKRAPARI, I., TENTOLOURIS, N., PERREA, D., BAKOYIANNIS, C., PAPAZAFIROPOULOU, A. & KATSILAMBROS, N. 2007. Baroreflex sensitivity in obesity: relationship with cardiac autonomic nervous system activity. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 15, 1685-93.
- SLOTH, A. D., SCHMIDT, M. R., MUNK, K., KHARBANDA, R. K., REDINGTON, A. N., SCHMIDT, M., PEDERSEN, L., SORENSEN, H. T. & BOTKER, H. E. 2014. Improved long-term clinical outcomes in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction undergoing remote ischaemic conditioning as an adjunct to primary percutaneous coronary intervention. *Eur Heart J*, 35, 168-75.
- SMIRL, J. D., HAYKOWSKY, M. J., NELSON, M. D., TZENG, Y. C., MARSDEN, K. R., JONES, H. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2014a. Relationship between cerebral blood flow and blood pressure in long-term heart transplant recipients. *Hypertension*, 64, 1314-20.
- SMIRL, J. D., HOFFMAN, K., TZENG, Y. C., HANSEN, A. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2015. Methodological comparison of active- and passive-driven oscillations in blood pressure; implications for the assessment of cerebral pressure-flow relationships. J Appl Physiol (1985), 119, 487-501.
- SMIRL, J. D., LUCAS, S. J. E., LEWIS, N. C. S., DUMANOIR, G. R., SMITH, K. J., BAKKER, A., BASNYAT, A. S. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2014b. Cerebral pressure-flow relationship in lowlanders and natives at high altitude. *Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*, 34, 248-257.
- SMITH, K. J. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2017. Regulation of cerebral blood flow and metabolism during exercise. *Experimental Physiology*, 102, 1356-1371.
- SMITH, K. J., HOILAND, R. L., GROVE, R., MCKIRDY, H., NAYLOR, L., AINSLIE, P. N. & GREEN, D. J. 2019. Matched increases in cerebral artery shear stress, irrespective of stimulus, induce similar changes in extra-cranial arterial diameter in humans. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 39, 849-858.
- SOROND, F. A., SERRADOR, J. M., JONES, R. N., SHAFFER, M. L. & LIPSITZ, L. A. 2009. The sitto-stand technique for the measurement of dynamic cerebral autoregulation. *Ultrasound Med Biol*, 35, 21-9.
- SPRUNG, V. S., CUTHBERTSON, D. J., PUGH, C. J., DAOUSI, C., ATKINSON, G., AZIZ, N. F., KEMP, G. J., GREEN, D. J., CABLE, N. T. & JONES, H. 2013. Nitric oxide-mediated cutaneous microvascular function is impaired in polycystic ovary sydrome but can be improved by exercise training. *J Physiol*, 591, 1475-87.
- STAPLETON, P. A., JAMES, M. E., GOODWILL, A. G. & FRISBEE, J. C. 2008. Obesity and vascular dysfunction. *Pathophysiology*, **15**, 79-89.
- SUBRAMANIAN, S. K., SHARMA, V. K., ARUNACHALAM, V., RAJENDRAN, R. & GAUR, A. 2019. Comparison of Baroreflex Sensitivity and Cardiac Autonomic Function Between Adolescent Athlete and Non-athlete Boys – A Cross-Sectional Study. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 10.
- SUBUDHI, A. W., PANERAI, R. B. & ROACH, R. C. 2010. Effects of hypobaric hypoxia on cerebral autoregulation. *Stroke*, 41, 641-6.
- TABIT, C. E., CHUNG, W. B., HAMBURG, N. M. & VITA, J. A. 2010. Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes mellitus: molecular mechanisms and clinical implications. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*, 11, 61-74.
- TAKADA, J., IBAYASHI, S., NAGAO, T., OOBOSHI, H., KITAZONO, T. & FUJISHIMA, M. 2001. Bradykinin mediates the acute effect of an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor on cerebral autoregulation in rats. *Stroke*, 32, 1216-9.
- TAKANO, H., MANCHIKALAPUDI, S., TANG, X. L., QIU, Y., RIZVI, A., JADOON, A. K., ZHANG, Q. & BOLLI, R. 1998. Nitric oxide synthase is the mediator of late preconditioning against myocardial infarction in conscious rabbits. *Circulation*, 98, 441-9.

- TAN, C. O. 2012. Defining the characteristic relationship between arterial pressure and cerebral flow. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 113, 1194-200.
- TAN, C. O., HAMNER, J. W. & TAYLOR, J. A. 2013. The role of myogenic mechanisms in human cerebrovascular regulation. *J Physiol*, 591, 5095-105.
- TANNE, D., FREIMARK, D., POREH, A., MERZELIAK, O., BRUCK, B., SCHWAMMENTHAL, Y., SCHWAMMENTHAL, E., MOTRO, M. & ADLER, Y. 2005. Cognitive functions in severe congestive heart failure before and after an exercise training program. *Int J Cardiol*, 103, 145-9.
- TARUMI, T., GONZALES, M. M., FALLOW, B., NUALNIM, N., LEE, J., PYRON, M., TANAKA, H.
 & HALEY, A. P. 2015. Cerebral/Peripheral Vascular Reactivity and Neurocognition in Middle-Age Athletes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 47, 2595-603.
- TARUMI, T. & ZHANG, R. 2018. Cerebral blood flow in normal aging adults: cardiovascular determinants, clinical implications, and aerobic fitness. *J Neurochem*, 144, 595-608.
- TAYLOR, C. E., WITTER, T., EL SAYED, K., HISSEN, S. L., JOHNSON, A. W. & MACEFIELD, V. G. 2015. Relationship between spontaneous sympathetic baroreflex sensitivity and cardiac baroreflex sensitivity in healthy young individuals. *Physiol Rep*, 3.
- THIELMANN, M., KOTTENBERG, E., KLEINBONGARD, P., WENDT, D., GEDIK, N., PASA, S., PRICE, V., TSAGAKIS, K., NEUHAUSER, M., PETERS, J., JAKOB, H. & HEUSCH, G. 2013. Cardioprotective and prognostic effects of remote ischaemic preconditioning in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery: a single-centre randomised, double-blind, controlled trial. *Lancet*, 382, 597-604.
- THIELMANN, M., KOTTENBERG, E., KLEINBONGARD, P., WENDT, D., GEDIK, N., PASA, S., PRICE, V., TSAGAKIS, K., NEUHÄUSER, M., PETERS, J., JAKOB, H. & HEUSCH, G. Cardioprotective and prognostic effects of remote ischaemic preconditioning in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery: a single-centre randomised, double-blind, controlled trial. *The Lancet*, 382, 597-604.
- THIJSSEN, D. H., BLACK, M. A., PYKE, K. E., PADILLA, J., ATKINSON, G., HARRIS, R. A., PARKER, B., WIDLANSKY, M. E., TSCHAKOVSKY, M. E. & GREEN, D. J. 2011. Assessment of flow-mediated dilation in humans: a methodological and physiological guideline. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 300, H2-12.
- THIJSSEN, D. H., MAXWELL, J., GREEN, D. J., CABLE, N. T. & JONES, H. 2016a. Repeated ischaemic preconditioning: A novel therapeutic intervention and potential underlying mechanisms. *Exp Physiol*.
- THIJSSEN, D. H. J., BENDA, N. M. M., KERSTENS, T. P., SEEGER, J. P. H., VAN DIJK, A. P. J. & HOPMAN, M. T. E. 2019a. 12-Week Exercise Training, Independent of the Type of Exercise, Attenuates Endothelial Ischaemia-Reperfusion Injury in Heart Failure Patients. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 10.
- THIJSSEN, D. H. J., BRUNO, R. M., VAN MIL, A. C. C. M., HOLDER, S. M., FAITA, F., GREYLING,
 A., ZOCK, P. L., TADDEI, S., DEANFIELD, J. E., LUSCHER, T., GREEN, D. J. & GHIADONI,
 L. 2019b. Expert consensus and evidence-based recommendations for the
 assessment of flow-mediated dilation in humans. *European Heart Journal*, 40, 2534-2547.
- THIJSSEN, D. H. J., CARTER, S. E. & GREEN, D. J. 2016b. Arterial structure and function in vascular ageing: are you as old as your arteries? *The Journal of physiology*, 594, 2275-2284.
- THIJSSEN, D. H. J., REDINGTON, A., GEORGE, K. P., HOPMAN, M. T. E. & JONES, H. 2018. Association of Exercise Preconditioning With Immediate Cardioprotection: A Review. JAMA Cardiol, 3, 169-176.
- TIECKS, F. P., LAM, A. M., AASLID, R. & NEWELL, D. W. 1995. Comparison of static and dynamic cerebral autoregulation measurements. *Stroke*, 26, 1014-9.

- TINKEN, T. M., THIJSSEN, D. H., BLACK, M. A., CABLE, N. T. & GREEN, D. J. 2008. Time course of change in vasodilator function and capacity in response to exercise training in humans. *J Physiol*, 586, 5003-12.
- TINKEN, T. M., THIJSSEN, D. H., HOPKINS, N., DAWSON, E. A., CABLE, N. T. & GREEN, D. J. 2010. Shear stress mediates endothelial adaptations to exercise training in humans. *Hypertension*, 55, 312-8.
- TOWNSEND, N., WILSON, L., BHATNAGAR, P., WICKRAMASINGHE, K., RAYNER, M. & NICHOLS, M. 2016. Cardiovascular disease in Europe: epidemiological update 2016. *European Heart Journal*, 37, 3232-3245.
- TRUELSEN, T., BEGG, S. & MATHERS, C. The global burden of cerebrovascular. Who Int, 2006.
- TZENG, Y.-C., LUCAS, S. J. E., ATKINSON, G., WILLIE, C. K. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2010. Fundamental relationships between arterial baroreflex sensitivity and dynamic cerebral autoregulation in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 108, 1162-1168.
- TZENG, Y. C. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2014. Blood pressure regulation IX: cerebral autoregulation under blood pressure challenges. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 114, 545-59.
- TZENG, Y. C. & PANERAI, R. B. 2018. CrossTalk proposal: dynamic cerebral autoregulation should be quantified using spontaneous blood pressure fluctuations. *J Physiol*, 596, 3-5.
- URBANO, F., ROUX, F., SCHINDLER, J. & MOHSENIN, V. 2008. Impaired cerebral autoregulation in obstructive sleep apnea. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 105, 1852-1857.
- VAN BEEK, A. H., CLAASSEN, J. A., RIKKERT, M. G. & JANSEN, R. W. 2008. Cerebral autoregulation: an overview of current concepts and methodology with special focus on the elderly. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 28, 1071-85.
- VAN BEEK, A. H., LAGRO, J., OLDE-RIKKERT, M. G., ZHANG, R. & CLAASSEN, J. A. 2012. Oscillations in cerebral blood flow and cortical oxygenation in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*, 33, 428.e21-31.
- VAN DEN MUNCKHOF, I., RIKSEN, N., SEEGER, J. P., SCHREUDER, T. H., BORM, G. F., EIJSVOGELS, T. M., HOPMAN, M. T., RONGEN, G. A. & THIJSSEN, D. H. 2013. Aging attenuates the protective effect of ischemic preconditioning against endothelial ischemia-reperfusion injury in humans. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 304, H1727-32.
- VAN MIL, A. C., GREYLING, A., ZOCK, P. L., GELEIJNSE, J. M., HOPMAN, M. T., MENSINK, R. P., REESINK, K. D., GREEN, D. J., GHIADONI, L. & THIJSSEN, D. H. 2016. Impact of volunteer-related and methodology-related factors on the reproducibility of brachial artery flow-mediated vasodilation: analysis of 672 individual repeated measurements. J Hypertens, 34, 1738-45.
- VERBREE, J., BRONZWAER, A. S., GHARIQ, E., VERSLUIS, M. J., DAEMEN, M. J., VAN BUCHEM, M. A., DAHAN, A., VAN LIESHOUT, J. J. & VAN OSCH, M. J. 2014.
 Assessment of middle cerebral artery diameter during hypocapnia and hypercapnia in humans using ultra-high-field MRI. J Appl Physiol (1985), 117, 1084-9.
- VERNIERI, F., TIBUZZI, F., PASQUALETTI, P., ROSATO, N., PASSARELLI, F., ROSSINI, P. M. & SILVESTRINI, M. 2004. Transcranial Doppler and near-infrared spectroscopy can evaluate the hemodynamic effect of carotid artery occlusion. *Stroke*, 35, 64-70.
- VIANNA, L. C., DEO, S. H., JENSEN, A. K., HOLWERDA, S. W., ZIMMERMAN, M. C. & FADEL, P. J. 2015. Impaired dynamic cerebral autoregulation at rest and during isometric exercise in type 2 diabetes patients. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 308, H681-7.
- WANG, Y., MENG, R., SONG, H., LIU, G., HUA, Y., CUI, D., ZHENG, L., FENG, W., LIEBESKIND,
 D. S., FISHER, M. & JI, X. 2017. Remote Ischemic Conditioning May Improve
 Outcomes of Patients With Cerebral Small-Vessel Disease. *Stroke*, 48, 3064-3072.

- WEI, D., REN, C., CHEN, X. & ZHAO, H. 2012. The chronic protective effects of limb remote preconditioning and the underlying mechanisms involved in inflammatory factors in rat stroke. *PLoS One*, 7, e30892.
- WEI, M., XIN, P., LI, S., TAO, J., LI, Y., LI, J., LIU, M., LI, J., ZHU, W. & REDINGTON, A. N. 2011. Repeated remote ischemic postconditioning protects against adverse left ventricular remodeling and improves survival in a rat model of myocardial infarction. *Circ Res*, 108, 1220-5.
- WHITTAKER, P. & PRZYKLENK, K. 2014. From ischemic conditioning to 'hyperconditioning': clinical phenomenon and basic science opportunity. *Dose Response*, **12**, 650-63.
- WIDMER, R. J. & LERMAN, A. 2014. Endothelial dysfunction and cardiovascular disease. *Global cardiology science & practice*, 2014, 291-308.
- WILLIAMS, S. B., CUSCO, J. A., RODDY, M.-A., JOHNSTONE, M. T. & CREAGER, M. A. 1996.
 Impaired nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation in patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 27, 567-574.
- WILLIE, C. K., COLINO, F. L., BAILEY, D. M., TZENG, Y. C., BINSTED, G., JONES, L. W., HAYKOWSKY, M. J., BELLAPART, J., OGOH, S., SMITH, K. J., SMIRL, J. D., DAY, T. A., LUCAS, S. J., ELLER, L. K. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2011. Utility of transcranial Doppler ultrasound for the integrative assessment of cerebrovascular function. *J Neurosci Methods*, 196, 221-37.
- WILLIE, C. K., MACLEOD, D. B., SHAW, A. D., SMITH, K. J., TZENG, Y. C., EVES, N. D., IKEDA,
 K., GRAHAM, J., LEWIS, N. C., DAY, T. A. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2012. Regional brain blood
 flow in man during acute changes in arterial blood gases. *J Physiol*, 590, 3261-75.
- WILLIE, C. K., TZENG, Y. C., FISHER, J. A. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2014. Integrative regulation of human brain blood flow. *J Physiol*, 592, 841-59.
- WITTER, T., TZENG, Y. C., O'DONNELL, T., KUSEL, J., WALKER, B., BERRY, M. & TAYLOR, C. E.
 2017. Inter-individual Relationships between Sympathetic Arterial Baroreflex
 Function and Cerebral Perfusion Control in Healthy Males. *Front Neurosci*, 11, 457.
- WOODMAN, R. J., PLAYFORD, D. A., WATTS, G. F., CHEETHAM, C., REED, C., TAYLOR, R. R., PUDDEY, I. B., BEILIN, L. J., BURKE, V., MORI, T. A. & GREEN, D. 2001. Improved analysis of brachial artery ultrasound using a novel edge-detection software system. J Appl Physiol (1985), 91, 929-37.
- XING, C. Y., TARUMI, T., MEIJERS, R. L., TURNER, M., REPSHAS, J., XIONG, L., DING, K., VONGPATANASIN, W., YUAN, L. J. & ZHANG, R. 2017. Arterial Pressure, Heart Rate, and Cerebral Hemodynamics Across the Adult Life Span. *Hypertension*, 69, 712-720.
- YAM, A. T., LANG, E. W., LAGOPOULOS, J., YIP, K., GRIFFITH, J., MUDALIAR, Y. & DORSCH, N.
 W. C. 2005. Cerebral autoregulation and ageing. *Journal of Clinical Neuroscience*, 12, 643-646.
- YAMAGUCHI, T., IZUMI, Y., NAKAMURA, Y., YAMAZAKI, T., SHIOTA, M., SANO, S., TANAKA, M., OSADA-OKA, M., SHIMADA, K., MIURA, K., YOSHIYAMA, M. & IWAO, H. 2015.
 Repeated remote ischemic conditioning attenuates left ventricular remodeling via exosome-mediated intercellular communication on chronic heart failure after myocardial infarction. *Int J Cardiol*, 178, 239-46.
- YONAS, H., SMITH, H. A., DURHAM, S. R., PENTHENY, S. L. & JOHNSON, D. W. 1993. Increased stroke risk predicted by compromised cerebral blood flow reactivity. *Journal of neurosurgery*, 79, 483-489.
- ZHANG, R., CLAASSEN, J. A. H. R., SHIBATA, S., KILIC, S., MARTIN-COOK, K., DIAZ-ARRASTIA, R. & LEVINE, B. D. 2009. Arterial-cardiac baroreflex function: insights from repeated squat-stand maneuvers. *American journal of physiology. Regulatory, integrative* and comparative physiology, 297, R116-R123.
- ZHANG, R., ZUCKERMAN, J. H., GILLER, C. A. & LEVINE, B. D. 1998. Transfer function analysis of dynamic cerebral autoregulation in humans. *Am J Physiol*, 274, H233-41.

- ZHANG, R., ZUCKERMAN, J. H., IWASAKI, K., WILSON, T. E., CRANDALL, C. G. & LEVINE, B. D. 2002. Autonomic neural control of dynamic cerebral autoregulation in humans. *Circulation*, 106, 1814-20.
- ZHOU, H., ZHANG, X. & LU, J. 2014. Progress on diabetic cerebrovascular diseases. *Bosn J Basic Med Sci*, 14, 185-90.
- ZHOU, K., YANG, B., ZHOU, X.-M., TAN, C.-M., ZHAO, Y., HUANG, C., LIAO, X.-B. & XIAO, H. B. 2007. Effects of remote ischemic preconditioning on the flow pattern of the left anterior descending coronary artery in normal subjects. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 122, 250-251.
- ZHOU, X., ZHAI, X. & ASHRAF, M. 1996. Direct evidence that initial oxidative stress triggered by preconditioning contributes to second window of protection by endogenous antioxidant enzyme in myocytes. *Circulation*, 93, 1177-84.
- ZHU, Y.-S., PARKER, R., TSENG, B., VAN ERKELENS, A., COLES, G., BRUNK, E., ARMSTRONG,
 K., RODRIGUE, K., KENNEDY, K., PARK, D. & ZHANG, R. 2011. Abstract 16151:
 Exercise Training Decreases Arterial Stiffness and Improves Brain Perfusion in
 Sedentary Elderly Women. *Circulation*, 124, A16151-A16151.